Yues International Holdings Group Limited

S EREREREERRRAE

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(RHASESEMAILZERAR)

Stock Code BZ{R1X5% : 1529




Contents H &%

Corporate Information

Chairman'’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis
Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
Corporate Governance Report

Report of the Directors

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Summary

NEIER

ERWE

BB RO
EZREREEABRRE
TEERES
ExgmE

- HERERRE
B BE RS
FaBak
REREKER
REMBIRE
REEREHE
RERER
REMBRRME
MBEHE

3

=

R

2

it
o)




2

Corporate Information
NEIE R

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Le Kang (Chairman)

Mr. Li Jiahao (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Li Jiali

Mr. Song Ruipeng (removed on 9 December 2023)

Mr. Du Yingyou (re-designated from a non-executive Director
to an executive Director on 19 June 2023)

Mr. Li Zhigang (appointed on 9 December 2023)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Chun Man

Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick
Dr. Wang Yi

Mr. Chan Koon Yung

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick (Chairman)
Mr. Yu Chun Man
Mr. Chan Koon Yung

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Wang Yi (Chairman)
Mr. Le Kang

Mr. Li Jiahao

Mr. Yu Chun Man

Mr. Chan Koon Yung

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Le Kang (Chairman)
Mr. Li Jiali

Mr. Yu Chun Man

Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick
Mr. Chan Koon Yung

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Li Zhigang (appointed as the authorised representative
on 8 March 2024)

Mr. Li Jiali (resigned as the authorised representative
on 8 March 2024)

Mr. Chan Tsang Mo

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2023

HITES

BERSE(FE)

RS E(BEHTE)

BENEE

REGHESTAE (72023 F 12 B9 HEER)

MBREE (R2023F 6 A19BHIIFRITTES
AERRITES)

EEMIG A (52202312 A9 BERT)

BYFHITES
RIEX R
Bl R
IHEL
B E L

BREES
BB ()
X
BB

FHEES
I+ ()
eSS
RIS
R
B R

REZERE
SERRSCAE ()
BN KL
RIEX A
BB R
B

RERR
TR E(R2024F3 A8 HER T ARERR)

Rz N (R202443 A8 HEFERBER KR —H)

BRIBE ST 4



Corporate Information ontinuea
ARER @

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo

AUDITOR

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants

(Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance
with the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance)

REGISTERED OFFICE
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS
units 1301 and 1302, 13/F,
Citic Plaza, No. 233,
Tianhe Road North,
Guangzhou, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 3, 5/F, United Centre,
95 Queensway, Admiralty,
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Wwindward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

DREMWE
PR

3 L

ABEACHAFHHERAR

gt

(RIGH B E 1501 MY
RE Iz E R HAT)

AR ER

Wwindward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

I

B E N

Koml 4k B

23355 ES
1311301 =R 1302 E

EEBNTELCEME
BE

SHESEE ISR
H—HDO5EIE

FEROBFETHE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH

3



4

Corporate Information ontinuea
INGIE- g

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Guangzhou Branch)
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited

LISTING EXCHANGE INFORMATION

Place of listing: The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 1529

COMPANY'S WEBSITE
www.goalrise-china.com

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2023

BERDBEFERIRE

BEBFERBRAT
B

ERE 165
BERGRPLI17E

FEAERRT

R TR R1T (M 5T
HERERTERAA
LR G REH

LTS - BEMARBHAERAF
Bt (5% - 1529

ENNSTE D

www.goalrise-china.com


http://www.goalrise-china.com

Chairman’s Statement
FEHmE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the "Board”) of Yues
International Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”).

Impacted by the fluctuations in the global economic situation and
profound adjustments in the domestic market structure, the logistics
and warehousing industry in Mainland China faces unprecedented
difficulties and challenges. On one hand, the cost pressure on
enterprises is increasing day by day, with rising prices of raw
materials, fuel, and other factors leading to increased transportation
costs. On the other hand, labor costs are also constantly rising,
making operating costs remain high. In addition, with the increasingly
strict environmental protection policies, enterprises also need to
bear more environmental protection costs. Coupled with intensified
market competition, insufficient technological innovation, prominent
talent shortages, and other factors, the profit margins of the logistics
and warehousing industry are further compressed.

The Group provides domestic transportation and international freight
forwarding services in Mainland China. In 2023, due to the
unfavorable global economic atmosphere and the overall decline in
demand for logistics and warehousing services, The Group has
inevitably suffered certain degree of negative impact. In
consideration of the uncertain market factors, the Group has taken a
cautious approach in managing operating expenses and reducing
marketing and promotion budgets, as well as seeking suitable
business partners and exploring new business opportunities in the
market.
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Cha | rman ’S Statement (continuea

BUSINESS REVIEW

As a one-stop in-plant logistics services provider in Mainland China,
the Group strove to sustain relatively stable business development
by maintaining quality services, providing customers with
comprehensive solutions, while at the same time, looking for
appropriate opportunities to expand the logistics business to a
broader spectrum of services, in anticipation of meeting various
customers’ demand. The Group has successfully acquired 60%
equity interest of Zhongshan Haihui Technology Logistics (Group)
Company Limited, a logistic company established in Guangdong
Province, in the second half of 2023. It is believed that the acquisition
could help the Group to complement its existing business by
integrating freight forwarding services, e-commerce logistics,
warehousing and packaging services and thereby creating a positive
synergy effect between the Group and the counterparties.

As at the end of 2023, the Group had three warehouses in
Guangdong province with total gross floor area of approximately
40,000 square metres. Through leveraging the scale and facility
advantages of existing warehouses, the Group has deeply integrated
its warehousing resources within the Guangdong Province,
effectively expanding the coverage of customer base through
optimized resource allocation. The Group is also actively exploring
new customer segments to further broaden the clientele foundation.

Nevertheless, with the slump of overall customer demand for logistic
services in Mainland China, the Group's operating results in the
provision of both domestic transportation and international freight
forwarding agency service in 2023 has performed negatively when
compared to previous years. The overall revenue of the Group
decreased by approximately RMB45.6 million or approximately 25.4%
from approximately RMB179.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 (the “Previous Year") to approximately RMB133.9
million for the Year.

In addition, lease payment relating to short-term leases has
increased by approximately 23.9% from approximately RMB28.5
million for Previous Year to approximately RMB35.3 million for the
Year, and the Group has recognised an impairment of right-of-use
assets of approximately RMB2.8 million during the Year. As a result
of the aforementioned, the Group’s loss for the Year increased
significantly to approximately RMB34.2 million, as compared to
approximately RMBO.2 million for the Previous Year.
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Cha | Fman ’S Statement (continvea

OUTLOOK

Looking forward to 2024, the development of logistics and
warehousing industry in Mainland China will continue to face
numerous hurdles, including cost pressures, rise of trade
protectionism, emergence of non-tariff barriers, technological
innovation challenges, and manpower shortages. At the
governmental policy level, however, it is expected that support from
local government will be further reinforced, in order to promoting a
standardized, normalized, and intelligent development of the
industry. This will definitely provide a favorable development
environment for entities and promote a healthy development of the
industry. The Group will continue to provide high quality warehousing
services and expects to actively diversify the logistics services to a
broader spectrum of industries, in anticipation of any potential
change in the customers’ operation demand for logistics services.

The Group, in addition to provide high quality warehousing services,
also expects to actively diversify the logistics services to a broader
spectrum of industries, in anticipation of any potential change in the
customers’ operation demand for logistics services. The Group will
continue to strive to find opportunities in the face of challenges,
including but not limited to participating in smart logistics businesses
that adopt advanced technologies such as artificial intelligence (Al),
robotics, and drones, as well as Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM)
related businesses such as storage and distribution of TCM
products), so as to return shareholders and to achieve a sustainable
business growth.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt thanks to
our staff for diligently performing their duties and overcoming
difficulties during a challenging year. Their commitment has enabled
the Group to maintain stability in its business amidst challenges. At
the same time, | would like to thank all shareholders, customers and
business partners for their trust and support to the Group.

Le Kang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E R M

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an established logistics service provider in the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC") which provides a wide range of
logistics services to meet the needs of the customers’ supply chains
including (i) transportation; (i) warehousing; (iii) in-plant logistics, and
(iv) customisation services (consisting mainly of labelling services
and bundling services).

The Group offers transportation services which primarily involve the
delivery of the customers’ production materials, components and
finished goods to their downstream clients, manufacturing plants
and/or designated locations. The Group, after completion of
acquisition of subsidiary in second half of 2023, has three
warehouses located in the Guangdong Province with a total gross
floor area of approximately 40,000 square metres which offer
warehousing services to customers. The Group’s in-plant logistics
services cover the management of the movement of (i) production
materials and components and work-in-progress to the production
lines within the customers’ manufacturing plants; and (ii) finished
goods out to their factory gate. The Group’s range of services gives it
a competitive advantage over other logistics service providers in the
PRC which offer only a limited range of services.

The logistics and warehousing industry in the PRC faced immense
hardship in the year 2023. Due to diverse challenges both domestic
and from overseas, demand from local customers for logistics and
storage arrangements decreased substantially. As the pace of
economic growth slowed down, earnings for companies and their
inclination to invest in logistics and warehousing have diminished
greatly. Moreover, impacted by the rising tide of trade protectionism
around the globe and geopolitical risks, exports from the PRC have
endured tremendous setbacks, which did sequentially undermine
needs for transporting goods across borders and storage, leading to
an overall drop in the revenue for the Group. The trials encountered
in 2023 were without equal for the logistics and warehousing sector
locally, as slower growth, weaker demands from customers, and
shrinking exports did compound issues further still.
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Management Discussion and Analysis continea

BRI HRH W

Domestic logistics industry in the PRC is also under the pressure
from rising costs. While logistics demand continues to decrease, the
operational costs of the industry, on the contrary, are gradually
rising, including transportation costs, warehousing costs, labor costs,
and other aspects. Specifically, transportation costs are facing
significant pressure due to issues such as traffic congestion, high
energy consumption, and environmental pollution. Traditional
transportation methods like road transportation are already under
strain. Additionally, the shortage of skilled labor is also a pressing
issue, with difficulties in recruiting professionals, innovative talents,
and operational personnel becoming increasingly prominent.

In 2023, overall demand for the Group’s domestic transportation and
international freight forwarding services remained below pre-
pandemic levels due to ongoing uncertainty. In response, the Group
prudently managed operating expenses by cautiously reducing
marketing and promotion budgets. At the same time, escalating
outsourced labor and shipping costs presented a challenge. Through
stringent control of outsourcing costs, the Group has successfully
decreased the proportion of subcontracting expenses to total
revenue from approximately 32.1% in 2022 to approximately 25.2%
in 2023. Considering the persistent market volatility, the Group
judiciously managed resources while also taking measures to
mitigate escalating external cost pressures through tight cost control.
While demand recovery was still ongoing, the Group demonstrated
resilience through careful expense management during
unpredictable economic conditions.

To enhance the Group’s market dominance, expand market share
and influence, and to improve the ability to respond to market
changes, the Group has successfully acquired 60% equity interest of
Zhongshan Haihui Technology Logistics (Group) Company Limited in
October 2023 (the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition, in addition to
diversification of risk, has also enabled the optimal allocation and
sharing of resources of the Group by integrating the resources of
different enterprises to effectively utilise assets, avoid waste, achieve
resource sharing, and improve overall operational efficiency.
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Management Discussion and Analysis continea

ER BRI

OUTLOOK

Looking forward to 2024, from the perspective of market demand,
although the PRC's logistics and warehousing industry still has
certain growth potential, the growth rate may gradually slow down.
With the saturation of the domestic market and the complexity of the
international trade environment, logistics demand may not continue
to grow rapidly as in the past. Therefore, industry participators need
to pay closer attention to market changes and flexibly adjust their
business strategies to cope with potential market fluctuations. The
Group will maintain a cautious and optimistic attitude, strengthen
market research and technological innovation, and actively respond
to potential risks and issues, as well as to provide high quality
warehousing services and expects to actively diversify the logistics
services to a broader spectrum of industries, in anticipation of any
potential change in the customers’ operation demand for logistics
services.

To cope with the contemporary volatile business environment, the
Group is now also actively seeking potential partners of strategy in
diverse domains. The Group will continue to strive to find
opportunities in the face of challenges, including but not limited to
participating in Chinese Medicine-related businesses such as the
storage and distribution of Chinese Medicine products, so as to
return shareholders and to achieve a sustainable business growth.

The Group will also seek appropriate business development
opportunities for future acquisitions and/or setting up the joint-
venture business, cooperation and/or investment opportunities in
the Chinese Medicine industry such as Chinese medicine culture
dissemination, retail of Chinese medicine, Chinese medicine health
care and health tourism, when appropriate, through integrating
internal resources and the business network of the chairman of the
Company who has extensive experience in the Chinese Medicine
Business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis continea

BRI HRH W

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in provision of transportation,
warehousing, in-plant logistics and customisation service. The overall
revenue of the Group decreased by approximately RMB45.6 million
or approximately 25.4% from approximately RMB179.5 million for the
Previous Year to approximately RMB133.9 million for the Year.

Transportation service

Transportation service primarily involved (i) the delivery of the
customers’ production materials or components from their suppliers
to their manufacturing plants; (i) the arrangement for transportation
of the customers’ finished goods to their designated locations or
downstream customers; (iii) sea transportation services; and (iv)
international freight forwarding agency services. The transportation
service of the Group primarily covered across the PRC and has
expanded to Egypt since late 2018.

Revenue from the transportation service recorded a decrease of
approximately 31.2% from approximately RMB73.1 million for the
Previous Year to approximately RMB50.3 million for the Year mainly
attributable to a decrease in orders from customers for local
transportation services in the PRC and international freight
forwarding agency services caused by the reduction of sales volume
to end customers and the set-up of production facilities in local
countries by overseas customers respectively.

Warehousing service

The warehousing service of the Group included provision of
inventory storage and management services. As at 31 December
2023, the Group had three warehouses in the PRC with total gross
floor area of approximately 40,000 square metres. Revenue from the
warehousing service decreased by approximately 44.1% from
approximately RMB34.5 million for the Previous Year to
approximately RMB19.3 million for the Year mainly due to the
decrease in demand for warehousing service from customers to
minimise the storage cost by keeping low level of inventories.
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Management Discussion and Analysis continea

ERE TR

In-plant logistics service

The in-plant logistics service primarily included management of the
movement of (i) production materials and components and work-in-
progress to the production lines within the customers’
manufacturing plants; and (ii) finished goods out to factory gate of
the customers.

Revenue generated from the in-plant logistics service decreased by
approximately 9.0% from approximately RMB69.1 million for the
Previous Year to approximately RMB62.9 million for the Year.

Customisation service

The customisation service mainly comprised of labelling services and
bundling services which is subject to the demand from its customers
on an as-needed basis. Revenue generated from the customisation
service amounted to approximately RMB2.8 million and
approximately RMB1.3 million for the Previous Year and the Year,
respectively.

Other income, gains and losses, net

Other income, gains and losses, net mainly consisted of net
exchange gains, interest income from loan receivables, interest
income from bank deposit, government grants and unrealised loss
on fair value change of financial assets at FVPL. A net gain increased
from approximately RMB6.8 million for the Previous Year to
approximately RMB9.6 million for the Year mainly due to (i) net
exchange gains arising from the translation of foreign currency
denominated monetary items of approximately RMB3.3 million for
the Year, compared to net foreign exchange gains of approximately
RMB2.6 million for the Previous Year; and (ii) increase in interest
income from loan receivables by approximately RMB4.5 million;
offset by (iii) a RMB1.5 million unrealised loss on fair value change of
financial assets at FVPL recognised for the Year.
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Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits expenses primarily consisted of (i) wages and
salaries; (i) social security fund and insurance contribution; and (iii)
other allowances and benefits. The employee benefits expenses
decreased by approximately RMB3.9 million, or 5.5% from
approximately RMB70.6 million for the Previous Year to
approximately RMB66.7 million for the Year.

Sub-contracting expenses

Sub-contracting expenses primarily represented the amount paid to
subcontractors for the provision of certain transportation services.
Sub-contracting expenses were incurred for the orders for domestic
transportation service and international freight forwarding agency
services by our customers, whereby the Group, through outsourcing
to independent subcontractors, assisted the customers to obtain
cargo space from shipping companies or shipping agents that meet
their requirements. The sub-contracting expenses decreased by
approximately RMB24.0 million from approximately RMB57.7 million
for the Previous Year to approximately RMB33.7 million for the Year
mainly contributed by a corresponding decrease in revenue for the
Year.

Lease payment relating to short-term leases

Short-term lease payment mainly comprised lease payments for
rental expense for office premises, warehouses, staff quarters and
forklifts, which do not meet the definition of lease liability as lessee
under HKFRS 16. Short-term lease payment has increased by
approximately RMB6.8 million, or 23.9%, to approximately RMB35.3
million for the Year from approximately RMB28.5 million for the
Previous Year mainly due to the inception of new lease of a
warehouse in Guangdong Province in September 2023.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

The Group has certain leases pursuant to HKFRS 16 in respect of (i)
premises comprising warehouses, office premises and staff quarters,
and (i) plant and machinery such as forklifts. The depreciation of
right-of-use assets has kept at the same level of approximately
RMB3.6 million for the Previous Year and approximately RMB3.9
million for the Year.
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Finance costs

Finance costs mainly represented interest expenses on lease
liabilities and bank and other borrowings. Finance costs has
increased significantly from approximately RMB0.4 million for the
Previous Year to approximately RMB1.1 million for the Year mainly
attributed to the new lease of a warehouse in Guangdong Province,
and the inclusion of bank loan interest of the subsidiary acquired
during the Year.

Other expenses

Other expenses mainly include (i) fleet vehicles operating expenses
which mainly included fuel costs and maintenance expenses of our
fleet vehicles; (i) outsourced labour costs; (i) office and telephone
expenses which mainly included general office expenses and long-
distance calling fees; (iv) insurance expenses for the warehouses
and transportations; (v) entertainment and travelling expenses for
business soliciting; and (vi) others which mainly included
maintenance expenses for the warehouses, professional fees and
other miscellaneous expenses. Other expenses increased by
approximately RMB6.4 million from approximately RMB25.3 million
for the Previous Year to approximately RMB31.7 million for the Year,
mainly due to increase in entertainment and travelling expenses for
the Year, and additional acquisition-related legal and professional
fees incurred during the Year.

Loss for the year

As a result of the aforesaid, the Group recorded a loss of
approximately RMB34.2 million for the Year (Previous Year: loss of
approximately RMBO.2 million).

Loan receivables

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total outstanding loan
principal amounts of approximately RMB46.2 million (2022:
approximately RMB57.2 million) which is in relation to 9 loans (2022:
10) which comprised of 8 corporate loans (2022: 9) and 1 individual
loans (2022: 1). Among the 9 loans as at 31 December 2023, 7 loans
with outstanding principal amounts of approximately RMB34.5 million
will be matured before 31 December 2024, and 2 loans with
outstanding principal amounts of approximately RMB11.7 million will
be matured after 31 December 2024 and before 31 December 2025.
The interest rate of the outstanding principal amounts of the loans
ranged from approximately 6% to 12% per annum (2022: 5% to 12%).
As at 31 December 2023, all the loan receivables of the Group were
unsecured.
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After the end of COVID-19 pandemic, the overall operation of the
Group gradually recovered but had yet to resume to the normal level
as in the period before the pandemic. The Group had sought to
identify investment opportunities for the idle cash to generate better
return to its shareholders, but no suitable targets can be identified
having considered the then market uncertainty and the sluggish
global economic recovery. In the circumstances, given that (i) the
interest income to be generated from the idle cash; (ii) the interest
rates of the loan transactions are generally higher than the then
prevailing interest rate for short-term fixed deposit; (iii) the Group
could continue to identify investment opportunities to generate
better return to its shareholders upon repayment of the loan
transactions; and (iv) having considered the working capital need and
projections of the Group, the provision of the loan transactions
would not affect the ordinary business operation of the Group, the
entering into of the loan transactions are fair and reasonable, meet
the Group's business strategy and in the interest of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group's operation and investments were financed principally by
internal resources. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net
current assets of approximately RMB100.0 million (2022:
approximately RMB87.4 million) and cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB78.0 million (2022: approximately RMB55.5
million). The Directors confirm that the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to meet its obligations as and when they fall due
in the foreseeable future.
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GEARING RATIO

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the gearing ratio,
which is expressed as a percentage of net debt divided by equity
attributable to owners of the Company. Net debt is calculated as the
sum of bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities, contingent
consideration payable and amount due to a director less cash and
cash equivalents. The gearing ratio of the Group was approximately
9.2% as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: N/A).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group comprises issued share capital
and reserves. The Directors review the Group’s capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, issuance of new shares and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no change to the
authorised share capital of the Company which is HK$100,000,000
dividable into 10,000,000,000 shares in the par value of HK$0.01
each.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had issued a total of
1,141,280,000 shares in the par value of HK$0.01 each, and all shares
were fully paid and rank pari passu with each other in all respects.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group did not have any charge on its assets as at 31 December
2023 (2022 nil).
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023 (2022 nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material capital
commitment (2022: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 680 (2022: 678) full
time employees. The Group determines the employee’ s
remuneration based on factors such as qualification, duty,
contributions, work experience, the prevailing market conditions and
the Group’s remuneration policy. Employees’ benefits include
contributions to retirement scheme and share options under the
Company'’s share option scheme. To enhance the expertise of our
employees, the Group also provides them on-the-job training and
sponsors them to attend external training courses and seminars.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES,
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR ADDITIONS OF CAPITAL
ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
significant investments, material acquisitions, and disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the Year, nor there were
any future plans for material investments or additions of capital
assets as at 31 December 2023.
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 12 June 2023 (after trading hours), the Company entered into a
placing agreement with the placing agent (the “Placing Agent"),
pursuant to which the Placing Agent has conditionally agreed, as
agent of the Company, to procure, on a best effort basis, not less
than six placees who and whose ultimate beneficial owners shall be
independent third parties to subscribe for up to 176,880,000 ordinary
shares at the placing price of HK$0.196 per placing share (the
"Placing”). The closing market price of the shares was HK$0.197 as
at 12 June 2023. The gross proceed from the Placing was
approximately HK$34.67 million, and the net proceeds from the
Placing (after deduction of the placing commission in respect of the
Placing and other related expenses including, among others, the
professional fees) are approximately HK$34.15 million, representing
a net issue price of approximately HK$0.193 per placing share. The
aggregate nominal value of such placing shares is HK$1,768,800.

In view of the current market conditions, the Board are of the view
that the Placing will facilitate the raising of funds for the
diversification of the business of the Group, especially in the
development of the intelligent logistics services business, and
strengthen the Group's financial conditions. In light of the above, the
Directors are of the opinion that the terms of the Placing Agreement,
including the placing price, are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. On 7 July
2023, the Placing was completed and 176,880,000 placing shares
have been placed by the Placing Agent to not less than six placees at
the placing price of HK$0.196 per placing share pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the placing agreement.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 12 June 2023 and 7 July 2023.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FR8RIERAR

The net proceeds from the Placing and placing of 80,000,000 shares — Et&EE18 LR HEI A 20224 6 A 15 A A E 7
of the Company at the placing price of HK$0.185 per share pursuant % ¥z i & (8 & i% 0.185 7 Jt A & 80,000,000 A% A<
to the placing agreement dated 15 June 2022 (the “2022 Placing”), A& ([2022 EACEE1E |) 7 B8 IE R L
amounted to approximately HK$48.2 million. BA82E BB °

An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the 2022  H2022 R EEBEAE 2023F 12 A31 B IEHIFR

Placing up to 31 December 2023 is set out below: SRIEFEERONAT
Unutilised
Unutilised  Actual use net
net proceeds of net proceeds
Planned asat proceeds as at
use of net 31 December during 31 December
proceeds 2022 the Year 2023
#2022 #2023 F
& 1283181 FEE 1283181
RIERHEN lok S ] ERBAN HREA
RERE FARERE FEXERE FHERERE
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEAT BEART BEET BEAET

Development of the Chinese medicine  #ErhZ & 2% (f:)

business (Note) 14.0 14.0 - 14.0

An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the Placing up  BECESIEARE 2023 F12 A31 BHILHFTEIAE

to 31 December 2023 is set out below: FRERNNT
Unutilised
Actual use net
of net proceeds
Planned proceeds as at
use of net during 31 December
proceeds the Year 2023
#2023
Fi& TEE 12A318H1
RIABEM REDAN HRBA
RERE FRERESHE FERESE
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEATL BEAT BEETL

Development of intelligent logistics services RS RRSER (M)

Business (Note) 34.2 - 34.2

Note: It is expected that the remaining balance of the unutilized net proceeds allocated Wi : FEEAT T [RHEDRELR | & [ HEL2YRRKLE

for the “Development of the Chinese medicine business” and “Development of W& B RS RSB R BN S EERE S 2024 12
intelligent logistics services business” will be utilized in the year ending 31 B3 BIEESE -
December 2024.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EXFNSREEASERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Le Kang, aged 35, was appointed as an executive Director and
the chairman of the Board on 6 December 2021 and 30 December
2021 respectively. He is the chairman of the nomination committee of
the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and a member of
the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”). He has over 11 years of experience in marketing and
company management, mainly covering cultural tourism consulting,
tourism and wellness, Chinese medicine retailing, health
management, etc. Mr. Le is currently the legal representative and
partner of a number of domestic companies, and has served as the
legal representative of Shanghai Leshi Medical Technology Group Co.,
Ltd.* (/824K E BRI EBAR A F) and Shanghai Leshi Tourism
Development Group Co., Ltd.* (E/BZ Kk REEER A F).
Since 2020, he has been the partner of Shanghai Didi Technology
Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (E/8% B RBTA B ¥ (BRAE)),
the legal representative of Panjin Liaohu Legin Health Care
Management Co., Ltd.* (RIRFBEIMVERELEEIERBR A A]) and
Leshi Materia Medica (Shanghai) Cosmetics Technology Co., Ltd.* (4
KARE( LA tmBHRBRAR).

Mr. Le was the leader of the new era of Chinese brands in 2019. He
also served as the secretary-general of the Shanghai International
Volunteer Service Station* (_E/8 BIFR £ FE=E BRASuh) of the International
Peace Exchange Foundation.

Mr. Li Jiahao, aged 33, was appointed as an executive Director on
4 August 2021. He is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and
also a member of the Remuneration Committee. He obtained the
degree of Bachelor of Arts in International Trade and Business
Communication from University of Portsmouth in 2012. He joined the
operating subsidiary of the Company, namely Guangzhou World-Link
(China) Co. Limited* (B M P EIRFIHA YR AR A7) ("Guangzhou
World-Link") as assistant manager since September 2012. Mr. Li
Jiahao was promoted as project manager of Guangzhou World-Link
and assistant general manager of Guangzhou World-Link in April
2013 and April 2017 respectively. He has been promoted as a deputy
general manager of Guangzhou World-Link since January 2019. Mr. Li
Jiahao is mainly responsible for the business operations of the
Group. Mr. Li Jiahao is also a director of Goal Rise Logistics (Egypt)
Limited which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
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Mr. Li Jiali, aged 32, was appointed as an executive Director on 4
August 2021. He is a member of the Nomination Committee. He
obtained the degree of Bachelor of Science in Economics and
Mathematics from Royal Holloway and Bedford New College,
University of London in 2015 and Master of Science in e-Business
Management from the University of Warwick in 2016. He joined
Guangzhou World-Link as assistant general manager since January
2017. He has been promoted as deputy general manager of
Guangzhou World-Link since January 2019. Mr. Li Jiali is mainly
responsible for formulating matching logistics plans and strategies
and developing and optimizing logistics systems based on the
development of the Group's business strategy. Mr. Li Jiali is also a
director of Goal Rise Logistics (Egypt) Limited which is a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Du Yingyou, aged 34, was appointed as non-executive
Director on 19 October 2022, and re-designated from a non-
executive Director to an executive Director on 19 June 2023. He is
currently the general manager of Shanghai Youyi Enterprise
Management Consulting Company Limited* ( E/8 B St ¥E B4R

ABR/AT]) since December 2017. Mr. Du held the position as senior
director and partner of Shanghai Haobo Investment Company
Limited* ( /g5 EI&E B R 2AF]) from July 2012 to November 2017.

Mr. Li Zhigang, aged 42, was appointed as executive Director on 9
December 2023. He is currently the executive director and general
manager of Suzhou Institute of Traditional Chinese Medicine Co.,
Ltd.* (% JN /R B2 87 98 BT & R 2 7)) and a director of Jiangsu Kangda
Testing Technology Co., Ltd. Mr. Li Zhigang has served as an external
tutor at Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University since March 2019. Mr. Li
Zhigang worked in various positions at Suzhou Yuanchuang
Pharmaceutical Research Co., Ltd.* (& JN R & 22 %) #ft 3¢ & BR 2 7)),
Suzhou Youseen New Drug Development Co., Ltd.* (& EZx¥ %453
B R 2 7A)), and ReneSola Ltd. (now known as Emeren Group Ltd)
(NYSE: SOL).
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management contnued
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Mr. Li Zhigang passed the National Unified Legal Professional
Qualification Examination* (ExR & — 2B EERER) of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") in April 2021. Mr. Li Zhigang
is an non-practicing member of Shanghai Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a registered tax agent in the PRC, a certified internal
auditor of the Institute of Internal Auditors and obtained the
certification in risk management assurance from the Institute of
Internal Auditors. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering
with major in biological engineering from Wuhan Technical Institute*
(2 T2 Ep7) (now known as Wuhan Polytechnic University* (/& &8
T RE)) in June 2003, a master’s degree in business administration
from Xi'an Jiaotong University in June 2017 and a master’s degree in
laws with major in civil and commercial law from Renmin University
of China in December 2023.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Chun Man, aged 31, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 12 November 2021. He is the member of
each of the audit committee of the Company (the "Audit
committee”), Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee. He obtained the degree of Bachelor of Science in
Economics and Mathematics from University of London in 2015, and
Master of Science degree in Accounting, Accountability and Financial
Management from King's College London of United Kingdom in 2016.
He is a licensed representative for type 1 (dealing in securities) and
type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities under the
SFO.

Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick, aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 28 June 2022. He is the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Lau has over 20 years of experience in auditing and
accounting. Mr. Lau founded Ascent Corporate Services Limited in
December 2018 and has served as its director since its incorporation.
He is currently the company secretary of Haina Intelligent Equipment
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1645) and Infinity Logistics
and Transport Ventures Limited (stock code: 1442), whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From December
2020 to January 2022 and July 2019 to August 2022, Mr. Lau was the
company secretary of China Health Technology Group Holding
Company Limited (formerly know as China Bozza Development
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1069) and MOG Digitech Holdings
Limited (formerly known as MOG Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1942)
respectively, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Lau was also the company secretary of Dragon King
Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8493) for the period from March 2023 to
September 2023.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2023

FEMEER2021F4A@BBEFEARLFE ([
BDBERGEEZBEERES - TEMTLER
HEmaMmestipernEes - PEFME
TR0~ BRI EBEET AT 15 2 sk i A SR AT AT K
SEBASETAREEREEEREE - HR
2003F6 AESRETESR(BBARELT
RE)EYTREETEE4 8L B2017F6
BESHZTRAAESIHEEBELEM YR
203F 12 AEEBRRARKERGEELER

LB -

BYFHTES

RBXEE N R2021F1A2BEZRT
RBIUIFNTES - WETARFNEZZESY
([BRERE]) FTHEECRRRZESRH
ZRE o 2015 FEMBIA BB L R E
2mEE4 iy - WR2016FELERGHRETE
RN S ETRYFEEESELIEM - A
BHEMEEMNETHEVE(FFRS) MBS (5
BEMERHER) ZREEHFEAE -

BIEMEE  505% - N202256 A28 AEEEA
BYIERITES - FABZZESETRMRESRE
BEKE - BIERBE RS TEREG @ 20F
4B o B HER20184F 12 A RS i FH D E R
ERARTREZARAMKIEESETHSE
EoHEATMEELERRZEREBRAR (K
BREE - 1645) REBEYRAR A G (RDHARE
1442) 2 RRIRE - ZER R Z RN REE T
FIR ET e B20209F12 A 2202241 A %2019
F7AE202F8AH  BlhEH R AT BRERER
BEBZERERAR (FIEFRELERITRE
AT (BRMRSE : 1069) & & AT Brh BT AR
AR 2 & (AT FMOG Holdings Limited) (&1 4%
S8 1942) 2 RRIME - ZE LR 2RO PER
FREMR BT - B4E4 8202343 A £ 202349 A
HARS IR AR S BT GEM A RIRE 2 £ BT AR
ANFE (AP FEE - 8493) WA TIFUE -



Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (contnued

EERSREREASBE

Mr. Lau obtained his degree of Master of Arts in International
Accounting in 2002 and Higher Diploma in Accountancy in 1997, both
from City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lau is currently a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Dr. Wang Yi, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 17 October 2022. He is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. He is a professor of the School of
Economics of the Beijing Technology and Business University. He has
completed PhD programme at the School of Economics and Business
Administration of the Beijing Normal University, majoring in
educational economy and management, and has obtained his Doctor
of Management in June 2009. His main research areas include
enterprise management, labour economics, educational economics,
etc. Dr. Wang has published more than 50 high-level papers in the
Chinese Higher Education Social Sciences Citation Index journals and
has led more than 15 national- and provincial-level projects such as
key projects of the National Social Science Fund.

Dr. Wang is also currently serving as a director of the Youth Branch
of the Commerce Economy Association of China; a director of the
China Association of Labour Economics; a director of the China
Disabled Persons’ Federation; a think tank expert of the National
Rural Revitalisation Administration; a think tank expert of the National
Bureau of Statistics of China; etc.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management contnued

SERSRERASBE

Mr. Chan Koon Yung, aged 65, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 19 October 2022. He is the member of
each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. Mr. Chan has more than 34 years of
experience in management, audit, finance, taxation and accounting.
He obtained a Diploma in Accounting from the Hong Kong Baptist
University (formerly known as Hong Kong Baptist College) in 1982
and a Master degree of Business Administration from the University
of Strathclyde in the United Kingdom in 1993. He worked for
Tupperware (China) Company Limited from December 1987 to April
1998 with his last position as a financial director, and for Herbalife
International of Hong Kong Limited from January 1999 to November
2005 as the general manager/director, where the holding companies
for both companies are listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Mr.
Chan later joined Synergy Worldwide (HK) Limited from March 2006
to August 2008 as a general manager. Besides, he has been working
for Poon & Partners CPA Limited since September 2008 with his
current position as a director, and has been the sole proprietor of his
own accounting firm Chan Koon Yung & Co. since March 2013. Mr.
Chan was the chief financial officer of Star Centurium Limited from
January 2023 to December 2023. He is an independent non-executive
director in Anxian Yuan China Holdings Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00922), since
June 2014.

He is currently a practicing certified public accountant in Hong Kong
and is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Yang Jianxin (#53£37), aged 47, joined the Group in February
1997 and has been the business manager since June 2008. Ms. Yang
is mainly responsible for negotiating the Group’s service contracts
with customers and preparation of business performance analysis
and contracting quotations of the Group.

Ms. Yang obtained her logistician qualification certificate issued by
the China Federation of Logistics & Purchasing* (i B4 B iR BBt
&) and the National Logistics Standardization & Technology
Committee* (Z2BI¥IRIZLE(LFMTZ &) in December 2006. Ms.
Yang completed her high school education in 1996.
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The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group and
safeguard interests of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). To accomplish this, the Company has adopted
the principles and the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The Company has complied with all applicable Code Provisions as
set out in the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ transactions in the
securities of the Company. Specific enquiry has been made of all the
Directors and all Directors confirmed that they had fully complied
with the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct
adopted by the Company and there was no event of non-compliance
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Company aims to establish and maintain a competent and
independent Board to supervise the Group’s business. The Board is
primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s mission and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
are in place for the Group to achieve its objectives.
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The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to
these Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference. The Board may from time to time
delegate certain functions to senior management of the Group if and
when considered appropriate. The management of day-to-day
operation of the Group’s businesses and implementation of the
business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board has
been delegated to the senior management of the Group.

The main functions performed by the Board include but are not
limited to the following matters:

formulating the Group’s strategy and direction and monitoring
the implementation thereof;

o deciding all material contracts, acquisitions, investments,
disposals of assets or any significant capital expenditure;

o approving of the Group’s financial statements, published
reports, price sensitive announcements and other disclosures
required under the Listing Rules;

o developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate
governance practices and the effectiveness of the Group's
financial controls, internal control and risk management

systems;

o Board appointment and other major appointments or removal;
and

o monitoring the performance of the management.
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As at 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report, the Board
comprises the following five executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDS"):

Executive directors

Mr. Le Kang (Chairman)

Mr. Li Jiahao (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Li Jiali

Mr. Song Ruipeng (removed on 9 December 2023)

Mr. Du Yingyou (re-designated from a non-executive Director to
an executive Director on 19 June 2023)

Mr. Li Zhigang (appointed on 9 December 2023)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Yu Chun Man

Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick
Dr. Wang Yi

Mr. Chan Koon Yung

Biographical information of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report.

In compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
appointed four INEDS, representing more than one-third of the Board
and at least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

Relationship amongst Directors

Save for Mr. Li Jiahao is the brother of Mr. Li Jiali, none of the Board
members has any relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships) between each other.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company and also to
enhance the quality of performance of the Company.

ate Governance Report contines
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Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure, size
and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy. The Board reviews and monitors the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to
ensure its effectiveness.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the
nomination of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to be
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and regional experience
and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Directors have a balanced mix of experiences, including
business and operation management, accounting and taxation,
corporate governance, regulatory advisory, business model and
strategy development and logistics operations. The education
background of the Directors ranges from business administration
and accountancy to law and fine chemical engineering, from
education institutions in Hong Kong, the PRC and United Kingdom.
The Group has also taken, and will continue to take steps to promote
gender diversity at all levels of the Company, including but not
limited to the Board and senior management levels. To implement
gender diversity at the Board level, the Group plans to appoint at
least one female Director by 31 December 2024. The Group will
adopt various measures to identify suitable candidates, such as
utilising the business networks of the Directors and senior
management and, if considered necessary, engaging the services of
executive search agents. It will continue to apply the principle of
appointments based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity
Policy as a whole.
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Measurable Objectives

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board that are relevant to the Company’s
business growth.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and where necessary, agree
on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board
and make recommendation to the Board.

The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as applicable)
such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives that are
appropriate to the Company’s business and board succession
planning, as applicable.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of the director’s
responsibilities under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.
The Company will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors
to develop and refresh their duties and responsibilities.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision C.1.4 of the CG Code on Directors’ training. According to
the records maintained by the Company, all the Directors have
participated in continuous professional development on corporate
governance, updates on laws, rules and regulations and accounting/
financial/management or other professional skills to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, functions and duties
of a listed company director during the year ended 31 December
2023.
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Attending training seminars/
induction training/
Reading materials

HEEwEE
AR RREE
Executive directors BfTE=R
Mr. Le Kang (Chairman) SEET(TE) v
Mr. Li Jiahao (Chief Executive Officer) REER s (EEHTE) v
M Li Jiall BNEE |
Mr. Song Ruipeng (removed on 9 December 2023) Rimesc 4 (202312 A9 R ER) V
Mr. DU Yingyou (re-designated from a non- HEREE(R2023F6 8198

executive Director to an executive BIFRTESAEIRIITES)

Director on 19 June 2023) v
Mr. Li Zhigang (appointed on 9 December 2023)  ZEEMI %4 (R 20235 12 A9 BEEF) v
Independent non-executive BUFRTES

directors
Mr. Yu Chun Man RiERE v
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick ARpEE v
Dr. Wang Yi T#Et v
Mr. Chan Koon Yung BEELE v
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Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term under their service
contracts and every Director is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years in accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

Under the articles of association of the Company, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three (3) years subject to
termination as provided therein. Each of the INEDs has respectively
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
term of one (1) year unless terminated by either party by giving at
least one month” written notice to the other.

Meetings and Attendance

The Board is scheduled to meet four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days
in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice is given in a
reasonable time in advance.

All Directors are provided with adequate information before the
meetings. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on issues
arising at the Board meetings and to make informed decisions, an
agenda and the accompanying Board papers together with all
appropriate and relevant information in relation to the matters of the
meetings are sent to all Directors at least three days before the
intended date of each regular Board meeting. The Directors are
allowed to include any other matters in the agenda that is required
for discussion and resolution at the meeting.

The Directors may participate the meetings either in person or
through electronic means of communications. The Directors have
separate and independent access to the company secretary and
senior management from time to time.
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Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records BRRERESHELSE

The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings, the general  REZE2023F 12 AN BIEFER  SEENE
meeting and the Board committees’ (the “Board Committees’ Zg¢g# REAShEEZZE((EERET
including, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and BEEZZES FHEZESNEXLAZES)S
the Nomination Committee) meetings during the year ended 31 #FZHFEREFIIR X :

December 2023 is set out in the table below:

Meetings Attended and Eligible to Attend

EHERAERHURZER
Annual General
Audit Remuneration Nomination Meeting held
Board  Committee = Committee = Committee on 16 June 2023

R2023%6F 16H
Exf FUZRE FMRA®  RERAE  ETMRRATAE

Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Le Kang (Note 1) SR (1) 1010 NATER 22 22 10
Mr. Li Jiahao REERE 10/10 N/ATER 212 N/ANER 1"
Mr. Li Jiali BENiE 10/10 N/ARER N/ATER 212 1"
Mr. Song Ruipeng (removed on RinlefE

9 December 2023) (R0BENAIBES) 8/9 NATER NATEE N/AZER /1
Mr. Du Yingyou (re-designated from @R %S

a non-executive Director to an (R20BF67198/

executive Director on 19 June 2023)  FATESELAHTES) 10/10 N/ATER N/ATEF N/ATER 17
Mr. Li Zhigang (appointed on FEREE

9 December 2023) (R203F12R98

BZA) 1N N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER

Independent non-executive Directors B 3t/ EE

Mr. Yu Chun Man REEE 10/10 212 212 212 1n
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick ARpEE 10/10 2/2 N/AT R 22 17
Dr. Wang Yi THEL 10710 N/AZER 212 N/ANER 1n
Mr. Chan Koon Yung REELE 10/10 212 212 212 11
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Apart from the said meetings, matters requiring Board approval
were arranged by means of circulation of written resolutions of all
Board members.

In addition to regular Board meetings, under code provision C.2.7 of
the CG, the chairman should at least annually hold meetings with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors (the “Chairman and Independent non-executive
Directors Meeting"). During the year, one Chairman and
Independent non-executive Directors Meeting was held.

All business transacted at the Board meetings and by written
resolutions were well documented. Draft minutes are circulated to
the Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.
Minutes of the Board meetings and written resolutions are kept by
the Company and are available to all Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

According to the Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (the "CEO") should be
separate and performed by different individuals to ensure a balance
of power and authority so that power is not concentrated in any one
individual. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the roles of the
Group's Chairman and CEO were held separately. Mr. Le Kang is the
Chairman and Mr. Li Jiahao is the CEQ. The Chairman is responsible
for the leadership of the Board, managing the overall operation and
developing the overall strategic planning and business management
of the Group while the CEO is responsible for monitoring the
business operation and formulating sales strategies of the Group.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Independent Non-executive Directors support the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board, and to bring
independent views and input to the Board.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation of
his/her independence, and the Company has assessed and
considered such Directors to be independent in accordance with
each and the various guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.
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No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements
will be granted to Independent Non-executive Directors to avoid bias
in their decision-making and compromise their objective and
independence.

INDEPENDENCE MECHANISM

The Board has adopted the mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board will review the
implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms on an annual
basis.

During the year, the Board reviewed the above mechanisms and
considered that the above mechanisms are effective in ensuring that
independent views and input are provided to the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The three Board Committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, were
established by the Board with defined terms of reference explaining
their respective roles and the authority delegated by the Board.
These defined terms of reference are available on the respective
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 26 September
2017 with written terms of reference (as amended from time to
time).

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditors; review the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting; and oversee internal control
and risk management procedures of the Group.
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The Audit Committee comprises the three INEDS, namely, Mr. Lau
Wai Piu Patrick, Mr. Yu Chun Man and Mr. Chan Koon Yung. Mr. Lau
Wai Piu Patrick is the chairman of the Audit Committee, who has
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in accounting
matters. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the existing external auditors of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 2 meetings of the Audit
Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the Group’s interim
and annual results, the Group's financial reporting and compliance
under the CG Code, the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, and considering the re-
election and the change of auditor of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 26
September 2017 with written terms of reference (as amended from
time to time). Pursuant to the extension of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules which will come into effect on 1 January 2023, the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were amended and
approved by the Board on 30 December 2022.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the
Group; review performance-based remuneration; and ensure none
of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of five members:
two executive Directors, being Mr. Le Kang and Mr. Li Jiahao, and
three INEDs, being Mr. Yu Chun Man, Dr. Wang Yi and Mr. Chan Koon
Yung. Dr. Wang Yi is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 2 meetings of the
Remuneration Committee was held for, inter alia, reviewing the
remuneration packages for the Directors and senior management
and making recommendations to the Board. No Director was
involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the Board and the senior management by band
for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HKS)
FEM#R B (B TT)
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Number of Individuals
AB

0-1,000,000

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 26
September 2017 with written terms of reference (as amended from
time to time).

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee currently consists of five members: two
executive Directors, being Mr. Le Kang and Mr. Li Jiali, and three
INEDs, being Mr. Yu Chun Man, Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick and Mr. Chan
Koon Yung. Mr. Le Kang is the chairman of the Nomination
committee.

The Group adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
on 30 January 2019. A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.
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Selection Criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

character and integrity

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy

o any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board

o requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules

o any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity

o willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of
the Company

o such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning
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Nomination Process
(@  Appointment of New Director

(i) ~ The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels,
including but not limited to internal promotion, re-
designation, referral by other member of the
management and external recruitment agents.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

(i) If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

(iv)  The Nomination Committee should then recommend to
the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

(v)  For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to Shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.
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(b)  Re-election of Director at General Meeting

()  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
then make recommendation to Shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.

Review of the Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Nomination
Policy and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
business needs.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 2 meetings of the
Nomination Committee were held, inter alia, including (i) reviewed
the structure, size and composition as well as the diversity of the
Board; (ii) assessed the independence of the INEDs; (iii)
recommended to the Board for consideration the re-appointment of
all the retiring Directors at the Annual General Meeting; and (iv)
recommend to the Board for the consideration the appointment of
Directors during the year. The Nomination Committee has also
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered that the Group has achieved the objectives of the Board
Diversity Policy.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions, which includes developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements etc. During the year, the Board has reviewed
the Company's policies and practices on corporate governance.

ate Governance Report contines

b)) RERAELEZEZF
() REZEBGR REFGERIRE
EEUARFIMERBBERMRE - A
REEFENSERERKR -

(i ‘’HEZ A@&/i§$’“7r?ﬁﬁﬁ&
MERTEERBNANTA Lt E
A e

(i) REZEGRREFGEANBKR
ARE LEREEMERARRIRLZ

2
%

BEREEE
REZEEHENHESTSNRE - AR RAEK

FIRBBRETRN  UTEARERREEDIR
HERTEZ  URSARRNCERBERYAE
%5

REZE2023F12A3NBILEEE  RRZEED
BiToRg®  BEESARE) ()EHEESZ
ZRiE - ABURABRARREZ T (i) FHE 8L
SEMITEENBIM  (NHEESHBEZEEY
ZERBRIBEFRELABERTEE  RWVR
FANESCRRERESIER IBEREE G
E%F)ﬁ%%.a%xﬂzﬂz RUAERE AN - HR
AASECDEBEES LT LBRZERE -

ERERMAE
EEGRARTOEEAME - REHERRH
ARARZEE  CEERER  EEREREE

ANEBZEIIRFHEEEER AR ZHELE
RERZEEREERES - AFER  EFEC
BRI ARRZBRREREEER -

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H

39



40

corpor
(b EEAREw

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration paid or
payable to the auditor of the Company (including their affiliated
firms) for their services rendered is summarised as below:
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Audit services FENZIRTE 1,283
Non-audit services e AR 135
Total 4t 1,418

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements for the relevant accounting periods which give a
true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. In preparing the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors have applied
applicable accounting policies, adopted appropriate accounting
standards and prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the Group’s external auditors, Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited, on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
are set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 119 to
129 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Tsang Mo (“Mr. Chan”) is the Company Secretary of the
Company. The primary contact person at the Company during the
year with Mr. Chan was Mr. Le Kang, the Chairman of the Board.
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During the year, Mr. Chan were responsible for providing advice to
the Board on corporate governance matters. Mr. Chan had
confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM")

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, an EGM shall
be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to send enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may raise questions, request for publicly available
information and provide comments and suggestions to the Directors
and management of the Company. Such guestions, requests,
comments and suggestions can be addressed to the Company by
post to Room 3, 5/F, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong
Kong.
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Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands (the “Companies Law"). However, pursuant to the articles
of association, Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by
means of requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set
out above.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

By a special resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 16 June 2023, the Company adopted a new set of
amended and restated memorandum of association and articles of
association to, among other things, comply with the core
shareholder protection standards set out in Appendix A1 to the
Listing Rules, reflect certain updates in relation to the applicable laws
of the Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules and make other house-
keeping amendments. For details, please refer to the announcement
and circular of the Company dated 21 April 2023 and 28 April 2023
respectively and the new memorandum of association and articles
of association of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in the constitutional
document during the year ended 31 December 2023. A latest version
of the Company'’s constitutional documents are also available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange's website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to ensure timely, transparent and accurate communications
between the Shareholders and the Company, in general, information
is communicated to the Shareholders mainly through the Company’s
interim reports, annual reports and quarterly reports (if any), general
meetings, as well as the corporate communications and publications
published on the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and on the Company’s website (www.goalrise-china.com).

The annual general meetings and other general meetings of the
Company are the primary communication forum between the
Company and the Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to
participate in general meetings physically or to appoint proxies to
attend and vote at such meetings for and on their behalf if they are
unable to attend.
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Board members, in particular, the chairman of the Board Committees
or their delegates, appropriate senior executives and external auditor
will attend the general meetings to answer the Shareholders’
questions.

The chairman of the general meetings will propose to vote the
resolutions (except resolutions which relate purely to procedural or
administrative matters) by poll in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. Scrutineer will be appointed for the
vote-taking at the general meetings and the voting results will be
published on the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company’s website (www.goalrise-china.com) subsequent to the
close of the general meetings.

The Company has established a shareholders’ communications
policy and will review it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board recognizes its responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and ensuring that the
Group establishes and maintains appropriate review on the overall
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems, which cover financial, operational and
compliance controls and ESG risks, to safeguard Shareholders’
investment and the Group's assets. The Board oversees the overall
risk management of the Group and endeavours to identify, control
impact of the identified risks and facilitate implementation of
coordinated mitigating measures. The principal risks and the relevant
measures have been disclosed in the section headed “Principal Risks
and Uncertainties” in the Report of the Directors contained in this
annual report. The Group's systems of risk management and internal
controls are designed to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute, assurance against the risk of material misstatement,
fraud or loss.
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The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided that the
Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed
for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publication, and ensuring compliance with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. The situation will be reviewed from time to time.

The Board reviews the risk management and internal controls
annually and has, through the Audit Committee and with the
assistance of the management, independent internal control
consulting firm and external auditors, conducted a review of, and is
satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2023 as well as the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and maintained procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination inside
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance
with the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.
Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Company are also subject to dealing
restrictions. Any inside information and any information which may
potentially constitute inside information is promptly identified,
assessed and escalated to the Board and for the Board to decide on
the need for disclosure. Inside information and other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company in due course.

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending or
declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash
reserves for meeting its working capital requirements, future
business growth and its shareholding value.
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Report of the Directors
EFEHS

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements for the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

TRANSFER OF LISTING

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange on 18 October 2017 (the “Listing”) and have
been transferred from GEM to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
with effect from 19 December 2019 (the “Transfer of Listing").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated on 22 November 2016 in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set forth in Note
32 to the consolidated financial statements. The Group is principally
engaged in the provision of transportation, warehousing, in-plant
logistics and customisation services.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

A review of the financial performance and business of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and a discussion on the
Group's future business development are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report. These discussions form part of this
Report of the Directors.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

The Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity
to our staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and
career development opportunities based on their merits and
performance. The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide
adequate trainings and development resources to the employees so
that they can keep abreast of the latest development of the market
and the industry and, at the same time, improve their performance
and self-fulfillment in their positions.

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with customers and provide the services in a way that
satisfy needs and requirements of the customers. The Group
enhances the relationship by continuous interaction with customers
to gain insight on the changing market demand for the services so
that the Group can respond proactively. The Group has also
established procedures in place for handling customers’ complaints
to ensure customers’ complaints are dealt with in a prompt and
timely manner.

The Group maintains close liaison with its subcontractors to monitor
their performance to ensure they meet the Group's standards at all
times.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the Stock
Exchange. The establishment and operations accordingly shall
comply with relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date
of this report, the Group has complied in material aspects with all the
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group understands the importance of environmental
sustainability and protection and has adopted policies on pollution
prevention, preservation of natural resources and adherence to
environmental laws and regulations. Details are disclosed in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” prepared in
accordance with Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules, which set out on
pages 63 to 118 of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance through its continuous effort in improving the
business practices. Details about the principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the financial position of the Company and of the Group at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 130 to
258 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in Note 31(b) to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 134 of this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution comprising share premium and accumulated losses,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law,
amounted to approximately RMB43.2 million (2022: RMB16.0 million),
of which nil dividend was proposed for the year. Under the
Companies Law, the share premium account of the Company of
approximately RMB93.3 million as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB62.9 million) is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
subject to the provisions of its memorandum and articles of
association and provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend, if any, is proposed to be paid, the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The Company's share premium account may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, is set out on pages 259 to 260
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in Note 24(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Prior to the listing of the shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(which subsequently transferred to the main board of the Stock
Exchange), the Company conditionally adopted a share option
scheme (the “Previous Share Option Scheme”) on 26
September 2017 which became effective and unconditional upon the
listing. The Company has terminated the Exiting Share Option
Scheme and has adopted a new share option scheme (the “New
Share Option Scheme”) under the Shareholders’ approval by way
of poll at an extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
23 November 2023. The New Share Option Scheme is effective upon
obtaining the listing approval from the Stock Exchange on 29
November 2023.

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available and high calibre personnel of the Group, to provide
additional incentives to the Eligible Participants (as defined below)
and to promote the overall success of the business of the Group.

Pursuant to the terms of the New Share Option Scheme, the eligible
participants (the “Eligible Participants”) include (i) the director(s)
and employee(s) (whether full-time or parttime but excludes a former
employee of the Group unless such former employee otherwise
qualifies as an Eligible Participant) of any member of the Group
(including persons who are granted options under the New Share
Option Scheme as inducement to enter into employment contracts
with any member of the Group) (the “Employee Participants”); (i)
directors and employees (whether full time or part time but excludes
any former employee unless such former employee otherwise
qualifies as an Eligible Participant) of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company (the “Related
Entity Participants”); and (iii) person(s) who provide services to
any member of the Group on a continuing or recurring basis in its
ordinary and usual course of business which are in the interests of
the long term growth of the Group, which include any contractor,
supplier, agent, consultant, adviser and/or business partner to any
area of business or business development of the Group, but
excluding any placing agents or financial advisers providing advisory
services for fundraising, mergers or acquisitions, and other
professional services provider such as auditors or valuers who
provide assurance, or are required to perform their services with
impartiality and objectivity (the “Service Providers”).

B E

REBBEREFBREEND AMHEENREEMN
FEBEHEEHNAERFE29E260H WS
WIEEFH E2023F 12 A3 HIEFEWNKEEZLES
IR —2 D -

M- BRERRKE
FERAREE - RS R HENE
ABTSREM 14 -

EREE9N 5

[N
FRARB RN EEFIFEHRN
T 24(@ A °

B RESTE

FERR D FEE X BT GEM (R BB RFT R ) Lz
AT NATID 2017 9 A 26 B A G4 IR —
TEEE TS ([ SRR ER B ) @ 218N L
MBEBMKEBEGEY - ARAFRIERIEIRBER
WEEHEl - WAE2023F 11 A23 BB 1THIARRD T
RHEFRIAE FURERRANAXNBRBT —HIH
BT S ([ ABARAERT®) ) - FERETIRN
20234F 11 329 AEBE AR b ER LR -

iR e RS ERaR MY

B IERT 8 B S| Wik BB AR B & B 5 A
AAS - RAEKRS2EE (E& LT REHEIN
REALESAEEXEREEZEKY

RIBFBER BNV EER2EE (AR
BBEE ) BE)AEEEAKE AR (BHER
EHBAE S B ERB R AR B EASET
ARBRAFRIVEBAENNAL)NEERESR
(TREBAFE - ETERAKENES @ K
FZARBERTTNA AR EBRBEEERANSAIER
) ((EESRE])  (\ARFAEFRAF - AR
MBARSEE NRNESRES (TwERk
B ETERIEAESR  BRIFZAERRTTHS
ERZ2EEERASENR) ((RAHASR
D RNVE-—REAFXEBBRERFELL
BRAEEEMKE AR REREATEAEE
RHERMNEOAL  BESRASEEAHE
ERREBBERNEMABR - HER KR8
B BAARAEBEH  ETEEREE
Bx - AftsiEmREEAREOEEREL
BTG RARE e A R RAGHIER - Pl R RS
ig@%%@%%%%%ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%qﬁﬁ
el -

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H

47



48

Report of the Directors contnvea
EESeREw

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer an option to the
Eligible Participants to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an
exercise price and subject to the other terms of the New Share
Option Scheme. Upon acceptance of the share option within a period
of 21 days inclusive of, and from the date of grant, the Eligible
Participants shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant. The total number of shares of the
Company which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the New Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total number of shares as at the date of approval of the New Share
Option Scheme, unless with prior approval from the Company’s
Shareholders.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme together
with all options and awards which may be granted under any other
share schemes for the time being of the Company would be
114,128,000 Shares, representing 10% of the number of the issued
shares of the Company as at the date of this report.

Save for the circumstances prescribed below, an option must be
held by the grantee for at least twelve (12) months before the option
can be exercised. The Board may at its discretion grant a shorter
vesting period to an Employee Participant in the following
circumstances: (a) grants of “make-whole” option(s) to new joiners to
replace the share options they forfeited when leaving the previous
employers; (b) grants to an Employee Participant whose employment
is terminated due to death or occurrence of any out-of-control event;
(c) grants that are made in batches during a year for administrative
and compliance reasons, which include options that should have
been granted earlier if not for such administrative or compliance
reasons had to wait for the subsequent batch. In such case, the
vesting period may be shorter to reflect the time from which the
option would have been granted; (d) grants of options with a mixed
or accelerated vesting schedule such as where the options may vest
evenly over a period of twelve (12) month; or (e) grants with
performance-based vesting conditions in lieu of time-based vesting
criteria as determined in the conditions of grant.

Subject to the terms of the New Share Option Scheme, an option
may be exercised in whole or in part at any time during the period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to the grantee thereof at
the time of making an offer provided that such period shall not
exceed the period of 10 years from the date of the grant of the
particular option but subject to the provisions for early termination of
the New Share Option Scheme.
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The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each
Eligible Participant under the New Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. The New Share
Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the
date on which the New Share Option Scheme becomes
unconditional. Under the New Share Option Scheme, each option
has a 10-year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the
Board.

The exercise price for shares to be subscribed under the New Share
Option Scheme may be determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion, provided that it shall not be less than the highest of: (a)
the closing price of the Shares as shown in the daily quotations sheet
of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; (b) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as
shown in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the
five (5) consecutive business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (c) the nominal value of the Share on the date of grant.

No share option was granted since the adoption of the Previous
Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme save for
that on 1 June 2020, the Company offered to grant an aggregate of
73,400,000 share options (the “Share Options”) to certain
Directors, employees and consultants of the Company (the
“Grantees”), subject to acceptance of the Grantees, under the
Previous Share Option Scheme. The Share Options will enable the
Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate of 73,400,000 shares,
representing approximately 9.175% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of grant. The validity period of the Share
Options is ten years from the date of grant and the exercise price of
the Share Options is HK$0.188 per share. The Share Options have no
vesting period. Since then, the Group has not granted any share
options under the Previous Share Option Scheme and the New
Share Option Scheme up to the date of this report. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, no share option was granted, vested,
exercised, lapsed or cancelled. The number of Share Options
available for grant under the scheme mandate at the beginning and
the end of the year ended 31 December 2023 is 6,600,000 and
114,128,000 respectively. The total number of share available for
grant under the service provider submit is 34,238,400 as at 31
December 2023. The total number of Shares available for issue under
the Previous Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option
Scheme as at the date of this report is 183,128,000 Shares (among
which 69,000,000 Shares may be issued upon exercise of the
outstanding Share Options and 114,128,000 shares may be issued
upon exercise of the Share Options to be granted), representing
16.0% of the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this
report and approximately 17.4% of the weighted average number of
shares for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Details of the options granted to the grantees under the Previous
Share Option Scheme and movements in such holdings during the

50

year ended 31 December 2023 were as follows: BT
Number of share options
FlREBAE
Exercise At Exercised At
price 1 January during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant  Exercise period per share 2023 the year 2023
®2023F #2023 F
REA RHAX fTiEsIm SRTER 1A1A8 FENETE 12A31H
(HKS)
(#7r)
Directors
EF
Mr. Li Jiahao 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
31 May 2030
ReEEtE 202056418 202066H18%
2030%5A31H
Mr. Li Jiali 1June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
31 May 2030
RENRE 2020F6F18 202056R18E
2030F5H318
Others
Htt
Mr. Li Jianxin 1 June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.183 800,000 - 800,000
31 May 2030
Rigmrst 202056818 2020F6R1RZ2

203065316
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Number of share options
HREsE
Exercise At Exercised At
price 1 January during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant  Exercise period per share 2023 the year 2023
#2023 #2023 &
A RHAH fTiERIRE BRITER 1818 FNEITE 128318
(HKS)
(B7)
Mr. Li Jianming 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
31 May 2030
RERTE 202056718 202066H18%
2030%5A31H
Ms. Lin Jianfang 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 8,000,000 - 8,000,000
31 May 2030
Mels Lt 2020F6 818 2020F6F10Z
2030%5A31H
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence 1June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
31 May 2030
BERET 202056718 202066H18%
2030%5A 318
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy 1June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
31 May 2030
HHREEL 2020F6 818 2020%F6F10Z
2030%5A31H
Mr. Shao Wei 1June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
31 May 2030
iR E 202056718 2020F6R18%
2030F5A 318
Employees 1June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 55,400,000 - 55,400,000
31 May 2030
] 2020%F6R18 020F6A10%
203054318
Consultants 1June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 - - -
31 May 2030
B 2020%F6R18 020F6A10%
2030%5A31H
Total 69,000,000 - 69,000,000
o

HREFEZEREBERAR/ T =FF® 51



Report of the Directors wontines
EEgWHEn

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of these related party transactions constitutes connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which is required to
be disclosed under the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year
under review.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP

Save as elsewhere disclosed in this annual report, during the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not make any significant
investments.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Le Kang (Chairman)

Mr. Li Jiahao (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Li Jiali

Mr. Song Ruipeng (removed on 9 December 2023)

Mr. Du Yingyou (re-designated from a non-executive Director to
an executive Director on 19 June 2023)

Mr. Li Zhigang (appointed on 9 December 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Chun Man

Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick
Dr. Wang Yi

Mr. Chan Koon Yung
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In accordance with Articles 108(a) and 112 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Le Kang, Mr. Li Jiahao, Mr. Li Jiali, Mr. Du Yingyou
and Mr. Li Zhigang will retire by rotation and be eligible to offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence from the Group,
and as at the date of this report still considers them to be
independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company are set out on pages 20 to 24 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive Directors, namely Mr. Le Kang, Mr. Li Jiahao, Mr. Li
Jiali, Mr. Du Yingyou and Mr. Li Zhigang, have entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from the date.

The independent non-executive Directors, hamely Mr. Yu Chun Man
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick, Dr. Wang Yi and Mr. Chan Koon Yung, have
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a fixed
term of one to three years.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The Board has the general power of determining the Directors’
remuneration, subject to authorisation of the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting each year. The
remuneration of the executive Directors is subject to review by the
Remuneration Committee, and their remuneration is determined
with reference to the Directors’ qualifications, experience, duties,
responsibilities and performance and results of the Group. As for the
independent non-executive Directors, their remuneration is
determined by the Board upon recommendation from the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the emoluments of the
Directors, senior management and the five highest paid individuals
for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no Director had a
material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party subsisted at 31 December 2023 or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2023 had the Company or any of its
subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance with the
controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, nor had any
contract of significance been entered into for the services provided
by the controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association of the
Ccompany, the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the
execution of their duties in their offices. The Company has arranged
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Group, in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
have taken or deemed to have under such provision of the SFQ), or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares
of the Company:

AR BIRD MR VAR

Number of Approximate
Shares and percentage of
underlying total issued
Shares Shares
Name of Directors Capacity B in R 4HRA ERTRNAH
EFlE {3 Bi3& R #BHESL
(Note 2)
(Kiaz2)
Mr. Li Jiahao Beneficial owner 800,000 (Note 1) 0.07%
RaihitaE EmEAA (H1a%1)
Mr. Li Jiali Beneficial owner 800,000 (Note 1) 0.07%
R hiAE En#EA A (Kiz1)
Notes: Bt -
1. These interests in underlying Shares represent the interests in share options 1. ZEREBRONESIERIEERETER TESHE

granted to the Directors under the Share Option Scheme. Details of which are
shown in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report.

2. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2023 (i.e. 1,141,280,000
Shares) has been used in the calculation of the approximate percentage.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interests and short positions
in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which each of them has taken
or deemed to have taken under the provision of the SFO); or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into
the register referred to therein; or which were required, pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as the Share Options granted to the Directors as disclosed in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report were rights to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked
agreement that (i) will or may result in the Company issuing shares
or (ii) requires the Company enter into any agreement that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares, was entered into by the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 or subsisted at
the end of the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company had, or were deemed to have, interests or short position in
the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO; or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or
indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of the Company:

Named of shareholders Capacity

TERFRREG RABBRG B KR

N9

mRRE

R2023F 128318 » BEEMAE - THALQE
FBFRARARSITHAEL) R B R
DR AR ABREERIEES S EHIEXY
5B 2} 35 ERAG SCAA A AN A =) Y BB B 4 2 A
B RSN ARRIREES RS K336
EEFEZSLMAOERSOAR  skEZHE
BEA M SRR PME B R T AT E AR Rl A R
A& _EREMEREE R AN E 5% sk A s -

Number of Approximate
Shares and percentage
underlying of total

Shares issued Shares

B {7 Be 4E BR ERTRIGER

EFlE =gV Bin8E BHESL
(Note 1)
(KtaE1)
Mr. Zhu Zhijian (“Mr. Zhu")  Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 166,700,000 14.61%
KEEEA ([SREE D) SirsrmERS (BT 2)
Portree Wealth Limited Beneficial owner (Note 2) 166,700,000 14.61%
(“Portree Wealth")
R = AR AT BREBEEAMFE2)
(MEBARE)
Zhongbei Investment Holding  Beneficial owner 80,000,000 7.01%
Group (Hainan) Co., Ltd.
FibiEEEREE (O8FE) EmEA A
HRA A
HREE Beneficial owner 88,000,000 7.71%
BHEE EnEAA
& Beneficial owner 82,000,000 7.18%
HER EmEAA
Notes: izt -
1. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2023 (i.e. 1,141,280,000 1. FA20234F 12 431 AN E BT 428 (B11,141,280,000

Shares) has been used in the calculation of the approximate percentage.

2. Portree Wealth is the registered owner holding approximately 17.29% of the
issued shares in the Company. The entire issued share capital of Portree Wealth
is owned by Mr. Zhu. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhu is deemed to be interested in all the
shares registered under the name of Portree Wealth.

All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors are
not aware of any other person, other than Directors and the chief
executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, to be
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of the Company or options in respect of such share capital.

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors are not aware
of any business or interest of the Directors, the substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates
that competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of interests
which any such person has or may have with the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There were no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders unless otherwise required by the Stock
Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report.
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DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no charitable donations
was made by the Group (2022: nil).

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 34.7% (2022: 57.7%) of the Group's total direct costs.
The Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 65.5%
(2022: 93.2%) of the Group's total direct costs.

In the year under review, the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 65.7% (2022: 64.7%) of the Group's total
revenue. The Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately
38.7% (2022: 36.1%) of the Group's total revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined under the
Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company's issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest
customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2023.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee was established on 26 September 2017 with
written terms of reference (as amended from time to time) in
compliance with the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee is
responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditors,
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors, and any questions regarding resignation or
dismissal of that auditor; monitoring integrity of the financial
statements, the annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and
quarterly reports (if any), and reviewing significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them; and reviewing the financial controls,
internal control and risk management systems.
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The annual results of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been audited. The Audit Committee has reviewed with the
management of the Company the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed the auditing, internal
controls and financial reporting matters, including review of the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
shares of the Company.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the shares of the Company, they
are advised to consult an expert.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM") of the Company
will be held on Tuesday, 18 June 2024. A notice convening the AGM
will be issued and sent to the shareholders of the Company in due
course.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 13 June 2024 to Tuesday, 18 June 2024, both days inclusive
during which no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the forthcoming AGM or any
adjournment thereof, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,
12 June 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board are not aware of any significant event which had material
effect on the Group subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this report.
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CHANGE OF AUDITOR IN THE PRECEDING 3
YEARS

Linksfield CPA Limited has resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 29 November 2022. The Board has resolved to
appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly") as the new
auditor of the Company with effect from 29 November 2022 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of Linksfield CPA Limited.
Baker Tilly shall hold office until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting pursuant to the articles of association of the
Company. A resolution to re-appoint Baker Tilly as the auditor of the
Company for approval by the Shareholders has been proposed and
passed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 16
June 2023.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 has been audited by Baker Tilly the independent
auditor, who shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution to re-appoint
Baker Tilly as the auditor of the Company will be proposed for
approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Le Kang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R g REAWRE

SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This is the Environmental, Social, and Governance (“ESG") report (the
"ESG Report’) prepared by Yues International Holdings Group
Limited (the "Group”, “we" or “us”), highlighting its ESG
performance, with disclosure reference made to the ESG Reporting
Guide as described in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the "HKEX").

We regard this ESG Report as a communication channel with our
stakeholders and believe that we should disclose ESG information
that is meaningful and important to their decision-making. To serve
this purpose, this ESG Report is prepared with reference to the
fundamental reporting principles set out in the ESG Reporting Guide.
This ESG Report covers the Group's overall performance in two
subject areas, namely, Environmental and Social of the following
business operations from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the
"Reporting Period”), unless otherwise stated, which is consistent
with the coverage of the 2023 Annual Report of the Group:

() Guangzhou World-Link (China) Limited
(i) Distribution Center in Guangzhou, Huangpu, Tianjin, Taicang
(i) The staff dormitories in Guangzhou, Huangpu, Tianjin, Taicang

(iv)  Zhongshan Haihui Technology Logistics (Group) Co., Ltd.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group had a new subsidiary,
Zhongshan Haihui Technology Logistics (Group) Co. Ltd., whose
business activities are included in this ESG Report. Besides,
Dongguan distribution center was moved out during the Reporting
Period. The principal activities of the above-mentioned operations
are providing logistic services to the Group’s customers’ supply
chains in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), which include (i)
transportation; (ii) warehousing; (iii) in-plant logistics; and (iv)
customization services (which consist mainly of labelling services
and bundling services). The Group offers transportation services to
their customers including delivering production materials,
components and finished goods to their downstream clients,
manufacturing plants and/or designated locations. The Group’s in-
plant logistics services cover the management of the movement of (i)
production materials and components and work-in-progress to the
production lines within the customers’ manufacturing plants; and (ii)
finished goods out to their factory gates. Apart from the logistic
service, the energy consumption of the staff in dormitories will also
be included this Reporting Period as the Group is responsible for
affording dormitory rents for its staff. All the customers’ warehouses
are excluded in this Reporting Period, since the use of energy, water
and other resources in the customers' warehouses are not directly
controlled by the Group.

Reporting Principles
The preparation of the ESG Report has applied the following
principles:

Materiality — materiality assessments have been carried out to
identify material environmental and social issues that have major
impacts on investors and other stakeholders, the significant
stakeholders, procedures, and results of the engagement of which
are presented in the section “Stakeholder Engagement and
Materiality” in the Report.
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Quantitative — key performance indicators (“KPIs'") have been
established, and are measurable and applicable to make valid
comparisons under appropriate conditions; information on the
standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools
used, and sources of conversion factors used, have been disclosed
when applicable.

Balance — performance of the Group was presented in an impartial
manner, avoiding choices, omissions or presentation formats that
may unduly influence readers’ decisions or judgements.

consistency — consistent statistical methodologies and
presentation of KPIs have been used to allow meaningful
comparisons of related data over time.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY

The Group communicates with key stakeholders through daily
interaction to understand their concerns and expectations on ESG
issues. The Group engages stakeholders via various communication
channels such as regular meetings, performance appraisals,
company’s website, e-mails and via phone calls. Through regular
engagement sessions, the Group obtains valuable feedback and
reviews areas of attention which will help the business to meet its
potential growth and be prepared for future ESG challenges.

! How to prepare an ESG Report — refer to

Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs, https://www.hkex.com.
hk/-/media/HKEX-Market/Listing/Rules-and-Guidance/Environmental-Social-and-
Governance/Exchanges-guidance-materials-on-ESG/app2_envirokpis.pdf;

Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs, https://www.hkex.com.hk/-/
media/HKEX-Market/Listing/Rules-and-Guidance/Environmental-Social-and-
Governance/Exchanges-guidance-materials-on-ESG/app3_socialkpis.pdf?la=en
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The major ESG concerns of its stakeholders and the means through
which the Group engages with such stakeholders are detailed below:

Stakeholders
BhE

Vara~INVAN &/—'li(z)

/DfF

Areas of ESG Concern
B -IERELMTHE

HEMENTERE H@MERBEINRAE
Elli=rr

BhEEBNAAFRAOT

Means of Engagement
BEAX

Stock Exchange

B4 22 B

Compliance with the Listing Rules;

and

Timely and accurate announcement.

Er EmARA
R B 2 EEE’]’”‘E °

Meetings;

Training and seminars; and
Company’s website and
announcements.
iﬁ*ﬂ\&ﬁﬁ g

UNEIFETRY NN

Government and regulatory

Operational compliance;

Annual review process; and

authorities o Tax payment as legally required,; Company’s website and
and announcements.
. Disclosure of information.
IR % B i J EEAH FEEEEF &
J PRGBS & NSIE IS/
J =B o
Investors . Business strategies and General meetings;
performances; Financial reports and
o Effective corporate governance, announcements; and
. Sustainable profitability; and Company's website.
o Investment returns.
wEE J ESU LIS E SN
J BRMTEEER MBRERRE &

AIFEERANESD R
&R ©

yNGIEEI

Media and Public

LS NS UN

Corporate governance;
Environmental protection; and

Uphold human rights standards.

CRER
BHRE R
B A MBI -

Announcements;
Company's website; and

Press conference.
INHE

AN
UNCIE SIS
MBS o
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Stakeholders Areas of ESG Concern Means of Engagement
BRE BRE - gREQREEES BEAN
Suppliers ° Payment schedule; Site visits;

. Demand stability,

. Operational compliance; and

° Quality services and products.
fEn J E SR

o EREEMN

° eiBa iﬁ &

° BERBENMESR °

Meetings; and
E-mails and phone calls.

EER
g

BT RER-

Customers ° Quality services and products,
. Employee safety;
o Commercial credibility;
° Intellectual property “IP” rights
and protection; and
o Operational compliance.

BF . EERERES:
. [gE%2
. HEEE

. FIHERE [IP] RiRE
. BIEBAA -

Visits;

Meetings;

E-mails and phone calls; and
Customers’ enquiries handling
mechanism.

E|J\;

\H
ol

Ly .
S

EFHHELERE &
BEFEAERIEHS)

Employees ° Rights and benefits of employees;

. Training and development;

° Working environment and
occupational safety; and

° Equal opportunities.

1B BN KAz A

o Bl RER

J THERERBERZS K

J FERE o

7l
]
[ ]

Regular meetings,

Employee training;

Annual performance appraisal; and
WhatsApp and WeChat group.

EHEE

EERIREFI
FEZ &
WhatsApp & {E &#4H °

Community ° Community development;
° Employment opportunities;
° Environmental protection; and
° Social welfare.

HE . HETR:
. pEMe
. BHRE R
o HEA%-

Community service activities;
Media enquiry; and
Press releases and announcements.

HERIES
iy E R
BB R AL -
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Materiality Assessment

To identify material ESG issues, the Group has specifically engaged a
wide range of stakeholders, including the board of directors (the
“Board”), shareholders, senior management, frontline workers,
partners, clients and suppliers, to gain insights into ESG material
topics. The Group has identified ESG issues that may have potential
impacts on its sustainable development from various sources,
including issues identified and included in the Group's previous ESG
Report and internal policies, and some reflected by industry trends,
the areas of ESG concerns raised by the Group’s stakeholders as set
out above, and the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board's
Materiality Map?. Such ESG issues have been analysed with reference
to an array of factors, including the Group’s overall strategy,
development, and goals and targets.

A materiality assessment was carried out based on the
characteristics of the business and the future direction of the Group,
taking into account industry practices. This assessment adhered to
the principle of “materiality” and involved using a specially designed
questionnaire for stakeholders. The questionnaire was distributed to
identified stakeholders to gather valuable insights into their
expectations and concerns. In the materiality assessment,
stakeholders were asked to rate a list of 24 ESG topics in terms of
their relevance and importance to the Group’s business continual
and sustainability performance, as well as to the wider community.

During the Reporting Period, 6 stakeholders have been engaged and

the consolidated list of material aspects with respective management
are presented in the following matrix, table and section respectively.

2 Sustainability Accounting Standards Board's Materiality Map, https://materiality.
sasb.org/
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Materiality Matrix ZEE M 4E[E

5
High Environment and lEEie 6
Natural Resources Customer Privacy
FHRARER RERFBIL
Products and ~
Water Usage Snasement? TS | Prevention of child
IKEVERE EREE S EE and Forced Labour
e B3 1L T KRB 4 E)
< Green Procurement -
4 ARE R Casfggrgae'cgﬂgp?ﬂgm Occupational
w
ity Health and Safety
9 M E\Itunm&%%%@ %%@%&?%
ovm Innovative Products Quality Monitoring
I g s and Services and Assessment N
S BT ER LR R B TR Intellectual Property Supply Chain
Loz ('IP") Rights Management
VAR Customer Satisfaction AR TIP] )R e
Z oK BEREE o ,
wwn Anti-corruption Recruitment
g E Energy Usage ® B ar;g;z%tﬁgtlon
il E B REIRIER EINES
ohE
SQim Community O] O] ® ® ®
=R Investment
3 2 i HERE
o W
> Waste
u REE o o
Usage of Climate Change Diversity and
O Packaging Materials FEEL Equal Opportunities
BEMEEER SRMRTERE
Air Pollutants Greenhouse Gas Employee Wellbeing
ZGIE ) Emissions EEREF
& BEREBHEN
Low
Lﬁ LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS H_i'%;h
ow BE RERMEVENEEEE

Through ongoing dialogue and materiality assessment during the  SREHAEBHEH ZHEZHTE - KEED
Reporting Period, the Group has identified 9 material issues that  #AIFHERBEIATOEEATEZEE ¢
were deemed as the most important by the stakeholders:

. Products and Services Quality Management . EmiRFEEER
. Protection of Customer Privacy e  REEPEIL

. Anti-corruption . R&ES

. Prevention of Child and Forced Labor . By EE T & ogia 4 &)
e Occupational Health and Safety . BERERZD

. Staff Training and Career Development . BTHIRBEERE
. Protection of IP Rights . IP R

e Supply Chain Management . HERE R

. Recruitment and Retention . BERER

HREFEREBERAR / — T - =FFRH
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The Group actively maintains communication with different
stakeholders through the communication procedure on different ESG
issues, such as energy saving, reduce resources consumption and
cost reduction. The Group will continue to manage these critical
issues by establishing more policies and guidelines to further
enhance the Group’s ESG performance.

SOURCE OF DATA AND RELIABILITY
STATEMENT

The information disclosed in this ESG Report is retrieved from the
Group's internal documents, statistical reports and relevant public
information. The Group confirms that this ESG Report does not
contain any false information, misleading statement or material
omission, and is responsible for the authenticity, accuracy and
completeness of the contents.

CONFIRMATION AND APPROVAL

This ESG Report was reviewed and approved by the Board on 27
March 2024 upon confirmation by the management of the Group.
The electronic version of this ESG Report is available on the website
of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its ESG approach
and performance. Suggestions and views can be sent by post: Room
3, 5/F, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong or email:
admin@goalrise-china.com.
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THE GROUP'’S SUSTAINABILITY MISSION AND
VISION

The Group believes that environmental protection and sustainability
development is a big social trend. The Group strives to pursue a
sustainable business model which can integrate ESG concepts into
the risk management system, and implement measures to balance
the Group's business development with regard to protecting the
environment.

THE GROUP'S SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

The Board holds the overall responsibility for overseeing the general
direction for the Group's ESG strategies, ensuring the effectiveness
in the control of its risks and internal control mechanisms, sets up
and evaluates ESG-related goals and targets and communicates with
stakeholders and participates in formulating relevant policies.

The Group has established an ESG Taskforce (the “Taskforce”)
which comprises core members from different departments and is
responsible for collecting relevant information on the Group’s ESG
aspects. The Taskforce continuously monitors and evaluates the
Group's ESG performance through regular meetings. The Taskforce
reports to the Board, and assists in identifying and evaluating the
Group’s ESG risks and the effectiveness of the internal control
mechanisms, examining and evaluating the Group’s performances in
different ESG aspects such as the environment, health and safety,
labor standards and product responsibilities.
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ESG Taskforce
R -8R .

ERI{ENAA HEREAEE o

Functional

Department
B BERR P

The Group complies with the related laws and regulations stringently,
adhering to “The Energy Conservation Law of the PRC” (R ZE A R 3£
B &5 4 g8 IR 0%) and “The Comprehensive Work Plan for Energy
Conservation and Emission Reduction for the “14th Five-Year Plan”
Period” ([+PUF | g8 R AR & TIERTE)).

AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

During the Reporting Period, the Group was a recognized member of
Guangzhou Logistics & Supply Chain Association and the Guangzhou
Association of Highway Transportation Industry (Tianhe branch).

The Group strives to maintain the highest standards to provide
logistic services to meet the customer needs and enhance customer
satisfaction, and with its high credibility, high quality and reliable
logistic services, it was certified with the Quality Management
System ISO 9001:2015.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2023

e The Board is responsible for the overall decisionmaking, oversees
the formulation, administration, and assessment of the ESG system.

s EFTRAREERE BHERE tglkERBRMNGIE -

e The Taskforce is responsible for assisting the Board in managing and
monitoring the ESG matters on a daily basis.

T MER BB E R TR R RERANRS

e Functional department is responsible for the execution of imple-
mented measures to achieve the set strategies and targets.
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is highly conscious of balancing development and
environmental protection to maintain sustainability of society.
The Group is committed to continuously improving its
environmental sustainability and ensuring environmental
consideration remains one of the top priorities through its
business operation.

The Group stringently complies with national and local laws
and regulations concerning environmental protection and
pollution control, including the “The Energy Conservation Law
of the PRC” (R AR FEFEIEFZIEEIRE), “The Comprehensive
Work Plan for Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction for
the “14th Five-Year Plan” Period” ([ + M ] fige R B4R A T1E
=T2&0), “The Environmental Protection Law of the PRC" (F % A
R # 70 B 3R 3% (R # %), "The Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the PRC” (d # A R H£ MBI K5 R B8 %), the
Law of the PRC on “The Prevention and Control of Atmospheric
Pollution” (2 A R HFIE KRS A%), "The Law of the
PRC on Prevention and Control of Pollution From
Environmental Noise” (1 2 A R HF1E 8 2 )5 205 587%), and
“The Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste” (7 #& A R £ FIE R E
SERBTRE).

Apart from complying with the national laws and regulations,
the Group has formulated internal environmental management
guidelines and implemented carbon reduction measures to
reduce energy and resource consumption such as electricity,
fuel and water in its business operation. Firstly, in terms of
reduction of air and greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions, noise
pollution, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste, the Group has implemented some practices and
measures in order to minimize pollution derived from its daily
business operation. For instance, the Group recycled and
reused packaging materials as much as possible. Secondly, the
Group used low emission fuel, and a filter device on the tailpipe
in order to reduce automobile exhaust gas. Thirdly, to reduce
vehicle dust dispersion, the Group regularly sprinkles water on
vehicles. For the purpose of reduction of vehicle noise, the
Group added a vibration damping plate with a sound-absorbing
pad and chosen tires with low tire noise.
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No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to air and GHG
emissions, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous

waste was identified during the Reporting Period.

A1. Emissions
A1.1 Air Emissions
Operation Activities

BEHN BEEREREEERIE
%EEHFBQLA&EEE&E%W%%FEHEI
AEEBEATE ZHMEARERNIE)

Al BERLW)
A1.1 Z=RBEK

Given the nature of our business operations, a
considerable number of vehicles are used to
ensure the timely and reliable transportation of
goods. The consumption of diesel used by the light,
medium and heavy goods vehicles results in
emission of air pollutants, and the emissions
generated from vehicles are a major source of
emission of the Group during the Reporting Period.
Besides, natural gas is consumed by the staff who

lived in some dormitories.

Exhaust gas emissions generated from business
operations of the Group mainly include nitrogen
oxides (“NOx"), sulphur oxides (“SOx") and
particulate matter ("PM"), the major source of
emission is exhaust gas generated from vehicles,
and also natural gas consumed in some

dormitories.

Details of air emissions generated by the Group are

as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2023

EiEEE)
ENXBKBENLEE  FEA
B R 2 B LA BRIR ]2 I 7] 52 Y
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(TPM)) - EXZHRLHEH
EEHERNA RS BESER
EIRAR o

AR E AR = BRI
T

Year ended 31 December 2022

#E2023F12A31ALEE BEXONENVANBILFE
NO« (kg) SO«(kg) PM(kg)  NOx(kg SO, (kg) PM (kg)
source of Emission HER &R NOK(2F) SO(ZF) PM(&R) NO(RT) SOJ(AT) PM(AT)
Vehicle Operation HEHLIE 3,600.10 3.82 279.96  37231.14 3.66 25297
Natural Gas KAR 0.21 0.0011 Nil £ 0.18 0.0009 Nil £
Total it 3,600.31 3.82 279.96  37231.32 3.66 25297
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Compared to last reporting period, the total
emissions of NO, SO, and PM increased by 11.42%,
4.37% and 10.67% respectively, mainly due to the
Group's business expansion, a new business unit
has been included, along with the expansion of the
vehicle fleet during the Reporting Period. Taking
into consideration the business expansion, the
Group has set a target to reduce 10% of air
emissions intensity by 2032 with 2022 as base year.
In terms of progress towards achieving the target,
the Group experienced a slight increase in air
emissions during the Reporting Period, which has
deviated the Group from its emissions reduction
target trajectory. However, the Group remains fully
committed to implementing significant measures to
effectively reduce its air emissions, aligning with its
established reduction targets. Measures are taken
by the Group to curb unnecessary emissions,
detailed steps taken are outlined in the subsections
headed "Measures to Mitigate Emissions” .

A1.2 GHG Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s business
activities contributed to GHG emission of 1,102.31°
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tC0O.e"),
(2022: 1,279.75 tCO,e), the overall intensity of the
GHG emissions for the Group increased 15.43%
which was 8.23 tCO.e/RMB million revenue* (2022:
7.13 1CO,e/RMB million revenue). The main reason
for the increase in GHG emission intensity is
contributed to the Group's business expansion as a
new business unit has been included during the
Reporting Period. With effective GHG mitigation
measures, no diesel was consumed in stationary
sources and no gasoline was used in mobile

3 From this Reporting Period, the data value has been
disclosed to two decimal places to allow for meaningful
comparisons over time with respect to ESG information.

4 During the Reporting Period, the total revenue for the
Group was approximately RMB133.88 million (2022:
RMB179.48 million).
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sources during the Reporting Period. Taking into
consideration the business expansion, the Group
has set a target to reduce 10% of GHG emissions
intensity by 2032 with 2022 as base year. On the
progress to achieve this target, the Group’s GHG
emission intensity increased significantly during the
Reporting Period, which has deflected the Group
from its emissions reduction target track. The
Group is committed to undertaking substantive
efforts to further curtail its GHG emissions in
alignment with its reduction targets. Measures are
taken by the Group to curb unnecessary emissions,
detailed steps taken are outlined in the subsections
headed "Measures to Mitigate Emissions” .

The GHG emissions reported include the following
activities and scopes:

° Direct (scope 1) GHG emissions from the
consumption of natural gas in stationary
sources and diesel in mobile sources;

. Indirect energy (scope 2) GHG emissions from
purchased electricity, and

° Other indirect (scope 3) GHG emissions from
municipal freshwater processing, wastepaper
landfilling, and business air travel.
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Detailed breakdown of GHG Emissions by the

REEREREHEAM

Group:
Percentage of
total GHG
emission in Percentage
Year ended Yearended ~ yearended  of variation
31December  31December 31December  (Increased/
Types of Emissions Units 2023 Total 2022 Total 2023  (Decreased))
§E20235
12A31H
LLEER
BE2023%F HEANE BERE
12A31H 12A31H 3 ] IER
HRmES Bl JI2:3:4Hy \FEE 8 (BALL) (8 (®D))
Scope 1— Energy Direct Emissions
BE1—FEER
Combustion of fuels in stationary sources
o Natural gas® Tonnes CO£ 2.82 243 16.05%
o XAF H_EltikEeE
o Diesel Tonnes CO£ 0.00¢ 0.03 (100%)
o B-&ltixEE
Combustion of fuels in mobile sources
o Diesel Tonnes CO£ 626.11 581.11 7.74%
o B-&ltixgs
o (asoline Tonnes CO£ 0.007 20.64 (100%)
o B Mgtk
Sub-total Tonnes COL 628.93 604.21 57.06% 4.09%
i) B-EliHEe
Scope 2 — Energy Indirect Emissions?®
BE2—siEmMEER:
Purchased electricity Tonnes CO 460.84 664.64 (30.66%)
MNEE N M4l
Sub-total Tonnes CO£ 460.84 664.64 41.831% (30.66%)
N Boa{ g e
s Emissions from combustion of fuels in stationary sources s B TE IR B 2E A e BE U AR

were calculated based on 2006 IPCC Guidelines for

National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Volume 2 Energy.

6 No diesel consumption in stationary sources during the
Reporting Period.

7 No gasoline consumption in mobile sources during the
Reporting Period.

8 According to The Ministry of Ecology and Environment of

the PRC, the latest National Emission Factors for Mainland
China is 0.5703 t-CO2/MWh.

E(2006 FIPCCEIFUAE R 5B
BB 2ERR)TIAGTEH -
e EA B R R SO HFE o

BEHANBERETHRE
IREPEARERIEE - h A

HBEMBERIERRERTKER
0.5703 18 — &1L hix °

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH
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disposed at landfills in accordance with Appendix 2:

Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs by HKEX.

10 During the Reporting Period, the calculation methodology

for electricity used for freshwater processing emissions
data has been modified in accordance with the Urban
Water Supply Statistical Yearbook published by China
Urban Water Association. Therefore, it cannot be

compared with data in the previous year.

i Calculation methodology for air travel in accordance with
Carbon Emissions Calculator (ICEC) by ICAO.
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Percentage of
total GHG
emission in Percentage
Year ended Yearended ~ yearended of variation
31 December 31December 31 December  (Increased/
Types of Emissions Units 2023 Total 2022 Total 2023  (Decreased))
BE20235
128318
LLEER
BE2023% BEANE BERE
12A31H 124318 3k ) | ] =R
HRnER Efi JI2:3:3 ) \LEE (ERL) (8 (®D))
Scope 3 — Other Indirect Emissions
HE3 — KRS
Paper waste disposed at landfills’ Tonnes COL 8.21 8.41 (2.33%)
REERRE CBH° M-gliEs
Electricity used for freshwater processing®  Tonnes CO£ 127 219 (42.01%)
BEAKFTAEN D M-gliEs
Business air travel” Tonnes COL 3.06 0.30 920.00%
EBmEER" M-gliEs
Sub-total Tonnes COL 12.54 10.90 1.13% 15.05%
IS5 B-EiEE
Group Total Tonnes COe 1,102.31 1,279.75 100.00% (13.87%)
it W_EtREER
Intensity* Tonnes CO.¢/ 8.23 713 1543%
RMB million
revenue
BE W-ELHER/
BEETAR%
&
? The calculation methodology for emissions of paper waste 9 NEEEEES v ERERE Nt

HAENGENE2 : BAEZSM
RERRAIEEMSEES

RE|EHA - REH BB K
PEK 15 & AR AOCH T ok e Rt
Fif) - EROKEIZHE R EE
BHETETABETIES - Bt
AR E—FABIRETIR -

IRIRICAO TR BE I AT B 88 (ICEC) &t
H e ke E 0%
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A1.3 Hazardous Waste A13 BERBREY

All hazardous waste of the Group is managed in
accordance with the applicable national regulations
and international standards, including the “Laws of
PRC on Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste” (/= A R 1B & i ez 2
¥ 75 # IR 3% B JA %). The Group is committed to
minimizing hazardous waste which poses risks to
our health and the environment. It has
implemented procedures of handling hazardous
waste. For instance, waste batteries are collected
in a special waste battery recycling box and sent to
the qualified department for recycling. Also, the
Group strives to prevent oil and chemical
substances from polluting cultivated land,
grassland, rivers, lakes and seas. If the above
situation occurs, the Group will notify the head of
Health, Safety, Security, and Environmental
Protection Department (“HSSE") for disposal
arrangement.

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated
180.00 kg of hazardous waste which is similar
compared to last year (2022: 171.00kg™). During the
Reporting Period, the overall intensity was 1.34 kg/
RMB million revenue* (2022: 0.95 kg/RMB million
revenue’), contributed by similar number of vehicle
repairing, and Group's revenue declined. Taking
into consideration the business expansion, the
Group has set a target to reduce 10% of hazardous
waste generation intensity by 2032 with 2022 as
base year. On the progress to achieve this target,
the Group's hazardous waste generation intensity
increased significantly during the Reporting Period,
which has deflected the Group from its hazardous
waste reduction target track. The Group is
committed to undertaking substantive efforts to
further reduce waste generation in alignment with
its reduction targets.

12 Restated as per waste tires categories as non-hazardous
waste.

AEBRMAEERRMIER
BRANBEZEARRBEREEE
2 (R EARKNEERE
BRI RIRREE) ° NEE
BOAREBER D HRMOER
RBRETRABRNAEETEE
WeoCERASERMEIER
Frefln BEELKREEE
AMEES LR  ZEA
BREPIETEU - REETT
olmIway:Eilld=-ty=pEpd
Biib - B RR - AR E
Ao IR EMER - AEE
RBHMEE 22 ZF R
R (HSSE]) B8 & & A PA % BF
HEITRRE -

RBEBERN - AEEEERE
% ZE #)180.00 2 T+ £ % 4F
(20224 : 171.00 2T 2)HF o
RREHRN - BEREAER
BT ARBUES1.34 AT (2022
F:BEEBETARBIEZ0.95
A2 HEUSEHEHE
EFRER - RASEEWZ=ESBFT
T - EEBEBIER - A%
B 251 2032 F 3 4 10% B E
BEONEEEEMNBZE M
2022F BEEF - TEHRZHE
ZEHEBRBRT  MEHAR
EEEEEEMELEREXNRE
B BRAEEARETBE
BEEMRDBZNE - NEE
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Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

Types of Hazardous waste Unit 2023 Total 2022 Total

HE 20235 BHZE2022F

12A31H 12A31H

FEERYER Efr IESE A IEEFE4EET

Waste engine ol kg 180.00 171.00%
EEE 8 NaS

Total kg 180.00 171.00%
et N

Intensity kg/RMB million revenue 1.34 0.95

BE oF /BEERT
AR#BRS

A1.4 Non-hazardous Waste

Apart from the 2,241.40° kg (2022: 1,751.00 kg) of
office paper waste produced, the Group generated
a total of 6,000.00° kg (2022: 6,000.00 kg) of non-
office paper waste, and 3,600.00 kg (2022: 3,150.00
kg) of waste tires during the Reporting Period.
During the Reporting Period, the non-hazardous
waste intensity was increased 45.62% which was
88.45 kg/RMB million revenue* (2022: 60.74 kg/RMB
million revenue), contributed to increase business
unit, and Group’s revenue declined. Taking into
consideration the business expansion, the Group
aims to establish a green and electronic office to
reduce paper consumption and has set a target to
reduce 10% of hazardous waste generation
intensity by 2032 with 2022 as base year. On the
progress to achieve this target, the Group’s non-
hazardous waste generation intensity increased
significantly during the Reporting Period, which has
deflected the Group from its non-hazardous waste
reduction target track. The Group is committed to
undertaking substantive efforts to further reduce
waste generation in alignment with its reduction
targets. Details can be found in the section headed
“Wastes Reduction and Initiatives”. All the non-
office paper waste and waste tires were collected
by renewable resources companies for recycling.
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Details of the emission data of the Group: REEHEREIRAMA
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Types of Non-hazardous waste Unit 2023 Total® 2022 Total
HE2023F EHZE2022F
12A 31H 12H31H
EEGEDER Efr =3 - H IEEFE 48
Office paper waste kg 2,241.40 1,751.00
MNERER NI
Non-office paper waste kg 6,000.00 6,000.00
WD EEEL NI
Waste tires® kg 3,600.00 3,150.00
REE WA NI
Total kg 11,841.40 10,901.00"
#Et i
Intensity* kg/RMB million
revenue 88.45 60.741213
BE oF /BEET
AR#BK G
A1.5 Measures to Mitigate Emissions A1.5 FIR B E WIS IE
The Group actively adopts measures to mitigate 7N [ FE AR B BUEE e R > BB 0
vehicles emissions and strives to achieve the P BHBERBREBRR - K
reduction target. The Group selects environmentally SEERBHEA RSB &R
friendly vehicles according to the emission limit RIRHHENAERERTED
standard of automobile exhaust pollutants required BEMR EIE IR IBIR(RE 4 o
by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the AEETFTHREHWMEBER
PRC (/ ##E A R £ A B 4 & 38 3£ £8). The Group PR HEE AR E AR KA
checks the vehicle-related gas emissions regularly, BIRIBRES M E LD 08 -

and the emissions meet the qualification inspection
of Environmental Protection Agency of the PRC (&
= AR HEMBIRFIREL).

3 Waste tires categories as non-hazardous waste. E BERBIBREEEED -

SREREREEERAR — T —FFH g
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Apart from monitoring the vehicle emission
standard, the Group also implements strict
requirements for drivers. The Group requires all
drivers to comply with Article 13 of the
“Performance Management System” of the Group.
Firstly, it prohibits the drivers from excessive
acceleration when the vehicle is started and
requires drivers to turn the engine off when loading
and unloading commodities. Secondly, drivers are
required to visit the designated gas stations that
meet the national standards, such as PetroChina
(BP) gas station for refueling, to ensure high quality
petrol products were used for vehicles. For the
vehicles that have reached the service life of the
“Automobile Scrap Standard” (75 = 5 % 12 2 45 7F )
stipulated by the Ministry of Public Security (FR & A
R £ MBI A % E6) and the Ministry of Ecology and
Environment of the PRC (2 A R H T A REIR IR
#B), the Group immediately scraps the vehicles.
Vehicles that fail to meet the requirements of the
Group will also be scrapped to ensure that the
operating vehicles are safe to use.

A1.6 Wastes Reduction and Initiatives

The Group strictly observes the national laws and
follows the requirements of “The Laws of PRC on
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution
by Solid Waste” ({2 A R HANE E BEEE Y5 R IRE
F77765%) and Directory of National Hazardous Wastes
(BEIREKEEYAER) in handling both hazardous and
non-hazardous waste. Internally, the Group has
established various waste management and
reduction measures.

For details about the handling measures of
hazardous waste, please refer to “A1.3 Hazardous
waste” section.
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The Group sets up double-sided printing as the
default mode in all printers and encourages
employees to reuse single-sided paper when no
confidential information is presented. To further
decrease the use of paper, communicating online
is encouraged instead of communicating through
documentation. The Group strives to achieve the
goal by managing the usage of office papers, by
encouraging the staff to use the Group’s online
system for general business notices and data
transmissions, minimizing paper consumption for
printing and photocopying and using double sided
printing if possible. Several measures are adopted
by the Group to reduce avoidable emissions. The
Group promotes reasonable driving and long
distance traveling are subject to strict review to
reduce unnecessary travel, with an aim to mitigate
the amount of GHG and exhaust gas produced by
vehicles. All vehicles are under regular
maintenance check to facilitate fuel consumption
efficiency, which ensures road safety and keeps air
emissions at their minimum. As such, the level of
total emissions can remain relatively low, and the
level does not pose considerable environmental
and social impacts. In addition, when handling
wastepaper, they are centrally collected and
disposed by the administrative department and the
office.
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A2. Use of Resources

The Group is committed to becoming a resource-saving
and environmental-friendly enterprise to promote
environmental protection. We have been working actively
to reduce our usage of resources, as well as our
emissions. The Group pursues the practices of efficient
use of resources, including energy, water and other
natural resources and further reduces the negative

impacts on the natural environment.

A2.1 Energy Consumption

A2. BIRER
REBHE AR AHHERREBRNE
¥ EEIER - R —ERER S
BRERA RN - AEBETERE
HER(BIERER KEREMKAE
B MG - I — B Y RIB
BHEEYE -

A2.1 BERIHAE

The total energy consumption of the Group was
3,362.58° Megawatt-hour (“"MWh") (2022: 3,614.00
MWh), with an overall energy intensity of 25.12
MWh/RMB million revenue* (2022: 20.13 MWh/RMB
million revenue) during the Reporting Period. Types
of energy consumed included electricity, natural
gas, gasoline and diesel.

Diesel consumption of 2,540.61° MWh accounted
for 75.56% of the total energy consumption during
the Reporting Period, contributing to an intensity of
18.98 MWh/RMB million revenue’. The total energy
consumption intensity increased by 24.79% during
the Reporting Period compared to last reporting
period. The main reason for the increase in energy
consumption is attributed to the Group’s business
expansion as a new business unit has been
included during the Reporting Period. Taking into
consideration the business expansion, the Group
aims to has set a target to reduce 10% of energy
consumption intensity by 2032 with 2022 as base
year. On the progress to achieve this target, the
Group’s energy consumption intensity increased
significantly during the Reporting Period, which has
deflected the Group from its energy consumption
reduction target track. The Group is committed to
undertaking substantive efforts to further reduce
energy consumption in alignment with its reduction
targets. Details can be found in the section headed
"Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives”. The table below
presents the energy consumption by energy types
and the associated energy intensity.
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J1 - RAR - B RS o

HEBHAN XREREE R
2,540.613IK ELBS - 1l BE TR 4808
HEMN7556% EEEEARE
BEITARBIRZE1898IKE
it o SREHINREREBEREER
EE®E— KRS HE M
24.79% ° BEIRHFEIG A EE
FAREAASEERFERRNE
T4 SR i #7458 — (@ 2 B 2B PP
SI% - ZREEEKER  AE
B & B 122 2032 4 5 2 10% AE
RHREENBIR - bA20224
BEEF - TERZEENHE
BERT  SHEHANRNEEHN
BERERERE RIR L - 85
NEEREE T B REREE B 2,
B o AEBMB NN BRIEE RS
BRI E B E e — R
LEEREFE - FBE2M
RERRESTE ] —fie T&
P R REREE A R A gL IR
EEID ZBETRBRE -



Details of the energy consumption of the Group™:
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REEERERBFERAR ™ -

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Unit 2023 Total® 2022 Total
#HE2023%F HZE 20226
12A31H 12H31H
Efr =3 - H LEFEBE
Direct Energy Consumption
HEERERE
Natural gas MWh 13.90 15.00
RAR, JK L
o For dormitories
e  HAREE
Natural gas intensity* MWh/RMB million revenue 0.10 0.08
RAREE KER,BEARKE KR
Gasoline MWh 0.00’ 75.00
ok R
o For light goods vehicles
e  FARKAE
Gasoline intensity* MWh/RMB million revenue 0.007 0.42
UREE JKER,BEARBKE
Diesel
25
o For medium and heavy MwWh 2,540.61 2,358.93
vehicles
o HAIMEAEG I
o For standby stationary MWh 0.00¢ 0.07
sources
o  FAREREER JKFL B
Diesel intensity* MWh/RMB million revenue 18.98 13.14
Lo g KRR BEARE R
Indirect Energy Consumption
E#E B IR B FE
Electricity MWh 808.07 1,165.00
B JK LB
Electricity Intensity* MWh/RMB million revenue 6.04 6.50
BEHEE! KER, B8 ARE YR
Total energy consumption MWh 3,362.58 3,614.00
HaeiR JE LB
Total energy consumption MWh/RMB million 25.12 20.13

intensity® revenue
HEEFEREE kER BEARBKS
14 Conversion factors were made reference to IEA Energy " BN ZY 2 REREERE LR

Statistics Manual.

et -
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A2.2 Water Consumption A2.2 XERHFE

The total water consumption for the Group was
7,420.88 m® (2022: 5,115.00 m?), with a water
intensity of 55.43 m3/RMB million revenue* (2022:
28.50 m3/RMB million revenue) during the Reporting
Period. Compared with the last reporting period,
the water consumption intensity increased by
94.49%. The main reason for the increase in water
consumption intensity is contributed to the Group’s
business expansion as a new business unit has
been included during the Reporting Period. Taking
into consideration the business expansion, the
Group has set a target to reduce 10% of water
consumption intensity by 2032 with 2022 as base
year. On the progress to achieve this target, the
Group’s water consumption intensity increased
significantly during the Reporting Period, which has
deflected the Group from its water consumption
reduction target track. The Group is committed to
undertaking substantive efforts to further reduce
water consumption in alignment with its reduction
targets. Details can be found in the section headed
“Water Use Efficiency Initiatives”.

Details of the water consumption of the Group.

®EHAN ARENBAKE
£7,420.8837 77 K3 (20224 -
5,115.0037 75 K) - HKEE B
BABTARBUWES54357
FoARQ022F : EEETAR
B 25 28,503 /oK) o B | —
E3R &5 HAFALL - AR E 48 0
94.49% ° FKEFER MK EE
FREAASEERFERRNE
T4 SR i BT 48 — (@ 2B 2P P
SI% - ZREEKER  AE
E 5 B 122 2032 FE 37 4 10%
IKERFE o LA2022F AEES -
EERZEEHERBRLT
HERAREEBNAKEEKXR
TEIG N  BRAERIRE T &
KB IZEE - REBBRIE
Wﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬂfgﬁﬁm
E—DROAKE - FBEBZ
B9 [ K zmatEl] —&f -

REBKEREFENFE ©

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

Water Consumption Unit 2023 Total 2022 Total

HE2023F B Z=20224F

12A31H 12H31H

KEIFRHFE Efr IESERE A IEFE4RET

Total m? 7,420.88 5,115.00

et by F S

Intensity* m3/RMB million revenue 55.43 28.50

BE AB¥k SEET
AR#®WS

The water consumption of the Group is mainly
sourced from municipal tap water. No issues on BRK e RS HIR - WETR
sourcing water that is fit for purpose were reported LEBEEEASAENKER
during the Reporting Period. =i

AEBMAKELTZRAMHK
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A2.3 Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives A2.3 BERFE AT E

To achieve the reduction target, the Group has
implemented various measures of energy
conservation and emissions reduction. For
instance, the Group installed LED energy-saving
lamps in all lighting areas, turns off lights when staff
leave the offices and warehouses, adjusts and
controls the temperature of air conditioners, and
the air-conditioned temperature remains at 25°C,
carries out electrician inspection, monitor and
guide each department’s energy consumption by
equipment maintenance department. Also, the
Group conducts a monthly statistical count on
electricity consumption and prepares relevant
records. If the consumption is over the range
specified by the standard, the Group will analyze
the potential reasons and take remedial actions in
a timely manner.

By adopting the above measures and posting
power-saving slogans, the Group's employees’
aware of energy conservation and environmental
protection has been raised.

A2.4 Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group strives to reduce water consumption
and complies to policies of effective use of water,
including the National Water Saving Action Plan (&l
R &1 7K 17 B) /5 %) and other relevant regulations.
The Group mainly consumes water to meet a high
demand for warehouse temperature control in daily
business operation. In order to control the amount
of water consumption and achieve the reduction
target, the Group has installed more frequency
converters, applied logics control in managing the
use of resources, and added plate changers and
heat recovery pumps in the main engine room.

The Group's business activities did not generate a
significant amount of sewage.
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A2.5 Packaging Material

Packaging films (mainly used for cargo fixation) and
stretch films (mainly used to stabilize, cover and
protect the products during transition) were the
Group’s major packaging material consumptions.
As packaging plastic films are difficult to be reused,
and there are no readily available recycling
methods in the industry, the Group has
commissioned an independent waste processing
company to collect and dispose the materials on a
regular basis.

The Group consumed more packaging materials
compared to the last reporting period. During the
Reporting Period, the Group consumed
approximately 67.22 kg/RMB million revenue of
packaging materials intensity™ (2022: 36.77 kg/RMB
million revenue) for cargo fixation and protection.
Taking into consideration the business expansion
and the adoption of more comprehensive
disclosure starting from this Reporting Period, the
Group has set a new target to reduce packaging
material consumption intensity by 10% by 2032,
with 2023 as the base year. The Group is
committed to undertaking substantive efforts to
further reduce packaging material consumption in
alignment with its reduction targets.

The Group is very aware and concerned about the
potential adverse environmental impacts brought
by the packaging materials consumed. Therefore,
the Group spares an effort to reuse and recycle the
packaging materials by themselves as much as
possible in order to minimize the potential
environmental impacts brought by the disposal of
packaging materials.

1 During the Reporting Period, the completed packaging
materials consumption data of Huangpu Distribution
Centre was collected. Starting from this Reporting Period,
the packaging material consumption will include Huangpu
Distribution Centre for more comprehensive disclosure.
Therefore, the data from this Reporting Period cannot be
directly compared to that of the previous reporting period.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2023

Environmental, Social and Governance Report contea
BRI - g MEIRTRE

A2.5 BEYH

BERE(ZZANREWEE)M
R (X 2 AR AR AR
RE BENREER)ER
SENTIZERYMEERE - &
RERZBIRHEAFNA A
TR IR U 7% -
AEBEZREBINERY R
BRRESRENEEAR @M
o

8 — @RS HEL  AEE
HFER B R YR FTIE M - 5]
HHRN - AEEEEEYERE
REDEMHEENTEET
AR 25 67.22 A Fr 5 (2022
F:HAETARERE36.77
D) o ZREARREEAFRBD
EBERIEMNEZENRE
% AEEC ] 2032 F
10% BEYEERERE A
1§ LA2023F RELESF - KE
EBORBEEER B Z - #
WMEEGEEE SR BE
YIELEFE

AREEIER TR
BRI R T
pE- Rt AEERES
A
R AEREWREE
BROEERRE -

i WESMA - BREFBRETL

TENBRMEDEFEEUE - AR
HEHFS - BRMEDERES
BREERCXTLVETEREA
WE o - ARS HNBURE
AE - EREANBIRERE
T ©



The Group will continuously monitor the use of
packaging materials and aims to reduce any
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unnecessary packaging. o
Details of the consumption of packaging materials REENBEMEAEFE
of the Group:
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Types of packaging materials Unit 2023 Total® 2022 Total
#HE2023%F B E 20224
12A31H 12H431H
SERMHEER Ef IESFEHEES IEFE ARG
Stretch film (for cargo fixation Kg
protecting material in transit) 9,000.00"® 6,600.00
AR (AR EYEE AR # NI
BRI
Total packaging materials Kg 9,000.00"® 6,600.00
BERME R NI
Total packaging materials kg/
intensity* RMB million revenue 67.22" 36.77
BRMEEEE N
BHETARBKES
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources
A3.1 Significant Impacts of Activities on the

Environment

The Group realizes the responsibility of minimizing
the adverse impacts on the environment and
natural resources through its business operations,
S0 the Group adopts four basic principles in order
to protect the environment and natural resources,
including “Reduction, Reuse, Recycling and
Replacement”. In addition, the Group adopts a
green sourcing strategy and the most practical
technology to protect natural resources. During this
Reporting Period, the Group did not have any non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the “Limits of Noise
Emitted by Stationary Road Vehicles (GB16170-
1996)" and “The Law of the PRC on Prevention and
Control of Pollution from Environmental Noise” (#
A RAFBUIRIBRE S RMEE).

The major environmental impacts of the Group’s
operations include the air emissions and noise
generated by its logistics operations. The noise
pollution generated from the operations came from
vehicles. In order to minimise the level of noise
generated from logistic operation, the Group has
installed damping plates with sound absorbing
pads to minimize noise at offices and warehouses
and has used low-noise tires for its vehicle fleet.
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A4. Climate Change

Climate change not only affects our environment but also
may affect the normal routine of the Group working
conditions. The Group has implemented relevant policies,
including but not limited to the HSSE, to outline the
Group’s commitment to protecting the environment and
reducing the environmental impact of its business.

Identifying and managing the associated opportunities
and risks is vital to the Group’s business operation.
Climate change may affect normal working conditions,
and arrangements will be taken to ensure the health and
safety of employees according to the real-time situation
released by the national, provincial and municipal
governments. In accordance with national and local laws
and regulations, the Group has purchased medical
insurance for every employee. In addition, the Group also
has purchased insurance for warehouses and purchases
auto insurance for vehicles.

With the trend of the changing demand and requirements
of customers, the Group works hard to meet the needs
of customers and strives for a larger market share.

The Group reviews and identifies the climate-related risk
annually while conducting the risk assessment. We have
considered the potential climate-related risks in respect
of the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-
related Financial Disclosure ("TCFD"), which are the
physical risks such as extreme weather conditions and
transition risks such as regulatory change on
environmental matters, and summarized as below:

Ad.
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short
(current
Potential Reporting Medium Long
Risk Type Risks Financial Impact Period) (1-3years) (4-10 years) Mitigation Strategy
gt Y R
RBRER -1: BEMBERE (FHERIH) (1-3%) (4-10%F) RBER
Physical Risks e  Extreme weather *  Reduced revenue from v/ v Located our offices and
conditions such as business and supply warehouses in cities where
flooding and typhoon chain disruptions the occurrences extreme
e Sustained elevated o Increased cost related weather conditions are
temperature to the rising need for relatively rare
cooling Established adverse weather
condition policy
Adopted energy conservation
measures
Purchased relevant insurance
for warehouses, vehicles and
employees
ERARE o BIRAFMMR - KK £ R EEREE BHFAE KRB ERAERK
SEHEN AR R ZE R 5T
o HERR o REFEREAEHHMA HIEBARRBR
Zm RENE AL IR IE
REE - EHRESEER
ARR
Transition e Changesin *  Higher operating costs v v/ Our Group has limited
Risks environmental-related to adopt more stringent company vehicle use to
regulations regulations necessary meetings and
reduced energy consumption
by implementing energy
conservation measures
Closely monitor the
regulatory updates to meet
the regulatory requirements
Bk R o BREEZENEEY o BEMERBMNERM ZK’*@EI‘E%‘J%#M\XEH
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SOCIAL
Employment and labor practices

For the Group, constructing a meaningful relationship with its
employees, who are the internal stakeholders, is deemed
equally important as attracting new customers for business,
and so is encouraging the employees to shape their
competitive edge. The Group understands that employees with
sophisticated technology knowledge are important assets.

As a responsible corporate citizen who genuinely cares for its
employees, the Group strictly abides by all applicable national
and local laws and regulations related to employment and
labor practices, including but not limited to:

Labor Law of the PRC (FF 2 A R A & 8h)%)

o Labor Contract Law of the PRC (FREEARZEMBEI AT AR
%)

o Regulations on Paid Annual Leave of Employees (Bt T %
FERERIEN])

° Law on the Protection of Women's Rights and Interests (1
£ AR HENB G L REE)

° The Special Provisions on Labor Protection for Female
Employees (28 T & 8h{RERRIIRE)

o Law on the Protection of Minors (/1 % A B F F1E 5k 5k
MNREX)

° Law on the Protection of Disabled Persons (Fr#E A R HH0
Bl5E R AMRREE)

° Social Insurance Law of the PRC (f 2 A R A FIBIAE &R
fe)%)

o Law on Labor Unions of the PRC (R A B HAME T &%)

No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that had
a significant impact on the Group relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare had been identified during the
Reporting Period.
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B1. Employment

The Employee Handbook of the Group clearly outlines
detail of recruitment, promotion, discipline, working
hours, vacations and other benefits, and the Group has
laid down compliance procedures and a series of work
safety rules. The Human Resources Department is
responsible for ensuring the staff has full understanding
of the content of the Employee Handbook before they
commence employment with the Group.

The Group aims at recruiting the most talented and
qualified candidates from the job market, in order to
bring immense value to the business and to install trust
in its clients. The process of recruitment is standardized
based on the nature of department. As such, it ensures
that competitive candidates will not be missed out and
that respective departments can screen for the most
suitable candidates. Also, background checks are
performed to ensure good attributes of candidates and
subjective judgement of interviewers will not affect the
selection process.

Employee Profile and Turnover

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had a total number
of 680 employees. All the employees of the Group are
full-time workers. The breakdown of employees
according to employment type, employee category, age
group, gender and region is as follows.
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As of

31 December
2023 Total

% 20235

12 A 31 H#8&t

Total Number of Employees B 680
Employment type VA B

Full-time 20 680

Part-time I 0
Employee category VA=V

Senior management BRERE 43

Middle management PREEE 88

Frontline and other staff AR R HAM B T 549
Age group Fiewp

25 below 258K AT 40

25-29 25-29 78

30-39 30-39 208

40-49 40-49 181

50 or above 50 A E 173
Gender -3/

Male St 532

Female g 148
Region ME

The PRC 2] 677

Hong Kong BB 2

Japan A 1

The Group hires based on experience, expertise and
values, regardless of race, color, creed, national origin,
ancestry, sex, marital status, disability, religious or
political affiliation, age, or sexual orientation. We
formulate equal opportunities and diversity policies for all
employees, and are committed to building a diversified
and inclusive working environment. As of 31 December
2023, female employees accounted for approximately
22% of the total workforce within the Group. Being in the
logistic sector, which is traditionally considered male
dominated, the Group values gender equality and will
continue to strive for a more diversified workforce in the
future.

AEEREBLR FXNBLREBEERE
I mA-wmER B6e- &0 B -0
o MR BIEAR - B - REEBUS
IR - FER S MEERE - KA EEER
TFrSHERZTIERE IR HBES
TALABEHNITIERE - 12023412 A 31
H: ZMEEMAEEE THELN2%-
MREERLHRABABEAET  AEE
BERERTE  RRBGEEH N EBES
TUALHY B T4 -

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH

95



Environmental, Social and Governance Report contined
RIE - g NERWmE®

During this Reporting Period, a total of 215 employees ABEHAN - ArF215% R BB ALER -
left the Group, with an annual staff turnover rate of 32%. FEEIRAEREIY% -
Year ended
31 December
2023 Total
#E2023F
12A 31H
IESFRE R
Total Turnover s 32%
Turnover rate by age group HERHFIE D w5 E
25 below 254 55%
25-29 25-29 69%
30-39 30-39 33%
40-49 40-49 18%
50 or above 503k A 22%
Turnover rate by gender BMEFB R KL E
Male Bt 34%
Female 7 22%
Turnover rate by region HIEE R i EK L E
The PRC 2] 32%
Hong Kong &5 0%
Japan =N 0%
1 The turnover rate was calculated by (no. of employees leaving the 1 MARETRBERARARRANES
company during the Reporting Period/no. of employees as of 31 HERNBE2023F12A3NBNEE
December 2023)*100%. BIR AR 100% T BASH -
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Employee Profile and Turnover

The Group attaches great importance to the recruitment
and retention of high-caliber employees as well as
attracting high quality recruits that are valuable to the
Group. The Group’s recruitment procedure is guided by
relevant laws and regulations including “The Labor Law
of the PRC" (FF 2 A R X FIE 4 8))%). The Group follows
the principle of “fair competition and merit-based
employment” in the recruitment process. In order to
meet the company’s development needs, the Group
actively implemented a strategy of strengthening the
enterprise with talents which adopted a market-based
recruitment model to recruit outstanding talents. In the
recruitment process, the Group explored talents through
college campuses, social and online recruitment
channels. The Group improved these measures to attract
and retain talent continuously and provide opportunities
to employees with a broad development space. In order
to improve the personal quality and ability of employees,
the Group fully mobilizes the initiative and enthusiasm of
all employees to create a fair and open competition
mechanism within the company. In addition, the Group
recognizes the value of employee experience by
arranging assessments, which provides equal
opportunities to employees for fair competition. The
Group believes that these strategies can reduce the loss
of outstanding talents in the long-term.

Legitimate Rights and Employee Interests’
Protection

The Group complies with national and local laws and
regulations to protect the legitimate rights and interests
of employees. The Group formulated management
measures to strengthen contracts and remuneration for
employees, monitored the Group's labor policies and
evaluated the welfare and norms in order to protect the
interests of employees.
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Labor Contract Management

The labor contracts of the Group comply with “The Labor
Law of the PRC" (3 AR AFE L E)%) and “The Labor
Contract Law of the PRC" (R E AR X ME L EE FE).
The labor contract management of the Group includes
signing and termination of labor contracts, and regulates
positions, working hours, remuneration and benefits of
the employees clearly in the purpose of ensuring the
labor standards. Any overtime arrangement must be
made under the principle of negotiation between the
company and the employees and the employees’
voluntary principle. The relevant remuneration must be
paid in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group
complied with the employment-related laws and
regulations.

Female Employee Protection

The Group cares about the physical and mental health of
female employees, provides maternity leave, and
breastfeeding leave and reasonably arranges job duties
for female employees, it complies with “The Special
Regulations on Labor Protection for Female Employees”
(B T 4 3 R#EE 5 R E) formulated by the State
Council (B 7 Bz) to protect their work rights and take
care of their needs.
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Employee Compensation and Benefits

The Group is committed to providing fair and competitive
remuneration and benefits to its employees, and the
wages of our employees exceed the local minimum wage
standards for the Reporting Period. The Group reviews
the remuneration strategy on a regular basis and adjusts
the remuneration policy according to changes in the
external remuneration market and the internal situation.
In accordance with national and local laws and
regulations, the Group pays basic pension, basic medical
care, unemployment, work-related injury, maternity and
other social insurances and housing provident funds for
employees. In addition, the Group has purchased
accidental injury insurance for employees, further
enhancing the medical protection for employees. The
Group has identified work-related injury timely and
handled accidental injury insurance claims for injured
employees reasonably. The Group also provides benefits
such as annual leave and an annual body check-up for
employees. The Group has facilities such as dormitories
and canteens, which can provide complete
accommodation and high-quality meals for employees.
The Group also cares about disabled and severely ill
employees and their families, so the Group provides
necessary assistance to support them when they are
facing difficulties. In order to support employees to have
a healthy life after work, the Group organizes various
cultural and recreational activities regularly to encourage
employees to participate, establish a good corporate
culture and promote harmony and unity among
employees.

Staff Activities

In order to strengthen the staff's sense of belonging, the
Group arranges birthday parties every month. It also
organizes staff dinners and activities such as
competitions. These activities strengthen communication
and interaction among staff to develop a harmonious
culture within the Group.
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B2. Employee Health and Safety

The Group cares about the health, safety and security of
all the staff, and strives to provide services to protect the
physical and mental health, safety and security of
employees, and in the business operations. The Group
strictly follows relevant laws and regulations including
“The Labor Law of the PRC (F#E A REFMBEILEE)%)", “The
Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Treatment of
Occupational Diseases” (2 A R MBI ZE G AE)
and “The Fire Protection Law of the PRC” (Fh#E A R ANE
EFEE). In order to providing a safe working environment
and protect employees from occupational hazards, the
Group distributes safety helmets, reflective clothing and
work shoes to employees who need protection, and the
Group follows the requirements strictly in accordance
with ISO 9001:2015 and Standard Operating Procedures.
No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that had a significant impact on the Group relating to
occupational health and safety had been identified during
the Reporting Period.

The Group attaches great importance to providing
occupational health and safety for its employees and has
established internal safety procedures that all employees
are required to follow strictly. According to the Group’s
internal safety guide, the safety requirements and
procedures are stated clearly, including prohibition of
alcohol and drugs, security policies, safety procedure of
working in warehouses, and safe use of forklifts.

Fire Safety Management

Fire safety and contingency management are also of vital
concern to the Group. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has arranged fire drills twice. In order to ensure
staff are familiar with the fire-fighting facilities and
emergency measures, the Group has dedicated a fire
officer in both companies and warehouses to manage
fire protection measures and a fire safety officer in the
non-warehouse department. Besides, the Group strives
to strengthen fire protection education so every
employee of the company must receive fire safety
training. For the purpose of ensuring the effectiveness of
fire facilities, the Group undergoes a comprehensive
inspection of the fire equipment twice a year. During
high-risk periods of fire, the Group increases the
frequencies of fire supervisions and inspections.
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Health and Safety
Details of number of work-related fatality and fatality rate

REEZE
AEBRTEREMETERRILT

of the Group: RZBEHE:
Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 Total 2022 Total 2021 Total
HE20235 B ZE2022F EZ=20214F
12A31H 12A31H 12H31H
IESFRE R IEFE AT IEEFE4RET
Number of Work-related B T {#cB{& M
Fatalities RECHEHRH 0 0 1
Total Number of ET#HH
Employees 680 678 764
Fatality Rate T 0% 0% 0.13%

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded 2 cases
of work-related injuries and 96 lost days due to work
injury. The Group had pledged to provide sufficient days
of sick leave for our employees to compensate for their
injuries, and to allow sufficient time for recovery. In order
to ensure a safe working condition for all staff and avoid
work-related fatality in the future, the Group always
evaluates and improves the current work safety
measures and arranges for employees to have regular
physical examinations every year to ensure employees
work in healthy condition.

B3. Development and Training

The Group is concerned about common growth and
development opportunities of employees, so
corresponding skills improvement and development
training are provided for different types of work and job
positions, the training includes new employee training,
skill improvement training, important person training and
other related training stated in “Employee Instruction”.

During the Reporting Period, the Group provided over
6,280.00 training hours to a total of 619 employees
(inclusive of employees who have left the Group during
the Reporting Period). The average training hours per
employee was 9.24 hours. The number of employees
who received training and average training hours
completed are as follows.
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Total number of trained employees’

Average training hours for all employees’™

Distribution by Employee Category™

Senior Management
Middle Management
Frontline and Other staff

Distribution by Gender™

Male
Female

Training Hours by Employee Category®

Senior Management
Middle Management
Frontline and Other staff

Training Hours by Gender

SREERE
PREREE
AR EME T

RIERNEID 2 DM

Bt
g

RREEREI D 2 X

mARERRE
hRERE
AR R H A B T

RIERIEI D 2 ZAIR B

Male B
Female pegid
v Total percentage of employees trained = Total number of

employees trained during the financial year/Total number of

employees as of 31 December 2023*100%.

8 Average training hours completed per employee = Total number
of training hours completed during the financial year/Total number

of employees as of 31 December 2023.

° Percentage of employees trained = Number of employees trained

by category during the financial year/Number of employees
trained as of 31 December 2023*100%.

Average training hours = Number of training hours completed by
category during the financial year/Number of employees by
category as of 31 December 2023.
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77%
23%
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8.52
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B4. Labor Standards

Child and forced labor are strictly prohibited within the
Group. The Group strictly observes applicable laws and
regulations regarding employment and labor standards,
such as “The Labor Law of the PRC" (fp#E A R LA E 44
%), “The Provisions on Prohibiting the Use of Child Labor
(ZIHEAEZETHE), the Labor Contract Law of the PRC”
(R ZEARKXAME Y A R E) and "The Law on the
Protection of Minors” (A2 A R A B R & AMRTER).

The Group provide guidelines on human resources
management, including hiring, working hours, rest
intervals, attendance, performance assessment,
promotion, dismissal, employment discipline, and
additional compensation and benefits as stated in “Staff
Instructions” and “Labor Contract”. The prevention of
child and forced labor measures have been
implemented, which clear recruitment guideline has
been set up, monitored, and reviewed to ensure the
employment procedure follows the “Staff Instructions”
and “Labor Contract”. “Staff Instructions” is to maintain
and promote the security of human rights in the
workplace, and we are committed to achieving this
objective. The use of child labor, forced labor, or
coercion, including physical punishment, is not permitted
in any of our activities.

B4.
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The Group only recruits employees who are over the
legal working age, and new employee are required to
provide true and accurate personal data. Furthermore,
background checks will be conducted during the
recruitment process in order to ensure the identity of the
employees before they are employed. The physical
examination certificates, academic credentials, identity
cards, and household register of the candidates are
reviewed strictly. The Group has provided a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards, and child and forced labor. The
Group guarantees that no employee is made to work
against employee’s will, work under forced labor, or be
subject to coercion related to work. No child and forced
labor are hired in the Group. If management discovers
there is any employment of forced or child labor, we will
take disciplinary actions for staff accepting forced/child
labor or providing false information, including immediate
termination of the employment concerned.

No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to preventing child and forced labor was
identified during the Reporting Period. There were no
major risks associated with incidents of child and forced
labor within the Group’s operation sites.
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OPERATING PRACTICES

B5. Supply Chain Management
The suppliers of the Group including transportation,
warehouse leasing, forklift rental, office leasing services

and others. Below shows the number of suppliers of the
Group in this Reporting Period.

Number of
Geographical region of suppliers suppliers
HEmbE #HEmSAE

=ERMR
BS. fHiEsEE IR

AEEMHEREEER  AEM
g XEHE RAEHERBLE
fit o TXBRARERAEBEHER
A -

Type of suppliers
e A B

The PRC
FEIA

Total number of suppliers
HEEER

10

20

Transportation

e

Warehouse Leasing
BEEMRE

Forklift Rental
XEBEHE

Office Leasing
MAEHE

Others

Hits
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Supply chain management

The Commerce Department of the Group is responsible
for participating in the suppliers’ evaluation, selection,
price verification, and procurement work, and
established “Supply Chain Management Policy”. The
Group implements strict selection of suppliers and
procurement procedure in order to ensure the quality of
suppliers and their compliance with environmental and
social-related laws and regulations that listed in the
“Supplier Evaluation Form”. Before making any
procurement decisions, the Group will conduct due
diligence and assessments on suppliers to avoid
environmental and social risks along the supply chain.
Our supply chain management and procedures include
assessment, selection, approval, procurement and
performance evaluation. The group will prioritize the
selection of suppliers that promote environmentally
preferable practices, such as double-sided printing and
e-communication. The department assesses new
emerging suppliers and re-evaluates the suppliers who
have major quality problems, and the department
recognizes the qualification of suppliers according to the
following conditions. The performance evaluation is
based on capacity, service, environmental protection,
and social responsibilities, which are listed on the
“Quarterly Supplier Evaluation Form”: (1) The suppliers
who have passed I1SO9001 guality management system
certification; (2) Before the company implements the
ISO9001 quality management system, the suppliers who
have contacted and have no major defects in products
and services; (3) Suppliers designated by the customer
(for that customer service only); (4) When the suppliers
monopolize the market; or (5) Products and services
provided by the top 500 of the world or the top 500 of the
PRC. When a supplier is included in our qualified supply
chain list, the qualified supplier will sign a ‘Procurement
Contract’ and “Contract Performance Evaluation
Procedure” with Commerce Department of the Group to
ensure the quality of the product or service delivered.
Based on the product or service delivered by the
supplier, we evaluate its quality using different evaluation
forms, including the “Purchase Acceptance Form”,
“Vehicle Purchase and Acceptance Standard Form”, and
the “Warehouse Evaluation Form”.
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B6.

During the assessment procedure of suppliers, the
suppliers are required to provide valid certifications and
qualifications, such as a valid business license and
organization code certificate. For the rental and purchase
of vehicles, forklifts and warehouses, the evaluation form
of the vehicle and the warehouse evaluation form should
be provided as needed.

Besides, the major suppliers of the Group are audited by
Ccommerce Department of the Group and approved by
the Board annually. The qualified suppliers list is updated
annually. If the suppliers fail to pass the annual review,
they will be disqualified for the next reporting period.

Product Responsibility

In order to ensure the safety and quality of services, the
protection of IP right and data protection, the Group complies
with the laws and regulations including “The Trademark Law
of the PRC" (2 AR HEFNEI 1R %) and "The Work Safety
Law of the PRC" (& A R MBI % 2 A E)%). There was no
non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of redress in
this Reporting Period.
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The Group emphasizes the quality control of its products,
and its services to align with 1ISO 9001: 2015 Quality
Standard (including (i) transportation; (i) warehousing; (iii)
in-plant logistics; and (iv) customization services (which
consist mainly of labelling services and bundling
services)). The Group is responsible for managing and
conducting quality supervision practices. The quality
departments of the Group is responsible for the
maintenance, monitoring and assessment of the quality
supervision and control system. The quality management
group also oversees the implementation of external
monitoring methods and quality management systems.
The quality control system is divided into quality control
planning and quality inspection. Quality control planning
covers many aspects of content, such as directions,
objectives, strategies, achievement paths, guarantee
plans, and cost budgets with respect to annual quality
control, with a view to ensuring that quality objectives
can be effectively achieved. Quality inspection involves
the annual integrated quality inspection plan, specialised
quality inspection plans, and specialised inspection plans,
aiming to reach the standards set by the quality control
programmes through inspection. When the Group and
the client undertake any written, oral or other
documents, materials, drawings, specifications, orders,
manuals, agreements etc., these documents are kept
confidential and must not be disclosed, provided or made
available in any form to any third party without the
consent of the clients. The Group cannot disclose the
agreement between the client in any of its promotional
materials, advertisements or for any purpose without the
prior written consent of the clients. Upon the expiration
of the agreement or the termination of any extension, the
Group returns all the documents and materials obtained
under the agreement or provided by the clients.
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Service-related complaint

The Group received 3 complaints in the Reporting Period,
all complaints have been solved subject to above
mentioned process in a timely manner. In order to
maintain the highest service quality, the Group has
implemented some measures to deal with complaints.
For instance, warnings were given to staff who violated
the operation practices, monitoring the operations,
evaluating the operation procedure and set up measures
to improve the quality of services, providing more training
to employees and disclosing the work requirement to
employees clearly.

In general, the Group has formal procedures to handle
the complaints. The complaints are mainly divided into
oral and written (including e-mail) complaints. If a written
response is required, the related cases are sent to the
department manager, then the department manager
informs his superior, director and the general manager of
the company. Finally, the department manager should
pass the case to the Quality Supervision Department of
the company. The department being complained should
investigate and analyze the complaint to find out the
cause and solution immediately, and the complaints
should be handled in accordance with the “Continuous
Improvement Procedure”. The external written reply
report will be approved by the general manager of the
company before sending to the customers, all the
solutions and the evaluation results of complaints are
mentioned in the report, and the Quality Supervision
Department is responsible to keep a full set of records
for handling customer complaints.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report woninves
BB G REAHRES

BRA% MR B R R

WERA - NEBEEIEKRS - A
BRFE LR Ll RE R SR
R RERERNRBESR  A%HE
EEREUE TR IR - flan - &
EREEFTHNETETES B
BB R EERF L ERS R
BENER  RETRHEEZEI
WA B THRRERE TIFEX -

—RME - AREARERFHEN
BF -BRFLXTEHRABMNER(E
BREFHBE)RF - MF2EES
B HABASTEAEAPIEE - A
MPIREBRA ERTENLRAL
B o RIEHAPIREHREERIAA
HEEEM - wIRFEF IR AN Y
BRETRED T - ZRARE MR
WE - WIRRKHBESUERFIRIE -
HMREE B E RS A ELIBIE
BEXTEP  REPRIRFOM
BRRTENFEAER  YHEEE
BEHMAERTFEBNEPRFEE
ROER ©

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH

109



110

B7. Anti-corruption

The Group regards honesty, integrity, and fairness as its
core values, so the related national laws and regulations are
strictly complied with, including “The Criminal Law of the
PRC" (P2 A R MBI FE), “The Anti-Money Laundering
Law of the PRC" (& A R HEFE R % 8)%) and “The Law
Against Unfair Competition of the PRC” (P A R EFME &
T IE & % % 7%). The Group had no non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations of bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering in the Reporting Period.

The Group has formulated an Anti-Fraud Management
System in accordance with the “Basic Norms of
Enterprise Internal Control” and the actual situation of
the company. This system mainly clarifies the purpose of
anti-fraud work, the responsibility for anti-fraud,
prevention and control of fraud and fraud reporting,
investigation and supervision of anti-fraud work, and its
measures and penalties.

Whistle-blowing policy

The Group values and welcomes our employees to report
any suspected malpractices confidentially via email or
phone. A full investigation will then be conducted, and
reports will be presented to the Board. Disciplinary action
will be applied to the relevant employees upon
confirmation of the occurrence. For the preventive
measures and whistle-blowing procedures, the Group
understands that protecting whistleblowers is important
in reporting and investigation procedure of corruption.
The Group prohibits any unlawful discrimination or
retaliation, or hostile behaviors against investigators.
Those who violate the regulations and disclose the
information of the whistleblower or take retaliation
against the whistleblower will be dismissed and the labor
contract will be terminated. The violators of the law will
also be sent to judicial department in accordance with
the law.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group is not involved in
any legal cases regarding corruption, and is not aware of
any bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering or other
violations.

Anti-corruption training

In order to strengthen the awareness of anti-corruption
in the workplace, the Group carries out effective
communication and training within the company in
various ways, such as issuing employee handbooks,
publicity or internal Anti-Corruption Office to ensure that
employees receive training on relevant laws, regulations
and professional ethics, so that they understand the
concepts involved in the code of conduct, and help
employees identify legal and illegal concepts, ethical and
dishonest behavior. The Group will closely monitor the
regulatory development and arrange relevant anti
corruption training for our employees and directors,
where necessary.

community Investment

The Group donated RMB7,000 and RMB12,000 to
Longchuan Huangbu Town Centre Primary School (i J&
Bl B =Em a0/ E) and Loving Shine Charity Fund of
Guangdong Province (ER & 2[5 & & E £ ®) respectively
during the Reporting Period. The Group encourages
employees to contribute to the community by reaching out
to the community and participating in voluntary activities.
Participating in these activities can increase the employees’
sense of social responsibility and can develop positive value
in helping people and our society. We strive to continuous
actively contribute to the education, environment, and
cultural aspects of the community in the future. The Group
will explore more opportunities in the neighborhoods,
where it can invest resources and engage employees in the
community service.

BS.

RE S

RREBSRESES  AEEES
EMETFM  SEAABRERA
EEZBTAERRABETARDN
BB - ERE TR AEER
ERRBEBENEN A TRITR
RS RS - WEBNE TR
BEMIEENIRS - RN THER
TR AEEBENEEEEERE
WHEBERGE T REFLHEED
[ BEE N o

HEEE
RIREHRIA - ANEE S Bl BART e
JIGEMERLNEREREREGE
EEHCERWARKE700T AR
#12,00070 - AEEEENE TiEBEE
e R 2 EEREERE BT -
SHZERBAEEETAHEEE
B - WIEEBAMIMBMOLEHE
EAEEEEE - BPIR IR RREE
BEATERMNAE  BEREAIE
TR BB, - AEEBRIBIERIER
e - LIEHRERR SRS 28T
& AR 75 -

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH

111



112

Environmental, Social and Governance Report «onined

IR fT

HKEX ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

& R EARE =

ERRGMEBERE HERER

155l

GOVERNANCE GUIDE CONTENT INDEX AR ZEG|
Aspect Description Chapter/Section
B il it =6
A. Environmental
AR
A1 Emissions
A1EER
General Disclosure  Information on: Overview
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—MRIREE FHABERRAEREEN  M/KRLHEEES AERESEEVNEE #BE
1)
@@ HEE: R
() HEFHETABEAZENEEEERROIGER
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Air Emissions
RREIEIEALT  BEE s AR BERER - 2= R
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Greenhouse Gas
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of ~ Emissions

FARIEBUEIZA.2

KPI'A1.3

RS AR R R A1.3

KPI'A1.4

BRAERIRIR A4
KPI A1.5
BB RIER A5

KPI'A1.6

PSR IEMUEBIZALG

production volume, per facility).

BE(EE) ReREE(BE2)RERBAENE(UIERE) R (@A)
RE(WMAGESSN - BIERETE) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FEXESREEYRSE AEAE) R(ER) mE (IMAEES8 - §
BB EAE) -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

PREABREEREMEE EE) R(NER)BE(MASEBEMN - &
E\X}jﬂlﬁ‘l’#)

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
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Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.
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Aspect Description Chapter/Section
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A2 Use of Resources

A2FR{ER

General Disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and Overview
other raw materials.

—MRAREE BRERER(BEER - KEEMERMED AR - e

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas  Energy Consumption
or oil) in total (kwh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BREREIZA21  RERBSWEER SMEER(WNE  Keh) BFE (UUTETES  SRER
AE)REE(WASESEMN - BERWTE)

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production Water Consumption
volume, per facility).
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KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to Energy Use Efficiency
achieve them. Initiatives

RASRAERIEIZA23 PRI I BB IRE A XE B IR R AERZ S BT 5 - BEIR(E A s 5t &

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit Water Use Efficiency
for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved. Initiatives

BSHERIEIREA2.4  HUCKEUERKR AT EABE - URRBARKBEGT 8 RAERE - AKREE

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if Packaging Material
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

RARENIEIZA2S BRmTAeEMANEE (UEHE) K (WER) BEEEMGE - BERYE

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

ASRIERXRER
General Disclosure

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

—MRIREE AR EAT ABIRRERRAERERERZEOBCER

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

FSREMIEIRA3Y HIEETHERBERRAERNEAZERDRNEREELENITE -

A4 Climate Change

AdRIREL

General Disclosure

— MR R
KPI'A4.1

RS AE IR R AL

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
BRI BB L R AR HETAEERENE RNRIEEEMBEBEE -
Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

AR RAIREBRTAELFYENEARBREBEE - REHTH -

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH

The Environment and
Natural Resources
IRBERRARER

Climate Change

RixEE
Climate Change

TIREAY,
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BRI - g MEIRTRE

Aspect Description Chapter/Section
B ¥l =111

B. Social

B.it &

B1 Employment

B1{E &

General Disclosure

—ARIE

KPI B1.1

BRI BUIEIZEB1.1
KPI B1.2

RABEAE IBIE B1.2

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.

BT RAEE  RERSH  TERE - R TS5Ks -

IS AR LA B LM 155 38 SR AR Y

(@ HER &

() FEFHETABEAZEZNEEEERROIGER

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or

part-time), age group and geographical region.

=R - EEED (Pl 2B  FRANRMERESNES LA -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

RMR - FEAER KRB D EE AL E -

Zlk -

B2 Health and Safety

B2@FHRE
General Disclosure

—RRIE

KPI B2.1

R AR IR B2.7
KPI B2.2

PR AERIE1R B2.2
KPI B2.3

RS AEWUIRIZB2.3

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

BEAREZETIERERREREBEBELEEEN

(@ HEE R

(b)) BFHBETAGSAXENEBERLBIINER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past

three years including the Reporting Period.

BE=ZF (BEREHN)ZFEITHMABLRELLE -

Lost days due to work injury.

EIBELAIIERE -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how
they are implemented and monitored.

TP ER AN B S IR FR B e 2 HE it - DA RRABRE I T REE R 0% ©
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Employment and Labor
Standards

TR R85 TR

Employment

=2
Employment

&=

Employee Health and
Safety

Employee Health and
Safety
EERERZ S
Employee Health and
Safety
EERERZ S
Employee Health and
Safety
EERERZ S
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Aspect
B

Description
fii ikt

Chapter/Section
=111

B3 Development and Training

B3 & R R il
General Disclosure

—AREE
KPI B3.1

RAR AR AUIE R B3
KPI B3.2

RASRAE 515 B3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work.

BARTEE BT TIERE 0 M MR BUR -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
RUERNREERN(WEREREE FRERE)SASNZIEERSLL -
The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.

muERIREERERE D  BRERTKZINFHREE -

B4 Labor Standards

B4% T #8|
General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B4.1

BRI BUIE1ZE B4
KPI B4.2

BASEAE IR 1R BA.2

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labor.

BEANIEE Teioa 4 Ta

(@ HER &

(b)) BFHBITABEATEMNEBRERRBIINER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child

and forced labor.

R ET BB MR e AR S ZE T KRR HI%5 T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when

discovered.

TR R IR B RIS R R ERR A B ISR PR P87 o

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H

Development and
Training

BRE RIE
Development and
Training

TR R
Development and
Training

R RE

Labor Standards

BA T AR

Labor Standards

BT AR
Labor Standards

& T38|
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Aspect Description Chapter/Section

EBm ¥l =41

B5 Supply Chain Management

B5 {#fE S E 1E

General Disclosure  Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply Supply Chain
chain. Management

—MRAREE EIRHEENIRE Rt g R IEER - HpEsRER

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain

Management

FARIEMUEIERS.1 EREBISMHEEREA - HpEsRER

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of Supply Chain
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they are Management
implemented and monitored.

FASEMIEIEB5.2 M AAEAMERNIED - MENTEBENNHEEREE - URIAHE HERER
PITRERTE -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks ~ Supply Chain
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.  Management

RASRAERIEIEB5.3 MRS FIRIE R g R ARES - UREEENNIITR  fEEER
BERE o

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable Supply Chain
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are Management
implemented and monitored.

FASREMIEIEB5.4 MM BUEHEE R HEITIRRE R KIRBAERANED - UARE@IEMINY  HERER

TTMEER A ©
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Aspect
B

Description
fii ikt

Chapter/Section
=111

B6 Product and Service Responsibility

B6ERmBRBRHERE
General Disclosure

—ARIE

KPI B6.1

R4 IR R B6.

KPI B6.2

RASE A IBIR B6.2

KPI B6.3

RABEAE IB1E B6.3
KPI B6.4

R AR RIE1R B6.4
KPI B6.5

RS AE WUIRIZ B6.S

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.

FHAMRHERNREORERELYS  BE SHELEBEEURBRT

VAR

(@ B &

() HEFHETABEAZEZNEEEERROIGER

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for

safety and health reasons.

EERCDEXERBETAR2REFEAMARKNE DL

Number of products and service related complaints received and how
they are dealt with.

RN EmMREIRFEE AR EBE X -

e

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.

T B A I R IR AN EE R R RARIB ) -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

S SR FEREREMBYIERT

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they
are implemented and monitored.

HILE B E A RHRIE RALBECR - ARMBBENITRER A -

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H

Product Responsibility

i
2o
il
[y

Due to the Group’s
business nature, no
products will be subject
to recalls

AR AR EEERNME
B8 - B ERAR
Product Responsibility
— Services related
complaint
EmAaft—
Eil

Product Responsibility

A7 AE R 1%

EmAaf
Product Responsibility
EmEf
Product Responsibility

1

Mt

Em
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Aspect
B

Description
fi ikt

Chapter/Section
=111

B7 Anti-corruption

B7RE5
General Disclosure

—RRIE

KPIB7.1

RASEAE B 1E BT

KPI B7.2

RS MIEIZR7.2
KPI B7.3

RS MIEIZB7.3

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

B IEARE - B - BEFROEREER -

(@ HEE R

(b)) BFHBETAGSAXENEBERLBIINER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought

against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting Period and the

outcomes of the cases.

RERAAHETASEEERETEELENE

R o

Description of preventive measures, how they are implemented and

monitored.

AL E I HE - A RABRAIIT RER X o

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

SR EAR RV B E AR AR

WimEER B TREMNRESHFI -

B8 Community Investment

B8t EkE

General Disclosure

—ARIE

KPI B8.1

B 48 IR 12 B8

KPI B8.2
RS IEIZB8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests.

ANt E2EK THRLEEMEHEFEENRREER EHEEELET
= HBGER ©

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns,
labor needs, health, culture, sport).
BETERERE (NHE  REFE  SIHK - @FE - b BAE)-
Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EFI8BEMBAER (NS EKERH) o
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Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

k&3

Anti-Corruption —
Whistle-blowing policy
RES — BWMPEK
Anti-corruption — Anti-
corruption training
RER— REFEI

community Investment

HERE

community Investment

MHERE
community Investment
HERE



Independent Auditor’s Report
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w4 E7]

Independent auditor's report to the members of

Yues International Holdings Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yues
International Holdings Group Limited (the “"Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group”) set out on
pages 130 to 258, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSS") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

FRRERERKRERRAFREZ
B BT &
(RESHEZTMK L FRLA)

2R
EEEENEREREREBRBRA A (AT
BIEARDREMBAR (ATHRE [&%KE])
FIE R 130 2 258 B MR & B sk - BIER
2023 12 A3 BWER & AR KR IA R B EZ
BIEFERNGEEEER  GAZERER G4
BRFEE  REBRSRERRLEE P BHREM
i EREEZERGBRER -

BEERR HRAVBHRRERREESNAE
((EFEEEE A |) B\ MH0ELMEREER
(EEMBREEN AT ATHRE BF
B R 2023512 A3 B&EA M BHRAREE
ZHLEFENGAMBRARGARSRE X
EEREBBRATGIINREZRZBRE -

RRE#

EECREFB GRS RMOBTBEALER
((ERMEERN ) ETES - BEEZFTER
TAHAENEEEEARSE [RBOMREA GRS
BmFAFENEMT] B P IEE— TR - RiF
BR G AGRMACEESHERTRDA
TEEIFA])  HEFEBEIRX BEEE - YCEE
TTRAFNEMBERERET - EFMAE
FIESHENREEARREEHATENER

TR -

oy
=Ry

SREFZEREBERIT / T - =FFH
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
RBENFER

BAEETEH
MREHFATRETSOREA - RAHK
MR A B RROE RAEENTE - B
FEREESENEBBANBRARBATR
B TEEN o BE TN LERREEB
BR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ESEEMNTEEREENERNSE

Impairment of trade receivables
BB EWHERE

Refer to Note 3.1(b), Note 4(c) and Note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BRESRE Y ERERWE3.10) « MsE4(c) XHIFE18 -

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had trade receivables of
approximately RMB39,913,000.

R2023%12A31H -
39,913,000 7T °

BHRWHBORARYE

E\m

Management performed the impairment assessment of trade
receivables as at 31 December 2023 by using a provision
matrix which requires significant estimation in determining the
expected credit loss and this is based on information including
but not limited to, historical loss experience, ageing of trade
receivables, repayment history and financial capabilities of the
customers.

EBESRABEERE2023F 12 A31BMNE 5 E I KIE#E
TRERS - ZEBEREETEEEEBRELEXME
b DERBEENRNBAEBLR &S EBGIER
BN ERBREPOMIEENFTER o

Management also considered forward-looking information
that may impact the customers’ ability to repay the
outstanding balances in order to estimate the expected credit
losses (“ECLS") for the impairment assessment.
EREENERIETETPEEREREMRENORIELEE
B MERDREFH S EREEEE ((AEEER)) -

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2023

Our procedures in this area included:
EEENLBENREFSE

o Understanding management’ s process in assessing
and determining the expected credit loss allowances of
trade receivables;

. TRERENERETE S EWE
HHBEAE

KRB HME B B 1R

o Understanding the status of each of the receivables
that was past due through discussions with
management and the sales team;

J BBEEREREEEKN R THRSER
IR

B

o Checking, on a sample basis, the completeness and
accuracy of the trade receivables ageing analysis used
by management to estimate the appropriate provision
for loss allowance;

o MEBREERERAN G ERRENEERENES
JE W R IA BR e 0 AT ) o BE 1 S SRR

o Checking, on a sample basis, the subsequent
settlement of trade receivables by customers after the
year end date;

o HMEREREFPRFEHENE S EUGK
5

HEKRGER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
REEEn

AREETTEE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ESFEENTEERRFNFTENSE

Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)
HRE S EkE (E)

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the trade
receivable balances and the significant management
judgements and estimates in determining the expected
loss allowance of the trade receivables.

HRE SR FIEAREARETE S RKFIEEHEER
HRS RERE R EHE REE - T FEP P -

J Evaluating management’s impairment assessment
and explanations on each of the significant trade
receivables that were past due as at 31 December
2023 with reference to supporting evidence such as
repayment history of the customers,
correspondences with customers and review of the
customers' financial position; and

e FHEEBEEYUSER2028F12ANBEBHNEXR
ZSRYGIERET G REE  W2ETHER O
BEPHMENRLE  BEFPOBEREMEPHM BN
oK

o Assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology, examining the
key data inputs on a sample basis to assess their
accuracy and completeness, and challenging the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-
looking information, used to determine the expected
credit losses.

. SHMETEREEEERE T ENES T - MR EER
A BB AT EERM Ko B - WHRARETE
HEEEENRR(BEREL RATEEER)REERE -

Based on the procedures performed, we found that
management'’s judgements and estimates of impairment
of trade receivables are supported by sufficient and
appropriate evidence.

ERFTETEER  SSRREREHESRKFIERED
FIET RAAFTEA SRR KB E MBS FF -

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
REEiEn

AREETEE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ESFEENTEERRTENFTENSE

Impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables

TR 55 3% B FI BLint (B AT 1

Refer to Note 3.1(b), Note 4(d) and Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
FHL2EGE AV BHRERMTEID) ~ HeF4d) EMEE18 -

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had loan and interest
receivables of approximately RVMB46,192,000.
202312 A31H - EXENEEERRIEHNRA
R 46,192,000 7T °

Management performed the impairment assessment of
loan and interest receivables as at 31 December 2023, the
measurement of ECLS which requires the application of
significant judgements and estimates include the
identification of exposures with a significant deterioration
in credit quality, and assumptions used in the ECLs model
such as the probabilities of default, loss given default,
expected future cash flows and forward-looking
information.

BEIREEN2023F 12 A31 BB EFR R FI B #EITREA
G- BHIEEEBENTEFZEAERAE MG - B2
BAEEEREERNRER - LRBHREEBEEREXF
FRAMMRE - PSR BHBEAE  BEHRRE2
MENAIEEER -
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Our procedures in this area included:
EEELHBNIET AL

o Understanding, evaluating and validating the key
controls over impairment assessment of loan and
interest receivables, which relates to management’ s
identification of possible events that triggered the
provision for impairment of loan and interest
receivables and estimation of the amount of provisions.

. TER - STAh B E RS RO BB E AT S 8 B i
Pl - HEEE IR E R A B e W B SR R R BB E R
ATRE M R AT RE SRR -

o Inspecting the loan agreements entered into between
the Group and the borrowers, and other relevant
information relating to the borrowers as assessed by

the Group.
. wmE BEEBEEERAGVNERGZ Uk &%

BT E A BEERANEMBEER -

J Circulating confirmations to test the existence of the
loan and interest receivables as at the end of the
reporting period. We also checked the accuracy of the
ageing of loan and interest receivables as at the end of
the reporting period by tracing to source documents.

o BERBERE VRN R E R E D FEERER LA
B BEEMERBERBEXFRERKERLFER
s AR BRBC ) SRR 1 o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
REEEn

AREETTEE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ESFEENTEERRFNFTENSE

Impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables (Continued)

BB R FI B EFE (E)

We focused on this area because the carrying amount of loan
and interest receivables is significant to the consolidated
financial statements, the identification of whether exposures
triggered deterioration in credit quality and the estimation of
the individual impairment amount require the use of
significant judgments and estimates.
EEFFRNERTDBENEREREFE 2 REEHLGE M
BomErMsBEKN  #HhlEEEEEEEEE 2R RMEE
BRI B & 878 8 & A 2B R AGET -

o Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL
model and the criteria for assessing if there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and loss allowances
for financial assets that should be measured on a
lifetime ECLs basis. We also assessed recoverability of
the loan and interest receivables with reference to
borrowers” principal and interest repayment records
during the year and subsequently up to the date of this
report, and traced the repayments to the bank
statements.

o .%15 %%li‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬂéﬁaﬁiﬂﬁ/\ﬁ Ii{&.qﬂﬁ EE

%E%féggi?ﬁgfﬁgﬁ’ﬁ?& %ﬁﬁﬂ%%?x/\ﬁ
FAREBEZARE ARNAS RF @R -
TEERE R RF SR ATRE Y - WEREEERE
RITHEE ©

Based on the procedures described above, we considered
key judgments and estimates applied by management in the
impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables were
supportable by sufficient and appropriate evidence.

RIE LR - EERATEEREKEZ A ERETE
FPREANBRAB KRG ERD REENEEF -

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
RBENFER

AREETEE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ESEEMNTEEREENERNSE

Purchase price allocation for a business combination

EHEHNBRERSE

Refer to Note 2.3, Note 3.3(a), and Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.
BRHGATBERERME2.3 « H5E3.3(a) MMFE33 °

On 30 October 2023, the Group acquired 60% equity interest
in Zhongshan Haihui Technology Logistics (Group) Co. Ltd.,
(“Haihui”) from an independent third party at a cash
consideration of RMB9,000,000, which is subject to status of
fulfillment in the revenue and profit guarantee in the agreed
period (the “Contingent Consideration Payable”).
Such Contingent Consideration Payable is measured at fair
value. The acquisition of Haihui and its subsidiaries (“Haihui
Group’) constitutes a business combination. As at the date
of acquisition, the aggregate fair value of the identifiable net
assets of the Haihui Group amounted to RMB12,711,000, and
goodwill of RMB425,000 was recognised arising from the
acquisition.

202310 5308 « AEBE AR K E AR 9,000,000
WBUE=FWERLEENEYR(EE)ERAR (B
B0 migiE - ZIR e REAFRARFERER HL

WEsk &R ((BESREE]) - ZEMSIAREZD
FEFE WEEBERENBAR ([BEREEXESLE
BroRNIKERE  BEEETBFFEENLTEELEER
AER®12,711,0007T - WHEEEHEE A AR A4250007T ©
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Our procedures in this area included:
EEENLBENREFBE

o Examining the terms of the sale and purchase
agreement;
. SR E & a2 G

o Assessing the reasonableness and appropriateness of
the identification of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed,

o THEERSEERMAEAGBZEBEREEE

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities, independence
and objectivity the Valuer engaged by the Group;

. TEBHAEERE 2 (AEMBERE - 880 B
M REEIT

o Obtaining the valuation reports and assessing the
valuation methodologies adopted for the purpose of
determining the fair values of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed as well as the
Contingent Consideration Payable; and

o TEEN (B 55 0 AT BE 7 E FTAS AT s BB B R P 4
BEZATEURENSARBZEERE &
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
REE=R

AREETTEE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEFEENTEERREAFTHNS X

Purchase price allocation for a business combination (Continued)

RESHIBREEIE ()

The Group engaged an independent qualified professional
valuer (the “Valuer”) to perform the purchase price
allocation on the fair values of the consideration transferred
and the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
the business combination and valuation of the Contingent
Consideration Payable.
REFEBEINASERSEGEM(GEM])  SEBE
HHREZFENRE  WENAIERNEERAEARN A TEE
THEEERE  WHENIAREBEITHE -

We focus on this area due to the magnitude of the balances
involved and the significant assumptions and judgements and
estimates associated with the identification of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed and probabilities in meeting
the revenue and profit guarantees.

EEF BB TERMSROEHREKN - T AR EE R
BELMAEZEBRARERBARANBRER AL S ERE
1 8 KRR S Al LA R A5t o

o Discussing with the management and the Valuer to
assess the reasonableness of the significant
unobservable inputs and the accuracy of these inputs
regarding the purchase price allocation and valuation
of the Contingent Consideration Payable adopted by
the management and the Valuer and comparing these
inputs with publicly available information of market
data.

. LB E I (L ERMMETT 50 m ART L B 1R I8 R (h E AR
BzBEBRIEMENIAREGERENEART
AERHAENS B RZEFUAENERE - I
ZEBANERTISEERN A EMETHR -

Based on the procedures described above, we considered
key judgments and estimates applied by management in the
business combination was supportable by sufficient and
appropriate evidence.

RIFELMREF  EESRATEBRESBSHPEANBRY
R AT B RS REE BRI o

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Leung Yun Wa.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024

Leung Yun Wa
Practising certificate number P08096
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or LoSS

o A 43 L
,Z\vT\l: Hm

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z220234F 12431 H IFF/Z

2023 2022
20235 2022 4
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
K et AR®TT ARBT T
Revenue ke 6 133,881 179,483
Other income, gains and losses, net  H U A - Yezs N B8 558 7 9,595 6,838
Employee benefits expenses EERMEX 8 (66,744) (70,648)
Subcontracting expenses DERE (33,714) (57,652)
Lease payment relating to EAHERE  HENK
short-term leases 15(b) (35,291) (28,490)
Depreciation of property, plant and YE - BEMREITE
equipment 14 (1,637) (1,295)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 15(b) (3,852) (3,558)
Impairment of right-of-use assets PREEERE 15(b) (2,846) -
Amortisation of intangible assets A Y 17 (27) -
Other expenses HAnp 9 (31,714) (25,301)
Operating Loss BEFRR (32,349) (623)
Finance costs BhE A AR 10 (1,057) (427)
Loss before income tax BRFRr{SIREIES I8 (33,406) (1,050)
Income tax (expenses)/credit Frig®i (), e 11 (757) 880
Loss for the year FREE (34,163) (170)
Attributable to: BT ALRES:
Owners of the Company PiN/NIE PN (34,431) (170)
Non-controlling interests e 268 -
(34,163) (170)
Loss per share (in RMB cents) ERER(AR%S)
— Basic and diluted — EAREE 13 (3.28) (0.02)

The notes on page 137 to 258 are on integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

A ETERGR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z2023F 12A31H IF F/Z

2023 2022
20235 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBT T
Loss for the year FRBR (34,163) (170)
Other comprehensive Income HttZ2Emka
Item that may be reclassified subsequently —HiZrJsEEZ P E182mER -
to profit or loss:
Exchange difference arising on translation — #EGINEFEE A 2 E X =5 -
of foreign operations, net of nil tax HBRZHE (3,102) 1,075
Other comprehensive (expense)/income FREMEE (X)W
for the year (3,102) 1,075
Total comprehensive (expense)/ ER2E(AX) WEKHE
income for the year (37,265) 905
Attributable to: BTALRES:
Owners of the Company RATEB A (37,533) 905
Non-controlling interests FEIE R T 268 -
(37,265) 905
The notes on page 137 to 258 are on integral part of the consolidated ~ 5137E258 B MM sk iR & BT RSz —2 D

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AR IR

As at 31 December 2023 20234 12H31H

2023 2022
2023 2022 4F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
KiaF AR®TT AREETF T
ASSETS HE
Non-current assets EMBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - B KGR 14 2,885 3,996
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15(a)(i) 21,719 7,019
Goodwill and intangible assets mERETLEE 17 2,045 -
Deferred income tax assets RICFRIBEE 26(a) 241 -
Rental deposits HEZe 18 675 769
Loan receivables I E X 18 11,692 43,000
Deposit in relation to purchase of BEME  BELRED
property, plant and equipment HEZRS 36,167 -
Financial assets at fair value through 2 A FEFABRZH SR EE
profit or loss 16 4,580 6,093
Total non-current assets EimENEERE 80,004 60,877
Current assets REAE
Trade and other receivables 25 &Eﬁﬂﬁ’él&%’lﬁ 18 92,677 62,800
Amount due from a non-controlling EH&;H e
shareholder 19 32,121
Cash and cash equivalents HBehReEEY 20 78,026 55,530
Total current assets mEEEEE 202,824 118,330
Total assets HEE 282,828 179,207
EQUITY ua
Share capital [N 24(a) 9,770 8,139
Reserves & 24(b) 128,686 135,869
Equity attributable to owners FATEIHBAE GRS
of the Company 138,456 144,008
Non-controlling interests R 5,352 -
Total equity RaRE 143,808 144,008

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2023



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position continued
e B R R e

As at 31 December 2023 20234 12H31H

2023 2022
2023 2022 4F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
KaF AR®TTR ARETTT
LIABILITIES &\
Non-current liabilities ERBEAE
Lease liabilities HEEE 15(a)(ii) 19,593 4,236
Other payables oAb e 30E 21(b) 8,178 -
Contingent consideration payable for 274 0f E A KE
business combination 33 8,115 -
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFTSH AE 26(a) 284 -
Total non-current liabilities B A ERE 36,170 4,236
Current liabilities mEAE
Trade and other payables B 5 N E e g 21 38,819 24,973
Contract liabilities BHEE 22 566 -
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R EALE R 23 52,602 -
Lease liabilities HEEE 15(a)(ii) 5,896 3,356
Amount due to a director FEREE I 27 4,581 2,388
Current income tax liabilities BNHAFT1S mﬁ{a 386 246
Total current liabilities mEAEEE 102,850 30,963
Total liabilities AR 139,020 35,199
Total equity and liabilities ERRAGEHE 282,828 179,207

The consolidated financial statements on pages 130 to 258 were %130 E 258 B M 4r & B 15 ¥ 5= B 72024 F 3 A
approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 and were 27 BEEZEEgH 4 - WH FIESKKRES
signed on its behalf by:

Le Kang Li Zhigang
RE =50

Director Director
E2 =

The notes on page 137 to 258 are on integral part of the consolidated ~ 5137E258 B MM s TR 4R & BT FS R — 30D

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

—H— N/
/ N I|\|:|I|\
e EmE R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z220234F 12431 H IFF/Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

ENGE PN 1]
Retained
Share eamnings/ Non-
Share Share Statutory Other option  Exchange (accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) Sub-total interests equity
REERN/
2 EhER ERER EfEh MR EE ESEMR (REHER) gt baili3 e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'00)
NS ARBTT AEBTT AEBTT ARETT ARBTT BB AERTT ARETT AEBTT
At 1 January 2022 ®2022%181A 7450 51135 10,606 27,09 5207 233 29,300 130,629 - 130,69
Loss for the year EhEE - - - - - - (170) (170 - (170)
Other comprehensive income  Xt2EKE
Exchange difference arising on BEBNEREL ERER
translation of foreign operations,  MBEHE
net of nil tax - - - - - 1,075 - 1075 - 1,075
Total comprenensive income ERRENEEE
for the year - - - - - 1,075 (170 905 - 905
Transactions with owners ~ BEEANLA
Issue of shares through share ERRNEERTRG
placing (Note 24(a)i) (Wit ) 689 11,785 - - - - - 12474 - 12474
689 11,785 - - - - - 12474 - 12474
At 31 December 2022 and R202%5128310R
1 January 2023 023%1818 8,139 62,920 10,606 27,094 5217 842 29,130 144,008 - 144,008
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - (34,431) (34,431) 268 (34,163)
Other comprehensive income Xt 2EKE
Exchange difference arising on RERIERELVERES
translation of foreign operations, B ERE
net of il tax - - - - - (3,102) - (3,102) - (3,102)
Total comprehensive expense ERRERREE
forthe year - - - = = (3.102) (34,431) (37,533) 268 (37,265)
Transactions with owners ~ E#EANLS
Issue of shares through share BERHEESTRE
placing (Note 24(a)(i) (K60 1,631 30,350 - - - - - 31,981 - 31,981
Non-controlling interests arisingon - RAEHBARMELH
acquisition of subsidiaries FmiEs - - - - - - - - 5,084 5,084
1,631 30,350 - - - - - 31981 5,084 37,065
At 31 December 2023 R20235128 318 9,770 93,270 10,606 27,094 5,217 (2,260) (5,301) 138,456 5,352 143,808

The notes on page 137 to 258 are on integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
an\ fﬁiﬁ;%_%

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z2023F 12A31H IF F/Z

2023 2022
2023 2022 4
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Hiat AR®TT ARBT T
Operating activities BEED
Cash (used in)/generated from gessEB) (B, FRELIRS
operating activities 30(a) (33,485) 3,461
Income tax paid B FTER (333) (74)
Net cash (used in)/generated EEEH(RA),
from operating activities FEXR&SE (33,818) 3,387
Investing activities B’EEDH
Interest received from bond receivables fE i &5 15 H) & = 1,938
Interest received from bank deposits  $R4T1FRFTEF] & 1,052 801
Interest received from third parties BEZAERE 5,844 -
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE  BE MR
equipment (545) (2,949)
Loans to third parties E=ZFER = (57,221)
Proceeds from redemption of bond B8 [0 e I (E 5 B T8 2k
receivables - 40,000
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEE - BEMEEN
plant and equipment FT{8 3R 1,734 -
Repayment of loans to third parties BEF=FEX 11,405 -
Deposit refunded/(paid) for investment  stig A F(EzT AIBRH
in financial asset at FVPL THEERERR
(Z) e 6,898 (6,898)
Net cash inflow from acquisition of U BB B A R RU3R & F B
subsidiaries 33 1,426 -
Net cash generated from/(used ¥ FZEFRE (FRA)R&BE
in) investing activities 27,814 (24,329
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows continued

AP ERER®

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z220234F 12431 H IFF/Z

2023 2022
2023 2022 4
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
Hiat AR®TT ARBT T
Financing activities BEEE
Principal element of lease rental paid ~ H{SHAER S AL I 5D 30(b) (3,899) (3,484)
Interest element of lease rental paid YTRHEERSHT SIS 30(b) (501) (427)
Interest paid on bank and STERAT I EAth fE RN S
other borrowings 30(b) (556) -
Proceeds from share placing, DB E TSR IE
net of direct costs Mk B A 24(a) 31,981 12,474
Proceeds from bank and other AT R B A B KA P15 5008
borrowings 30(b) 4,580 -
Repayment of bank and other EERTREMERK
borrowings 30(b) (2,564) -
Net cash generated from MEFHRERESRHE
financing activities 29,041 8,563
Net increase/(decrease) in ReRALEEMEM (RKD)
cash and cash equivalents R 23,037 (12,379)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FORERREEEY
beginning of the year 55,530 68,162
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [& & & &) g/ 2 (541) (253)
cash and cash equivalents at FRIALRBCEED
the end of the year 20 78,026 55,530

The notes on page 137 to 258 are on integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Yues International Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its issued shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The registered address of the Company is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of
the Company in Hong Kong and in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") is Room 3, 5/F, United Centre, 95
Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong and Units 1301 and 1302,
13/F,Citic Plaza, N0.233, Tianhe Road, Guangzhou, the PRC
respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company and together
with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of transportation, warehousing, in-
plant logistics and customisation services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Renminbi (‘RIMB’000"), unless otherwise stated.
The consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the board of directors of the Company on 27 March
2024.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continea)
mE SRR

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements are prepared for the
Group consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(a)

(b)

Compliance with HKFRSs, HKCO and Listing
Rules

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and
interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the laws of
Hong Kong) ("HKCO"). These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the
Stock Exchange.

Measurement basis

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL") and contingent consideration payable for
business combination, which are measured at fair
values.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T

B MR M T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c)

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The Group has applied the following new and
amended standards and improvements for the first
time for their annual reporting period commencing
on 1 January 2023 that are relevant to the Group:

. Definition of Accounting Estimates —
amendments to HKAS 8

° Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction —
amendments to HKAS 12

. Disclosure of Accounting Policies —
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of other
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group's financial position
and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of
Accounting Policies”

The amendments require entities to disclose
material accounting policy information and provide
guidance on applying the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosure. The Group has
revisited the accounting policy information it has
been disclosing and considered it is consistent with
the amendments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

T E

AU HREM T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c)

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 8
“Definition of Accounting Estimates”

The amendments provide further guidance on the
distinction between changes in accounting policies
and changes in accounting estimates. The
amendments do not have a material impact on
these consolidated financial statements as the
Group's approach in distinguishing changes in
accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates is consistent with the amendments.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 12
“Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction”

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption such that it does not apply
to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting
temporary differences on initial recognition such as
leases and decommissioning liabilities. For leases
and decommissioning liabilities, the associated
deferred tax assets and liabilities are required to be
recognised from the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to retained
earnings/accumulated losses or other components
of equity at that date. For all other transactions, the
amendments are applied to those transactions that
occur after the beginning of the earliest period
presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T

B TREM T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c)

New and amended Standard adopted by the
Group (Continued)

Prior to the amendments, the Group did not apply
the initial recognition exemption to lease
transactions and had recognised the related
deferred tax, except that the Group previously
determined the temporary difference arising from a
right-of-use asset and the related lease liability on a
net basis on the basis they arise from a single
transaction. Following the amendments, the Group
has determined the temporary differences in
relation to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. The change primarily impacts
disclosures of components of deferred tax assets
and liabilities in note 26(a), but does not impact the
overall deferred tax balances presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position as the
related deferred tax balances qualify for offsetting
under HKAS 12.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continved)
& Bl R M e e

T a

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

RREERBERESTEE 2

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 1 HRBIEYE ()
(d) New standards, amendments and (d) EREABOFTER - BITE
interpretations not yet adopted rRE
The following new standards, amendments and T it B3 A 5 B AR B A R RT
interpretations have been published that are Al T A KB EEEMER

relevant to the Group but not yet effective for the
current reporting period commencing on 1 January
2023 and have not been early adopted by the
Group:

2023F 1A 1B BB AR E
HIMMARLER  BAREEILE
RPN

Effective for
annual periods
beginning

on or after
BT AR
ZERRY
FEHREMN

Amendments to HKFRS 16
BBV HERELERIZE 165 (BT A)

Amendments to HKAS 1
BB ERFE 157 (BRTA)

Amendments to HKAS 1
BB ERFE 157 (BRTA)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

EBgenlE
EBIERE

7%
HERIFE 75 (IBFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 21
BB EFHEAF 2157 (BFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

FRPHREERE 1055 K%
BB EFHERIZE 285 (17T

H|
3
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Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
EREENNHEERE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

RBBEIFRDERENSBELEERE
55 MERR1ERT (2020 4F)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
WERZHRIERESAE

Supplier Finance Arrangements
HEEERE 8k

Lack of Exchangeability
T2 Wt

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
venture

A& EEEBENRNE
BEDEXEZA

SN

1 January 2024
20244118

1 January 2024

20241 A1 H

1 January 2024
20241 A1 H

1 January 2024
20241 H1H

1 January 2025
202541818

To be determined
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T

B MR M T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (continued)

(d) New standards, amendments and
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)

The Group has commenced an assessment of the
impact of the new or revised standards that have
been issued but either not yet effective for the
financial period beginning on 1 January 2023 or not
been early adopted by the Group which are
relevant to the Group’s operations. The Group
believes that the application of amendments to
HKFRSs, amendments to HKASs and the new
interpretations is unlikely to have a material impact
on the Group's consolidated financial position and
performance as well as disclosure in the future.

The notes below provide a list of the material accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for business combinations by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

T a

B R M e

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.2

2.3

Subsidiaries (continued)

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of financial
position respectively.

Business combination
The Group applies the acquisition method to account for

business combination. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred,

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired entity,

o equity interests issued by the Group,

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continues
A BTSRRI s

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Business combination (continued)

RREEREASHEBEE ®)

2.3 EFEH @)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

REFE GHIEE A A] BRI E B A Rk
‘%ﬂi?ﬁﬂﬁzﬁ%ﬁ

EmaERKARE
A FEAE2(DEPIIMER

Sh) o ZIK’%I@TWIEUH&E%X%T“
FESGHER AR EERER
BB EFEN L PR PEEE

BRI SR p s -

W R AN EE AR S 3K o

The excess of the: TFI&IA

e consideration transferred, o PREERE

e amount of any non-controlling interest in the . %ﬁﬂ&ﬁ%?ﬁj B TR IFERER
acquired entity, and -l

. acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity . RO UK B B 88 5 BT B () AR AR

interest in the acquired entity. TS AUREE B BB A (B -
Over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase.
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financier under comparable terms and conditions. cHREATHBENSHEEREN
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or ;#EE—E”AJ?TE AN ESFNIERE
a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial B

liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with

changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

AR

A BTSN o

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.3

24

2.5

Business combination (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment in the separate financial statements of the
Company. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiaries in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investments in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision maker is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors, who makes strategic
decisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e REE®

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the
functional currency of the Company and
presentation currency of the Group.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
recognised in profit or loss. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in the consolidated
income statement on a net basis within “other
income, gains and losses, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair values are reported as part
of the fair value gain or l0ss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

b2 A B SR R B SEon

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as

follows:

° assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement

of financial position,

. income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and statement of
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the

transactions), and

o all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities and of borrowings are recognised in
other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of
the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or
loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and

translated at the closing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continues
A BTSRRI s

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2 HmBEEERTAETHERE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment 2.7 M - BEMEKE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the consolidated income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their costs, net of their residual values, over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Plant and machinery 20%-33% per annum

Furniture and equipment ~ 20% per annum

Office equipment 20%-33% per annum

Leasehold improvements  Over the shorter of
remaining lease term or
20% per annum

Motor vehicles 20% per annum

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each financial
year.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.9).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A SRR N

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within “other income, gains and losses,
net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

2.8

Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included
in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it
is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity
sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the
goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are
identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes,
being the operating segments.

Customer relationships

Customer relationships acquired arising from a
business combination are recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. They have a finite useful life
and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continues
A R E I s

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

RREERBERETEHE 2

29 EEmMEERME

Non-financial assets (including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with
finite useful life) are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset'’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

2.10Investments and other financial assets

(@) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value through profit or loss, and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's business

model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

FemERE (BEARAEAFEY
ME - WENIRKE ERAEEE &
FEE)REEFHNERLR S
i/ B8 5 B8 I BR T B AT 8 T A] Uy [0 5
EITRENR - REBBREHREE
Z BREEBSE AT B 658 S
RoAELEAEEZ AFERL
ERARERBEME 2BEE 1
EITRAENGR - EERRARE L
BB EMEESEEMERA A
BUHBBReRAGReELEM)
ZEIEKFEDEE o BREEIN - GRE
ZHERMEENEREHANEEH
EYERERIBHEITIRA ©

2101 BN H e/ EE

(@ 28
AEEBELREELH AU
TR :

o HBBRATE(GIAER)

aﬁﬁ@%ﬂﬁé’&

o UHEKAFENDAE

ZNBEORRASEEIE S

BEZFEBEAARZEEN
AHHESRERE -

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H

151



152

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

T a

B R M e

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(@

(b)

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in debt
instruments, this will depend on the business
model in which the investment is held. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

See Note 28 for details of each type of financial
assets.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T

B TREM T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

()

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVPL are recorded in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in other income, gains
and losses, net together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in
the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A SRR N

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

(c)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI"): Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows and for
selling the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through other comprehensive income, except
for the recognition of impairment gains or
losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in
other income, gains and losses, net. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income or other income
using the effective interest method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in
other income, gains and losses, net and
impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in profit or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that
do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or 10ss
on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL and presented net in profit
or loss within other income, gains and losses,
net in the period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T

B MR M T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group's right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in other income, gains and losses,
net in profit or loss. Impairment losses and reversal
of impairment losses on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately
from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLS on
the financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including trade and other receivables, loan and
interest receivables, rental deposit, amount due
from a non-controlling shareholder and cash and
cash equivalents).

Measurement of ECLS

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

2 mBEEHERBEASHEE®)

2101 BN EMSREE (&)

(c)

(d)

B ()
#m TR
AERBEMEEETAREUR
FEE - MRAEMEEE
EEMESTANRTESR
Bat AR memKas - AR
IR E 2 BT BHAF
BEREEHVHEES - EX
B ES IE 3R 2 I -
ZERAENR S S EET RS
FIEREAMBN T IARER -

BAFEFABENSREE
B AT EZE B AR H A
WA~ Wz R BB FRERR
BATFEF AR EE R
ERRENREBRE(RRE
BiEED) BEMATEES
FvaREa bl

WE
REEGIRBHEKATENS
BMEE(BREE S REMEW
HIE - BEWEREMNE - HE
e EUUEIRAR R FRIE A K&
RekBeZEY WBEHE
B IEERE RS -

HEERER B
HHEEBERAEEBENM
Khngfhsr - EEBRAME
R ZH(AREANE
NAEEMNREERE BAEE
BHRBNEREEREZHNE
BIMBRETE -

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H

155



156

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

AR

A BTSN o

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)
Measurement of ECLS (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rate where the effect of
discounting is material:

—  fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition or an approximation
thereof,

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate;

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLS, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECLs model applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T

B MR M T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)
Measurement of ECLS (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of both
the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLS.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by
the Group to actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past
due. The Group considers both guantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

T E

AU HREM T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECLS
amount is recognised as an impairment gain or l0ss
in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T

B TREM T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held
by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

the borrower;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

2 mBEEHERBEASHEE®)

2101 BN EMSREE (&)

(d)

mAE ()

ERIRER

AEERS  WAREKKA
SMEB RIS 2 B MR ETS
ATRKAgEREERA (R
AEE) BENR(TERBALE
ERA 2 EEAm) - AL
EBREMN -

T EXBER EeREER

HIBO0 R - REERREL
EH BRIEAEEBRAERA
XEHENBRELSRBRZED
EREREE -

EERECEMEE
mEA—IANZIREMHENRE
HeBmEEMIARAZRE
ERTNOEE  AAREE R
BERRIERBBEEER
B eREELREERED
EEEERAE T BREE
A

— BETARERAHBRE
KT R 2

— ERAH-
BEEM

Il 40 32 4 3¢

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H

159



160

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A SRR N

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

— the lenders of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower concessions that the lenders would
not otherwise consider;

— itis becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
Note 2.21 is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance)
of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T

N et

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)
Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation,

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

— the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the assets becomes 12
months past due or when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which
the recovery occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

T a

B R M e

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.110ffsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

2.12Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services provided in the ordinary course of business.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contains significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
and other receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. See Note 2.10 for further information
about the Group’s accounting for trade and other
receivables and Note 2.10(d) for a description of the
Group’s impairment policies.

If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wontinues
R A IS RR N

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

RREERBERETEHE 2

2.13Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.14Share capita

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

2.15Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting
period. They are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.16Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

T a

BRI

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.16Borrowings (continued)

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liguidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

2.17Borrowings costs

Borrowing costs include interest expense and finance
charges in respect of lease. They are recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

2.18Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e REE®

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and considers whether it is probable that a taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.
The Group measures its tax balances either based
on the most likely amount or the expected value,
depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability
is settled.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A SRR N

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.18Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it
is probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the Group has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2023

2

RREERBERESTEE 2

2.18 BVER MR FE P15 7 (48)

(b)

EEFTSHL(F)
ELEFEHEEERAERR
RERNCEAD A A S LR
ZF N ERER -

fisd 75 2% B) B 42 ) 3 ] T s 2 5
MEEEZEZEAETER
AR R BEE - BT E R EIN
B EAREEREVEZ BN
ERZERAEEHERER

BRRETITRN A E B
HEERAEBEERE  HELTH
TR KA — ISR
AR RERREERBEER
K - EAKERETAH
TTHEMIR 3E M Bt RS A R
HRRARBREENEERE
B HBEEERRAAR
EREH

BIHR R B SE TR TR a5 FE R -
HEER A2 s FER
REERNBERBRERI
FRIERT - BT D IR E
b2 o E RN TR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contined)

T

B MR M T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect
of employees’ services up to the end of the
reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Other long-term employee benefit obligations

The liabilities for annual leaves are not expected to
be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of
the period in which the employees render the
related service. They are therefore measured as
the present value of expected future payments to
be made in respect of services provided by
employees up to the end of the reporting period
using the projected unit credit method.
Consideration is given to expected future wage and
salary levels, experience of employee departures
and periods of service. Expected future payments
are discounted using market yields at the end of
the reporting period of high-quality corporate
bonds with terms and currencies that match, as
closely as possible, the estimated future cash
outflows. Remeasurements as a result of
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognised in profit or 10ss.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position
if the entity does not have an unconditional right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months after
the reporting period, regardless of when the actual
settlement is expected to occur.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A SRR N

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19Employee benefits (continued)

(c)

(d)

Post-employment obligations

The Group operates defined contribution plans
which are available for all employees in the PRC
and Overseas offices, where applicable

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the
PRC are members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the government of the
PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions under the schemes. During both
current and prior years, the total amounts
contributed by the Group to the scheme and
charged to the profit or 10ss represent contributions
paid/payable to the scheme by the Group at rate
specified in the rules of the scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before the
normal retirement date, or when an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a)
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits; and (b) when the entity
recognises costs for a restructuring that is within
the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment of
terminations benefits. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the
number of employees expected to accept the offer.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the
end of the reporting period are discounted to
present value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e REE®

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2 mRBUEERERSTBER@®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20Share-based payments 2.20 B EEREAT 3R

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

The Group operates an equity-settled share-based
compensation plan, under which the entity receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options, shares and convertible bonds) of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options, shares
and convertible bonds is recognised as an expense with
a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value
of the options granted:

o including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining as an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting conditions
(for example, the requirement for employees to
save or holding shares for a specified period of
time).

Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over
the vesting period, which is the period over which all of
the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

After vesting, when the share options are forfeited prior
to the expiry date or are not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in the “share option
reserve” will be transferred to the “Retained earnings”
within the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

T a

B R M e

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.20Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions
(Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the entity revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
vest based on the non-marketing vesting conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated income statement,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital (nominal value) and share premium.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T

B MR M T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.21Revenue recognition

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

(a) Transportation service, warehousing service
and in-plant logistics service

Transportation service represents delivery of the
customers’ inventory to their downstream clients,
manufacturing plants and/or designated locations.
The transportation services cover across the PRC
and Egypt.

Warehousing service represents provision of
inventory storage and management services in the
Group's warehouses located in the PRC with
specified physical conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A SRR N

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

(b)

Transportation service, warehousing service
and in-plant logistics service (Continued)

In-plant logistics service represents provision of
wide-range of in-house services at customers’
manufacturing plants to integrate the production
processes, which cover the management of the
movements of (a) production materials and
components and work-in progress to the
production lines within the manufacturing plants of
the customers of the Group; and (b) delivery of
finished goods to the factory gates of the relevant
customers deployed by staff of the Group at its
customers’ manufacturing plants.

Revenue from the from the provision of the
transportation service, warehousing service and in-
plant logistics service is recognised over time when
the Group provides the services and all of the
benefits are received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer throughout its
contract period. Thus, the Group satisfies a
performance obligation and recognised revenue
over time and the Group has present right to
payment.

Customisation service

Customisation service represents provision of
labelling services (i.e. sticking labels onto the
surface of the inventory according to customers’
instructions) and the bundling services (i.e. bundling
the inventory to facilitate handling and
transportation) generally provided inside the
Group'’s warehouses.

Revenue from customisation service is recognised
at a point in time when the customers accept the
services and the Group has present right to
payment and collection of the consideration is
probable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T

B MR M T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21Revenue recognition (continued)

(c)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the
Group reduces the carrying amount to its
recoverable amount, being the estimated future
cash flow discounted at the original effective
interest rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest
income on impaired loans is recognised using the
original effective interest rate.

2.22Earnings per share

(@

(b)

Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

o the profit attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares

o by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year and excluding
treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used
in the determination of basic earnings per share to
take into account:

o the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares, and

. the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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AU HREM T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed. As a practical
expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group
reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets (such as tablets
and personal computers, small items of office furniture
and telephones). Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

2 BT AR M S

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are deprecated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term. The Group presents right-of-use
assets as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

RREERBERETEHE 2

223ME &)

FEEERERA(E)
EAEEE
EREEENKAEEE

s HERBZUNFIEDE:

. R4 B BA sk 2 Al E 89 E fm
MEMF RERNEREER
=

. NEEEERFADEBEER
VNS

s AKERFKRFERBE
E ERBEEEMESLE
EREBEEEHENGERE
BRI P AR E RO B b S EE A
HIRRAS ©

AR A M T N A R 2
B REHEHEEEMBEENERES
BRI A BEERERFRHER
FrEtiRiT e - HEMBRT @ EA%
BERBRENEGHAERFHR
THEI(ABIEE HE) NFHRITE - K
SERERE PR R AR EBEE
EERWIIAR -

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH

175



176

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.23Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option
to terminate the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

2 BT AR M S

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

J the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.23Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

J the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentive receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use assets. When the modified contract
contains one or more additional lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component. The
associated non-lease components are included in the
respective lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wontinues
R A IS RR N

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23Leases (continued)

RREERBERETEHE 2

223ME &)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform,
the Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure
the lease liabilities by discounting the revised lease
payments using the unchanged discount rate, unless the
change in lease payments results from a change in
floating interest rates. In that case, the Group uses the
revised discount rate that reflects change in the interest
rate and makes a corresponding adjustment to the
related right-of-use assets. A lease modification is
required by interest rate benchmark reform if, and only if,
both of these conditions are met:

o the modification is necessary as a direct
consequence of interest rate benchmark reform;
and

o the new basis for determining the lease payments
is economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e.
the basis immediately preceding the modification).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

T a

BRI

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.24Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised as
a liability in the consolidated financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company'’s shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

Dividend proposed or declared after the reporting period
but before the consolidated financial statements are
authorised for issue, are disclosed as a non-adjusting
event and are not recognised as a liability at the end of
the reporting period.

2.25Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value when there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all the
attached conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.26Related parties

@)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(0)

(if)

(i)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

b2 A B SR R B SEon

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.26Related parties (continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides personnel services
to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea)
& Bl R M aE e

T

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including price, foreign exchange and
interest rate), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effect on the Group's financial
performance.

(@) Market risk

0]

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the fair value of the
Group's financial assets at FVPL will fluctuate
as a result of changes in significant
unobservable input as stated in Note 3.3(a),
whether those changes are caused by factors
specific to the individual investment or factors
affecting all instruments in the market.

In arriving at the fair value of the financial
assets at FVPL , the Group may use valuation
technigues which require the estimation of
key variables. Details of the valuation method
and the sensitivity analysis for the possible
impact given a reasonable shift in the key
variable are set out in Note 3.3.

The Group holds monetary assets or liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, which can
be affected by currency fluctuations and
expose to currency risks.

The Group currently does not have foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the
management closely monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontines
AR E N e

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 SEEKRERE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 RREREZR@®)
(@) Market risk (Continued) (@) WERE(E)
(i) Price risk (Continued) W EmEEE)
The Group’s currency risk is mainly AEENEERREZ
attributable to exposure on outstanding bank EERUAREEEEY
balances, trade receivables, and trade BEEB NN BT A
payables that are denominated in currencies REWRITHESR BES
other than functional currency of the entities JEWFRIB LA R & 5 FE
within the Group. The currencies giving rise HIER R o ZE £ R
to this risk are primarily United States dollar BrEYEEAETL([E
("USD"). b DI
The following table details the Group’'s TRFVWAEER RS
exposure at the end of the reporting period to BR AT FG AR B 2
currency risk arising from recognised assets e BB I B &
or liabilities denominated in a currency other BENERREEL ARG
than the functional currency of the entity to FIEENEERR - 3t
which they relate. For presentation purposes, 27msE - RRaeiEN
the amounts of the exposure are shown in ARES|R  WHEASF
RMB, translated using the spot rate at the HEHEEERIRE o
year end date.
Exposure to foreign
currencies (expressed in RMB)
SRR (UARREES)
2023 2022
2023 2022
United United
States States
Dollars Dollars
ET ETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREEFIT
Trade and other receivables B 5 R HE el E 6,383 9,590
Cash and cash equivalents B RASEEY 4,209 9,739
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAM R = (3,858)
Net exposure arising from EEREENRABBEEN
recognised assets and SRR
liabilities 10,592 15,471
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A

B MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3 EEERERE#)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 eRtREREZRE@®
(@) Market risk (Continued) (a) TWHEEE(E)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (i)  SMEEE
The following table details the Group’'s TRFAWAEEHAR
sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in MHBEINEEART
RMB against the relevant foreign currencies. X 5% BV BURAE © 5% K
5% represents management’s assessment of EEBHINEEERSIE
the reasonably possible change in foreign A EE B B A T Ml o B
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis EAmEREREEN
includes only outstanding foreign currency BatEE®EE - R
denominated monetary items and adjusts ¥ 25 B R 5t 5% ) SN EE (&
their translation at the end of the reporting TSP HELGE - MU
period for a 5% change in foreign currency TEHEERTWERAMN
rates. A negative number below indicates an AR S ABBEINE A
increase in post-tax loss for the reporting 5%+ Bl B FX 1% &5 18 15
period where RMB strengthens 5% against hne il AR N AR E ok
the relevant foreign currency. For a 5% BEBZE 5% » RIBRTL 18 3
weakening of RMB against the relevant BESHEERERTE -
foreign currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the post-tax results.
2023 2022
2023 2022
Effect on Effect on
Increase/ results Increase/ results
(decrease) after  (decrease) after
in foreign tax and in foreign tax and
exchange equity exchange equity
rate RMB’'000 rate RMB'000
53578 CRIRES
BER BER
HesERE REEF SN [ REBRBF
i+ g HRE A o
(THR) AE®TXT (TR) ARBFT
usD e 5% 442 5% 646
(5%) (442) (5%) (646)
HREARZEREBERAT/ —T =558 185



186

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

AR

A BTSN o

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily
from cash at banks, loans receivable,
contingent consideration payable for business
combination and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings. Borrowings issued at fixed
rate and variable rates expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk and cash flow
interest rate risk respectively.

In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the interest income derived from
the bank balances is insignificant and the
Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis is performed.

The Group has not used any financial
instrument to hedge the interest rate risk that
it is exposed to currently. However, the
management of the Group monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the
need arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

2 BT AR M S

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)
(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

3 SHEEKREE®
31 eREkEEZE@E)
(@) TBEER ()
(i) FIEm (F)

(i) Interest rate profile (i FIEHR
The Group's interest rate profile as REBEEEER
monitored by management is set out ZREBRE S 50
below: N
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate rate
% RMB’000 % RMB'000

ER#AE%) ARBTE EBEAX®% ARETE

Fixed rate financial E 8 &R I &

instruments
Loans receivable e E K 6%-12% 46,192 6%—12% 57,221
Contingent REKEHEES

consideration ErE]

payable for business

combination 4.75% (8,115) Nil 4% -
Other borrowings HibfE 6% (2,915) Nil % -

35,162 57,221

Variable rate FEEMIA

financial

instruments
Bank loans RITER 8.92% (49,687) Nil 4= -
Net exposure RB%BH (14,525) 57,221

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2023, it is estimated
that a general increase/decrease of 50
basis point in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would
increase/decrease the Group's post-tax
loss and accumulated losses by
approximately RMB186,000 (2022:
RMBNil).

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change
in interest rates had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest
rate risk for financial instruments in
existence at that date. The 50 basis
point increase or decrease represents
management’'s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the period until the end of
the next annual reporting period. The
analysis is performed on the same basis
for 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
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B TREM T

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 ERREKREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 eRRREZR@E)
(b) Credit risk (b) FERRE
Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The EERBRIRESEEEE - K
Group's credit risk primarily arises from trade SENEERBREIEREES
receivables, loan and interest receivable, deposits, FEWRIE - BIRE R RFIE
other receivables, amount due from a non- & - HMERRIE - EUGE
controlling shareholder and cash deposited at TRR AR SR SRIB R IRITIF R © i
banks. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit HFITRBEERRERBITE
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group in EE AAEERSEEER
the event of the counterparties failure to perform CTREEMESSERAEE
their obligations as at the end of the reporting EXVKEBEENESEERR
period in relation to each class of recognised AZEEAEMNER@E  HHm
financial assets is the carrying amount of these N
assets which are stated as follows:
2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBEFT
Trade receivables Z S WA 39,913 26,508
Other receivables H b FEUFRIAR 1,082 1,417
Loan and interest receivables JEURE SRR F B 46,192 58,587
Rental deposits Hekse 5,710 9,785
Deposit in relation to investment in 32 AFEzH AIEZRH
financial asset at FVTPL é%ﬂﬁ?&%*@ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ - 6,898
Amount due from a non-controlling & U FE42 B A% 5 74
shareholder 32,121 -
Cash deposited at banks FHRRITHERS 77,989 55,493
203,007 158,688
SREREREBERAT/ — T - =FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A SRR N

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, management is
responsible for the determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue trade receivables. Normally, the Group
does not hold any collateral over trade receivables.
In addition, individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. Trade receivables
are generally due within 0 to 150 days (2022: 0 to
150 days) from the date of billing.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk from
trade receivables from certain customers. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, the top customer
accounted for approximately 39% (2022: 32%) of
the Group's revenue. As at 31 December 2023, 16%
(2022: 47%) and 45% (2022: 65%) of the total trade
debtors was due from the largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group's historic credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
A B T RERM s

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

Based on the historic data, current conditions and
the Group's view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the trade receivables, the
directors of the Company have considered the
credit risk of trade receivables and note that there
was no actual loss nor significant past due
experience over the past 3 years, including periods
of unfavourable economic conditions. The directors
consider the aggregate risks arising from the
possibility of credit loss on trade receivables is not
significant and no allowance for credit losses were
made as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Loan and interest receivables

The Group manages and analyses the credit risk for
each of their new borrowers before making loans
to them and offering the terms and conditions. The
directors of the Company would evaluate the credit
quality of the borrower by assessing the identity,
background, financial position, purpose of
borrowings, etc. The Group may request for
collateral after granting the loan, if necessary. Over
the terms of the loans, management of the Group
accounts for its credit risk by appropriately
providing for ECLs on a timely basis by reference to
each of the borrower’s financial capabilities and
their repayment history, and adjust with current
and forward looking economic conditions. As at 31
December 2023, the outstanding loan receivables
were from the loans made to seven (2022: eight)
third parties. All the loan and interest receivable
balances were not past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A SRR N

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan and interest receivables (Continued)

The management has reviewed those borrowers
with strong capacity to meet the contractual cash
flow and satisfactory repayment history. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that
aggregate risks arising from the possibility of credit
losses are not significant and no allowance for
credit losses were made as at 31 December 2023
and 2022.

Bank balances

The credit risk on deposits with banks is limited
because the counterparties are several reputable
and creditworthy banks. Management does not
expect any losses from non-performance by these
banks and financial institutions as they have no
default history in the past. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of cash at bank is assessed to be
immaterial and no provision was made as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, management
makes periodic collective assessments as well as
individual assessment on the recoverability of
deposits and other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience. Those
balances are assessed by the management of the
Group as low risk of default with no any indicator to
trigger a significant increase in credit risk nor
deterioration of credit quality, since the relevant
counterparties have strong capacity to meet the
contractual cash flow.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2023

3 EEERERE#)
31 eptRRAEAZEE)

(b)

FEERK (&)

JEWEFRFIE ()
EIEECEHNZSHEENRR
BB ERERS ARBER
REMERA ARAEER
B EEBETREEENR
BRI TEA - #2023 4F
2022912 A31 B I & 7L 2
EE Bt R B -

RITHESR
RITERNEERRER - R
ARHF I RZREBRIN
R1T - ARRFRIT S B
BBEYEBOLCE  HERE
EEBTERZERITRER
BETEOMELTMERS -
Bt - RITRENTAHREES
BEREFHEASTER BR
20234 [k 2022F 12 A31 8 I
BRI -

Za KA M ER IR
LR AT ERIES B
EEFERESME - B2

EREATEECHEIBEL
SBE SRS R A UK
B R U B 1T SR R AT I (B
RFHE - ZEEBBAEEE
BREMFAAKEORR A&
EEEEREERRBEE
MEREEERRL  RARA
MR HHFHEBRENRES

MBEERE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T

B TREM T

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

3 EEERERE#)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 eRRREZR@E)
Liquidity risk (c) REBELEAK
With prudent liquidity risk management, the Group REEREMETRDE SR
aim to maintain sufficient cash and cash RER BEAKFATNES
equivalents and ensure the availability of funding MEeESEMRERITBEBRR
through an adequate amount of available financing. TRESENGEAIRESR K
It is the policy of the Group to regularly monitor SENSHATHEEEN R
current and expected liquidity requirements and to TBERESESF R - WHERE
ensure that adequate funding is available for BRAMESIANREE 1§
operating, investing and financing activities. BERBEEE -
The table below analyses the Group’s non- TRETAEENIEITETE
derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity BE - RREBEND EER
groupings based on the remaining period at the BERREARZEARIEHA
end of the reporting period to the contractual RO R BRI T D AT - FER A
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table BENSERE N RMIRD
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. WEME °
At 31 December 2023 7#2023%12HA31H
More than ~ More than Total
Within 1yearbut  2yearshut contractual
1year or less than less than undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5years  cash flows amount
BEXY Bl1E Bl2E Ll
R1ER BFR2%E EFR5E RekEwE BEE
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEWTT AEWTFT ABRTT ABRTT AEWTT
Trade and other payables EHREMERTE 46,997 - - 46,997 46,997
Bank and other borrowings MEEEXERGANET
subject to a repayment on REMER
demand clause 52,602 - - 52,602 52,602
Lease liabiliies BEEE 7,063 4,867 17,615 29,545 25,489
Amount due to a director [ERESZE 4,581 - - 4,581 4,581
Contingent consideration ABAEASARE
payable for business
combination - 9,000 - 9,000 8,115
111,243 13,867 17,615 142,725 137,784
SREREREEARAR/ —T = =FFif
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

()

3 sEEARERE#)
3.1 erEREZE)

Liquidity risk (Continued) (o) RBELEKE)
At 31 December 2022 2022124318
More than More than Total
Within 1 year but 2 years but contractual
1year or less than lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5years cash flows amount
BRELHY BRE BR2E  ANAUMR
RMER EAm2E EARSE  BRERELE REE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT N S NS S ARBTT  ARETR
Trade and other payables B o REMERNTIE 24973 - - 24973 24973
Lease liabilities HEBE 3,664 3,282 1,150 8,056 7,592
Amount due to a director ENESTUE 2,338 - - 2,388 2,388
31,025 3242 1,150 35417 34,953

The following table summarises the maturity
analysis of term loans with a repayable on demand
clause based on agreed scheduled repayments as
set out in the loan agreements. The amounts
include interest payments computed using
contractual rates. As a result, these amounts were
greater than the amounts disclosed in the “on
demand” time band in the maturity analysis
contained as above. Taking into account the
Group's financial position, the Group does not
consider that it is probable that the lenders will
exercise its discretion to demand immediate
repayment. The Group believes that such term
loans will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 REREE®)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 erEREEE)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) () RBELEAKE)

Maturity Analysis — Term loans subject to a repayable on
demand clause based on scheduled repayments
HYB A — ENHRREHHERIEEXRERTOR

Total More than ~ More than

contractual 1yearhut  2years but
undiscounted Within less than lessthan ~ More than
cash flows 1year 2 years 5 years 5 years

Leed Bi81%F Bild2g
HekEdd 1%5R BFE2% BRRESE Bil5%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
N1 S ARRFT ABRTT ABRTR ABRTR
At 31 December 2023 R0BE12A318 69,701 12,764 14,558 21,607 20,772

3.2 Capital risk management 32 BEARRAREIE
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to AEBMNEAEEER  2RESEE

safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt plus net new debts.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio, which is expressed as a percentage of net debt
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as the sum
of bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities, amount
due to a director and contingent consideration payable
for business combination less the sum of cash and cash
equivalents. Total capital represents equity attributable
to owners of the Company as shown on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

RREELE - URMBEIRELHM
REMPAEREN D - RNESR
ENEREBOREE SR -

RTHISRBPRELRERE  AEEA
BEERHEXNTRROBRSEE @
BRREEAR  BITHBRAHEERE
VAR TS N B 75588 o

AEBRBEEABREREER
MEEREBEXLSABEFERNELR
BAEADL - AEFEDRRET
REM HEAE  BNEEFAR
EBAFRNIARBAIRRE R
ReSEWRNGERE - AL
RIEAMBRRAKRAIINARBHEE
AFEIEHERS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

b2 A B SR R B SEon

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

(@) Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value

The table below analyses financial instruments
carried at fair value, by level of the inputs to
valuation technigues used to measure fair value.
Such inputs are categorised into three levels within
a fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices

included within level 1 that are
observable for the assets or liabilities,
either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liabilities that
are not based on observable market
data (that is, unobservable inputs).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continues
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(@

Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s financial
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value
at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

SRIEREE®)
3 A EGER @)
(@) BAFEFENSMEERS
&)

TEREY A S BER2023F &
202212 A3 HE A FE

ENeREERAR -
Level 3
E3k
2023 2022
2023 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBETT

Financial assets SREE

4,580 6,093

Financial liabilities SERBE

8,115 -

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3.

—IERZIREAH ABIEYL
FREAERTIHER - Al
ERMTAIIAEIR -

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH

197



198
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(@) Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (Continued)

The following table provides the information about

cREREE &)
NEEHE )

(@) BRAFEFENESWMEERSE

&(#&)

TREHBRAFIAR

F

Level 3 fair value measurements: ENER :
Relationship
of key inputs
Valuation and significant
2023 02 techniques Significant unobservable
283%F M and  unobservable inputs to Rate/ Sensitivity of fair
RMB'000 RMB'000 Key inputs inputs fair value range value to the input(s)
TERANS
REXFA
fERTR EXTUHE BREANE
AERFE  AR¥TR TERANS BARE HATENRE  bE/8E LFEHRABRNHBE
Financial assets
SMEE
Unlisted investment 4,580 6,093 Income Discount for Higher the 169% 5% increase/(decrease)
approach future cashflow rate of discount in the discount rate of
(2022: income forecast lower the fair value future cashflow forecast
approach) and vice versa would resultin
(decrease)/increase
in fair value of
approximately RMB139,000
and RMB144,000 respectively
FLHRE WAE FRRERE YRERR FRREREEN
(022% : Y A%) R BIATERDE ﬁsw%/ (TH)5%
R HERRTESRI(RD)/
m %@AE% 139,007 %
AR 144,000
Discount for Higher discount 15.69% 5% increase/(decrease)
lack of rate of lack of in the discount rate of
marketability marketability, [ack of marketability
lower the fair value would resutin (decrease)/
and vice versa increase in fair value of
approximately RMB41,000
and RMBA4,000 respectively
RZTERAL AR ik :hid R HERRL
) ERERE BRE LR /(TH)5%
BIATEDE BARSBATE(RD)/
Rz EMAIAREN,0007 R
AR 44,0007
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 TREREE®

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 RFEME @
(@) Financial assets and liabilities measured at (@) RAFEFENESREERE
fair value (Continued) &(&E)
The following table provides the information about TREMEBEIR N TER
Level 3 fair value measurements: (Continued) EMER : (B)
Relationship
of key inputs
Valuation and significant
2023 2022 techniques Significant unobservable
20235 A0E and  unobservable inputs to Rate/ sensitivity of fair
RMB'000 RMB'000 Key inputs inputs fair value range value to the input(s)
TERARE
REXFH
fhERER EXTURR BEAARE
ABRTT  ARETR TERARE BARE HATENBE  te/EE LTEHRANENRBE

Financial liabilities

SMAR
Contingent 8,115 - Discounted Discount rate Higher the 4.75% 5% increase/(decrease)
consideration payable cash flow used to derive rate of discount inthe discount rate of
forbusiness the discounted lower the fair value future cashflow forecast
combination cash flow and vice versa would resultin
(decrease)/increase
in fair value of
approximately RMB23,000
and RMB23,000 respectively
EBAHNENSARE ERASR BRERR ERERE iRtk i
RERMERE BIATERE BRE A /(TH)5%
Rz BARSBATE (D)
EMAARE 23,0007 R
ARH23,00070
Net income Lower netincome, ~ RMB1,990,000 5% increase/(decrease)
used to derive lower the fair value to in the net income of
the discounted andvice versa - RMB5,149,000 future cashflow forecast
cash flow would result in increase/

(decrease) in fair value of
approximately RMB25,000 and

RMB243,000 respectively
FRTERR BRARE AE® Mﬁéfﬁﬁﬂ! HERA
ReRMEHA ARTERE . 190000LE o/ (TR Shis 5 7le

R2 7% AR% NFEEN /Q%)%@AE%
5,149,000 T 25000 RARE 243000

SEEREREBARAT / —T- =458 199
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(@

Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the directors of the
Company determined the fair value of contingent
consideration payable for business combination
which was determined using discounted cash flow
method to capture the present value of the
expected future cash outflows of the acquired
group as detail in Note 33. The fair value
measurement is negatively related to the discount
rate used, i.e. an increase in discounted rate used
in isolation would result in a decrease in the fair
value measurement, and vice versa. Conversely,
the fair value measurement is positively related to
the probability-adjusted revenue and profit of
above-mentioned acquired group, i.e. an increase
in probability-adjusted revenue and profit in
isolation would result in an increase in the fair
value measurement, and vice versa.

As at 31 December 2023, the directors of the
Company updated their assessment of the fair
value of the unlisted equity investment, which was
determined using the income approach as it is
considered as a better estimation of the future
economic benefits derived from the unlisted
investment. In this approach, the discounted cash
flows method was used to capture the present
value of the expected future economic benefits to
be derived from the equity ownership of this
unlisted shares.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(@

(b)

3 SREARERE®
3 N EMBE )

Financial assets and liabilities measured at (@) RAFEFENESREERE
fair value (Continued) &(&E)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 TR 25 EE 2023 F & 2022
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2023 FNRANBUEFEZEFIRT
and 2022 Bg) -
2023 2022
2023 2022 5
Contingent
consideration
payable for
Unlisted business Unlisted
investment combination investment
EBaHm
ELHRE EfRRKRE FLEMERE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR®TT ARETT
At 1 January ®n1A1H 6,093 = 6,000
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33)  UxEE K B A &l (A2 33) - (8,052) -
Changes in fair value recognised in - B2 B2
profit or loss DNFEZE (1,513) (63) 93
At 31 December R12A318 4,580 (8,115) 6,093
Unrealised (loss)/gain recognised in - PR IER M A EE
profit or l0ss and included other (B#8),/ WSt AZ
income, gains and losses, net WA WS R EESE (1,513) (63) 93
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (b) YWHEAFEINRNERMEE

carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost were
not materially different from their fair values as at
31 December 2023 and 2022.

HEENATE

20234 2 20224F12 A318 -
I 6 B 9 B AN S S B AR B BR
HemITEMEREHEEQYT
B EmERESR o

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

b2 A B SR R B SEon

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

(@ Impairment of non-financial assets other
than goodwill

Right-of-use assets is stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise
judgement and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset
(including the right-of-use assets), the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs, including allocation of corporate
assets when a reasonable consistent basis of allocation
can be established, otherwise recoverable amount is
determined at the smallest group of cash-generating
units, for which the relevant corporate assets have been
allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the
cash flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of right-
of-use assets subject to impairment assessment were
RMB2,846,000 (2022: RMBNIl), after taking into account
the impairment losses of RMB2,846,000 (2022: RMBNIl) in
respect of right-of-use assets that have been recognised
respectively. Details of the impairment of right-of-use
assets is disclosed in note 15.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2023

4

B S o4 ET R H

AEt RAB Y REBELREEMRAE (R
EBERBBERATHRREMELBRAAE
R TRE) EITISERT A -

AEBEARREL BT RRR - GFHEE
BR BREE BIEARERERNA
R o TXFmEEA A EEBUAY T EM
BEEMNEENRABENREEELEAS
Emfhat RR&

(@ SFE@EE(BERKRIN W
BB
1 AR B E R A A TORR Rt T E MR
BE(WA)IK - HETEERSRE
- RNEBERERAB L FLRE
LERFE:(WRECHLEFREY
LEEBENEHREMER: Q)
AkEeE(HAERER  ARE
REFEEREEMMGF RARRSRE
MIREFRR) D SRR REENR
B R Q@ hE A e & 56
AMEERRRR(BRRSAER
RNBERRIRE) - BHEEMFHE R
BEBRERBEEE) MAIKRE S
B AEEASEEREEMESR
SELABUNAINESHE  BFRER
HESE R~ DR EER DD
XEE BATREeRRRC AR
DECEEENREELENT/)D
HET - B RETRN T ERBRR
EEH(BRMBRERFERR)NED
AR MM e RELERY
o,

MR2023F12 A31H - BHEITHRERT
HEHEAEEEREAEAARKE
2,846,0007T (20224 + AREEZTT) -
KETREEROEREEERRRE
B8 A R 2,846,000 7T (2022 4F :© A
REZx) FABEEREFBER
BIEE 153858 o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T

B MR M T

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continueq)

()

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions and
interpretation of tax rules in various jurisdictions. The
Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions
and tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax
treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in respective
tax legislation.

Deferred tax assets/liabilities are recognised for tax
losses not yet utilised, taxable temporary differences
arising from revaluation of investment properties and
other deductible or taxable temporary differences. As
those deferred tax assets can only be recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future profit will be available
against which the unused tax loss can be utilised,
management'’s judgement is required to assess the
probability of future taxable profits. Management's
assessment is constantly reviewed and additional
deferred tax assets are recognised only if it becomes
probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred
tax asset to be recovered.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group considers the ECLs of trade receivables are
based on management’s estimate of the lifetime ECLS
which is taking into account the historical loss
experience, ageing of overdue trade receivables,
customers’ repayment history, customers’ financial
position and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions, all of which
involve a significant degree of management judgement.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continueq)

(©)

Impairment of trade receivables (continued)

The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and of forecast general economic
conditions. The information about the ECLs and the
Group's trade receivables are disclosed in notes 3.1(b)
and 18 respectively. If the financial condition of the
customers or the forecast economic conditions were to
deteriorate, actual loss allowance would be higher than
estimated.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of trade
receivables was RMB39,913,000 (2022: RMB26,508,000).
Based on the management’s best estimates, no provision
for ECLs of trade receivables were recognised during the
both years.

Impairment of loan and interest receivables

The measurement of impairment of loan and interest
receivables requires judgement and estimation on the
amount and timing of future cash flows with, in particular,
assessment of the collateral values, if any, and a
significant increase in credit risk. During the judgement
process, the impairment of loan and interest receivables
is assessed on 12-month ECLs basis as there has been
no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the receivables, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs. In measuring whether the credit risk of receivables
has increased significantly, the management has taken
into accounts occurrence of default event, expected
future cash flows and both the current and forecast
general economic conditions.

The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECLs and the
Group's loan and interest receivables are disclosed in
Notes 3.1(b) and 18 respectively. As at 31 December
2023, the carrying amount of loan and interest
receivables was RMB46,192,000 (2022: RMB58,587,000).
Based on the management’s estimates, no provision for
ECLs of loan and interest receivables were recognised
during the both years.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continueq)

©)

Fair value of Level 3 financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position cannot be derived from active markets,
their fair value is determined using valuation techniques
including income approach and discounted cash flow
model. The inputs to these models are taken from
observable markets where possible, but where this is not
feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing
fair values. The judgements include considerations of
inputs such as discount rate, risk-free interest rate,
volatility and probability. Changes in assumptions about
these factors could affect the reported fair value of
financial instruments (including financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss and contingent consideration
payable for business combination).

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operating segments, which also represent the
Group’s reportable segments, are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision-maker of
the Group, who has been identified as the executive directors
of the Company. Chief operating decision-maker reviews the
Group's internal reports in order to assess performance,
allocate resources and determine the operating segments.

The Group is organised into business units based on their
products and services and has four reportable operating
segments as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Transportation service;

Warehousing service;

In-plant logistics service; and

Customisation service.
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EEVHE - s FHEBE AR
ERRANE  RBRRBREEHAE
WEE - ZEHEEBRRNBARES
TESRITA(BREATERAE
HOTREENRPESHEMNIAR
B) MEHNRFE -

) %

2 EBE
AEBZQEDBIEARBEZAIREDE
TDERRETIDRARAFNTEENAR
KETBRLERRENENMEE - T2
LERREBHAAEE 2ARME - AR
HEE  TRERREBELED -

AREBEIRBERNRTEE D EB BT
BLATOE R 2 ML &0 a6 -

() EBR

(i  ARERT

(i) BAMRRYE &

(v)  ERRF -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)
SRR M sE e

T E

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Reportable segment results represent the profit or loss resulted
by each segment and exclude interest income from bank and
other deposits, loan receivables and bond measured at
amortised cost, interest expenses on bank and other
borrowings, fair value change of financial assets at FVPL and
contingent consideration payable for business combination,

5 oHER®E)

S -

A2MBEDMEEEZTDH
NEFERITREMFR

KA AT ENEZOF WA
fEﬁ&EﬁM
ABENEHEENRD
HENEIARE  ARRDEEELAR

RN

B TA

BEE A RO F)E
R ERE

BRFER
RHEEBREBE

and unallocated corporate income and expenses. & -
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from T AEREEZYHE DTG LK
contracts with customers and results by segment: SES-vox i
Year ended 31 December 2023 #FE2023F12831HILLEE
In-plant
Transportation  Warehousing logistics Customisation
service service service service Total
ERRE 11t B RE ERERE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTT ARRTT AR®TT AR®TRT AR®TT
Segment revenue: WG
Sales to external customers  $4MFREHHE 50,335 19,276 62,932 1,338 133,881
Segment results DEMER 10,256 (30,705) 14,127 (377) (6,699)
Interest income frombank ~ $FTEZFEMA
deposits 1,052
Interest income fromloan ~ EWEFFBMA
receivables 4,478
Unrealised loss on fair value — #&/A (BT AJB25H)
change of financial assets SRAENTE
atfvkL —— # SHNALEER (1,513)
Fair value change on EBAHNENRARE
contingent consideration ATEED
payable for business
combination (63)
Unallocated corporate income kA EMEWA 5,641
Unallocated corporate RAMEERT
exXpenses (36,302)
Loss before income tax BEERAIBE (33,406)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

b2 & BT IS SR B e

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 oBER@E
Year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued) #HE2023F12A3MHILEE (&)
In-plant
Transportation Warehousing logistics  Customisation
service service service service Unallocated Total
ERikE 18] B R ERRE *EPE @i
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
N 4 AE®TR AERTR AE®TR AE®TR AE®TT
Other segment K HHEH -
information:
Amortisation of BVAESH
intangible assets 27 - - - - 27
Depreciation of property, %1% - BE R
plant and equipment B 214 131 - - 1,292 1,637
Depreciation of FRESENE
right-of-use assets - 2,496 - - 1,356 3,852
Gain on disposal of LENE  BRER
property, plant and B
equipment - 485 - - - 485
Impairment of FRREERE
right-of-Use assets - 2,846 - - - 2,846

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontines
AR E N e

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 2EER @
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from UTAAEEZRSBEDNEP G LW
contracts with customers and results by segment: (Continued) NMEEDNT - ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE202F12A31HILFE
In-plant
Transportation Warehousing logistics Customisation
service service service service Total
BaR% RERRE BRI RS 2R it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFL ARBTT ARBFL ARETFT ARBFT
Segment revenue: SHEE
Sales to external customers  HOMBEPHEE 73,127 34,465 69,071 2,820 179,483
Segment results PBER 8,900 (1,281) 13492 383 21,494

Interestincome frombank 877755 F| 8 YA

deposits 801
Interest income from loan EWEZF 2 WA

receivables 1,344
Interestincome frombond ~ LAE SR AR 249

measured at amortised cost & &F BUMA 1,274

Unrealised gain onfair value s n st A dg 24
change of financial assets

e SRAEATELSDY
REBA %
Unallocated corporate income &2 B 2 A 3152
Unallocated corporate FAMEEFRT
expenses (29,208)
Loss before income tax B FT S AR (1,050
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

A

5

BB HRRN T

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 oBER@E
Year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued) HE202F12A318IEFE (&)
In-plant
Transportation Warehousing ogistics Customisation
service service service service Unallocated Total
EHRE BERE ke ERRHG FESE &t
RMB'000 RMB'OOO RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETTL ARETT ARETTL ARETT
Other segment Ht e
information:
Depreciation of property, %1% - B kBT E
plant and equipment 299 229 - - 767 1,295
Depreciation of FRELENE
right-of-use assets - 2746 - - 812 3,558
Loss on disposal of LENE  BER
property, plant and REEE
equipment - - - - 6 6
Segment assets and liabilities DHEEKREE
No segment assets and segment liabilities and other segment AR ERSBITREAEFRFELEERE

information are presented as such amounts are not reviewed
by the Group's chief operating decision-makers for the purpose
of resource allocation and performance assessment or
otherwise regularly provided to the Group’s chief operating
decision-makers.

Geographical information
The Group principally operates in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 96% (2022: 97%) of
the Group's revenue from external customers, based on the
operation location of respective customers, is derived from the
PRC.

ERMUNETERDELRBATHHEH
REMmMILARERIRH T AEE LT ELE
REE - MAEZIDHBEERDHAR
AR E M BREHL o

HEER

REBTERPRELES -

REZE2023F12A3MHIEFE  BES

BREFEWELIE  REBRAINIRP
U 25 89 96% (2022 5+ 97%) 2R E R -

SMEREREREEGRAT / — T =FFK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontines
AR E N e

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 oBERE
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) DEHEENMEE @)
Geographical information (Continued) HEER (F)
The Group’s non-current assets other than goodwill, deferred REBZRWIBEMNE (WABWE - BE &
income tax assets and financial instruments by geographical B FHREEE EFREENEEDMHE-
locations, which are determined by the geographical locations WEREEOHRBZS  AIREEMTZ
in which the asset is located in the case of property, plant and HWIBMNEEE)EOMIERDEE (TRE
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and deposit in BE ELMEHEERSRITE) T :
relation to purchase of property, plant and equipment are as
follows:
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Non-current assets JEMBNEE
The PRC F 62,380 9,195
Hong Kong BB 11 1,820
62,391 11,015
Information about major customers ERTERFPHER
Revenue from major customers, each of whom amounted to (A AREBWZEI0%HIA FHFTERF U
10% or more of the Group's revenues, is set out below: #HolmT -
2023 2022
2023 2022 4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBTT
Customer A ZEA 51,759 56,891
Customer B Z5EB 24,568 18,563
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

2 BT AR M S

6 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH

REFFEHHRE

CUSTOMERS

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with external

RASNEEF AN DT

customers
2023 2022
2023 2022 4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBT T
Revenue from contracts with ERMBHREENE 5%
customers within the scope HEAMNREEESHKES :
of HKFRS 15:
Recognised over time BE e R SR
— Transportation service — BRRB 50,335 73,127
— Warehousing service — BHR 19,276 34,465
— In-plant logistics service — RN AR 62,932 69,071
Recognised at a point in time NE R ZHER
— Customisation service — ERR 1,338 2,820
133,881 179,483

All revenue is for periods of one year or less. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these

unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

B ESE R —FRATHIR - MNEE
G REEFESRA A WEEED
FEEZFRBEITANNIHER -

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
AR E N e

7 OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7 HftltA - WEKEIEFE

2023 2022
20235 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTT AR¥TT

Income KA
Interest income from bank deposits SRITFEARF BULA 1,052 801
Interest income from bond measured at  LABE SRR A ET B HE ST EUA

amortised cost = 1,274
Interest income from loan receivables FEYE TR S A 4,478 1,344
Interest income from rental deposits HEZRSFEWHA 93 39
Government grants (Note) BT B (At aF) 1,020 594
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  BE kR EH KR

plant and equipment 485 -
Gain on early termination of lease REPLIERE W (HEE 150b))

(Note 15(b)) - 1
Gain on lease modification (Note 15(b)) MHE Bz (K5 150)) = "
Unrealised (loss)/gain on fair value change & A EFAEHFN S REE

of financial assets at FVPL NEEZBHRER

(E18), Wz (1,513) 93
Change in fair value on contingent ¥BAHREASARED

consideration payable for business NEEED)

combination (63) -
Net foreign exchange gains I& 5 U 25 58 3,258 2,558
Others HAh 785 123

9,595 6,838
Note: Bt
For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the amount mainly included HE2023F K2022F12A31BLEE  EASHEETE
government grants to the Group for retention of staff and value-added tax BRER/EEE T TASENBETER - L RREE
("VAT") credit granted under the VAT policy with no unfulfilled conditions R (BRI ) B TR E i MR R TE
attached before recognition. B A5 A S PR AR A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

/\‘/T\

B MR

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

8 EERIFAX(BEEEHE)

2023 2022
2023 §F 2022 4
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBT T

Fees, wages and salaries, and other e TERFS A NREMER
allowances 57,038 60,706
Contribution to defined contribution plans  EzB4E ka2 3k 9.706 9,942
66,744 70,648

Note:

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC
have to make contribution to staff retirement scheme managed by local
government authorities in accordance with the relevant rules and regulations.
Contributions to these schemes are charged to profit or loss as and when
incurred. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions.

The Company does not operate any other defined contribution
schemes, and as such, there is no forfeited contributions, nor
does the Company employ any actuary for defined benefit
plans.

20234 ] 2022412 A 31 B » AN S B 5 B AL 2 B BT
BAREZRBERARNDARAEBBAHMEENE
TRAGHEHR - BB BELOEFTNELERFA
BHHEARR - AREWESZ M BEIMERREREE R
e

AR E I R R R E A SRR HRET 8
FEut - BEEE ALY TIEERRE
B BB AEER -

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H

213



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continved)
& Bl R M e e

;\\IT\

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 EERANHX(BHEEEMS)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) ()
(Continued)
(@) Benefits and interest of directors (@) BN ESEER

(i) Directors’ emoluments iy ES=#M&

FENESTTHRAEHZE2023
EFNRANBILEENNEH

Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration for
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out

below: FanT
Salaries, Contribution
allowances to defined
and benefits  Discretionary  contribution
Fees in kind bonus plans Total
e MR ERHR
g Ehila BT HEHR a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TR AE®TR AERTR AE®TR AE®TT
Executive directors: HITEE -
Mr. Le Kang LREE 650 - - - 650
Mr. Li Jiahao* PRk 480 319 - 53 852
Mr. Li ial BENEE 480 325 - 53 858
Mr. Song Ruipeng (Note Vi) RImBe 4 (Fizt viii) - - - - .
Mr. Li Zhigang (Note vi) TR (Wit vii) 7 - - - 7
Mr. Du Yingyou (Note vi) AR (Witv) 291 - - - 291
Non-executive director; FRTEE
Mr. Du Yingyou (Note v) HREREE (Hrztvi) 50 - - - 50
Independent non-executive v ##HTEE :
directors:
Mr. Yu Chun Man REXEE 119 - - - 19
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick (note i) 2I@ R5 4 (B 108 = - - 108
Dr. Wang Yi (note i) THEL (M) 108 - - - 108
Mr. ChanKoon Yung (Notev) ~ BE B4 (Haty) 108 - - - 108
2,401 644 - 106 3,151
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea)
& Bl R M rE e

rE
8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 EERFABXX(BFEEEM=)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (&)
(Continued)
(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued) @ wHNEkEREZE
(i) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (i) EEMSHE)
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for EEERERTBAEBHZ
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out 2022412 A31 8 1 & & #) B
below: SR
Salaries, Contribution
allowances to defined
and benefits Discretionary contribution
Fees inkind bonus plans Total
¥4 2ER TRER
ik ENHE BB HELGE @i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL ARETFL ARETTL ARETFL ARETT
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. Le Kang LREE 618 - - - 618
Mr. Li Jiahao* BEEnE 430 346 - 51 877
Mr. Li Jiali REN%E 430 352 - 51 883
Mr. Song Ruipeng (note vii) s t £ (i vii) - - - - -
Non-executive director: HHTEE -
Mr. Du Yingyou (note vi) HBREE (W) 21 - - - 2
Independent non-executive  BUH7TEE -
directors:
Mr. Yu Chun Man REXEE 13 - - - 113
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick (note |) - ZI& R 4 (B3t 53 - - - 53
Dr. Wang i (note i) Tt () 2 - - - pal
Mr. Chan Koon Yung (Note V) R % & (Aiitv) 21 - - - 2
Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low (Note ij) 328/ MA(A13#1i) 3 - - - 53
Mr. Shao Wei (Note iv) MR (M) 2 69 - - )
Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek B (M)
(Note fv) 23 69 - - 92
1,906 836 - 102 2804
* Mr. Li Jiahao is the Chief Executive Officer. * REETERERRITE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
AR E N e

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

(Continued)

(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued)
(i) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(iii)

(vii)

(viii)

Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick has been appointed as
independent non-executive director on 28 June 2022.

Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low has resigned as independent non-
executive directors on 28 June 2022.

Dr. Wang Yi has been appointed as independent non-
executive director on 17 October 2022.

Mr. Shao Wei and Mr. Law Cho Kwan, Derek have resigned
as independent non-executive directors on 19 October
2022.

Mr. Chan Koon Yung has been appointed as independent
non-executive director on 19 October 2022.

Mr. Du Yingyou has been re-designated from a non-
executive director to an executive director on 19 June
2023.

Mr. Li Zhigang has been appointed as an executive director
on 9 December 2023.

Mr. Song Ruipeng has been removed as an executive
director on 9 December 2023.

None of the directors waived any emolument
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:

Nil).

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors of the Company as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contined)

T

8

B MR M T

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 EERAHEXX(EBHEEEME)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS) (%)

(Continued)

(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued) () wBFNMESER )

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

Directors’ retirement and termination
benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable
by any directors in respect of their other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking during
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

No payment was made to the directors as
compensation for early termination of the
appointment during the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

The Company did not pay consideration to any
third parties for making available directors’ services
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there
were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled body corporates and connected entities
of such directors (2022: Nil).

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

EERARALER

BZE2023F 12 A31BILFE -
BEESAREHABARRX
HKTE QR EHE RN EAMR
745 i Y B B e WU PR AR ) (2022
FE)

EHZE2023F 12 A31HILFE -
MEZERIREAIRIEZEmME
S E (20224 « ) ©

RERRESRBEOE=F1R
MR E
HZE2023F12A3MBILFE -
RARGEREIRBESRY
MM % =75 AR E (2022
Fim) e

FRUES EEZ40ZEE
REBEERASREANE
FHUERRAEMRENE
%
EHZE2023F 12 A3 ALEE -
BMEAES  EEEHEE
REHEEBRATEZANE
P BUERREAMZ SR
(20224 : &%) »
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontines
AR E N e

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 RFEEEMNBX(BREEE#M=)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (&)
(Continued)
(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued) @ wALESERE
(v) Directors’ material interests in transactions, (v) ESERRS ZHEREHHTH
arrangements or contracts BEAER
Save as disclosed in the Note 29, no significant BRHTFE29 T EE A SN - RELZE
transactions, arrangements and contracts in 2023F12ANBIEFEFRK
relation to the Group's business to which the AT RIBS I | T AN A Al sk
Company or any of the subsidiaries of the Company P N/NEIEE I Sy ) v
was a party and in which a director of the Group REBEXEB M SBERMAE
had a material interest, whether directly or EE=SaREEREEEARE
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any wmZRG B RE #2022
time during the year ended 31 December 2023 Fm) o
(2022: Nil).
(b) Five highest paid individuals b)) EEEEFMMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, hEZEFMATH - =5 (20224 :
three (2022: three) individuals are directors whose ZERIATHEES EMe K
emoluments are disclosed in note 8(a)(i). The aggregate B@)i) 1 F& o H A #& (20224 : M
of the emoluments in respect of the other two (2022: B)ATHBe@ENT

two) individuals are as follows:

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Wages and salaries Iﬁ&%ﬁé 1,933 1,906

Retirement benefit scheme RAREFFT BT
contribution - 11
1,933 1,917
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b2 & BT IS SR B e

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS)
(Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (continued)
The emoluments of the remaining 2 (2022: 2) highest paid

individuals other than the directors fell within the
following bands:

EERAMX(BRESH:)
(%)

(@) &N RESED @

BREFIMNYE 2% (2022F : 24)
REFMA LM FIATHE :

Number of individuals

PN
2023 2022
2023 5 2022 F
Emolument band s E
Nil to HKD1,000,000 07T % 1,000,000 7T 1
HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T 2 1,500,000 7% 7T 1 1

None of the above individuals who are not directors of
the Company received any emoluments from the Group
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or

compensations for loss of office.

BIELMFARREENALTEARE
BB B S E R I AR B R
MAAEEEZ FRSIEWRAEAL
BERAOME(E -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

b2 A B SR R B SEon

9 OTHER EXPENSES

9 HiFx

2023 2022
2023 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBTT
Auditor's remuneration % B 5 A 1,283 1,287
Entertainment expenses HBEFERX 2,453 1,132
Fleet operating expenses BHREERY 4,682 4,604
Insurance expenses RS 806 861
Legal and professional fees FEENEXEER 5,103 3,381
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BE REBEEE
plant and equipment - 6
Other taxes and surcharges H AR IE R M & 318 535
Outsourced labour costs NEL &S TR 9,464 8,575
Repair and maintenance expenses HERFREMAX 435 142
Telephone and communication fees BELENE 360 393
Travelling expenses ERAX 1,511 158
Utilities expenses =Ry 575 1,079
Other operating expenses H/rﬁg# 53 4,724 3,148
31,714 25,301
10 FINANCE COSTS 10 RMERAK
2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBT T
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEG RN SR (M 150b))
(Note 15(b)) 501 427
Interest expenses on bank and other RIT R EAE KA BRI
borrowings 556 -
1,057 427
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;\\IT\

11

B MR M T

INCOME TAX 11 FiS#H
(@) PRC Enterprise Income Tax (@) FEHEPEFEN
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") is calculated at PR ZEMEH ((RERBR]) EXR
25% (2022: 25%) of the estimated assessable profits for FEREFHERT R F25% (20224 -
the current year. One of the subsidiaries of the Company 25%) 5t E o ARRIEFR—EHNBAR
is entitled to preferential tax concession rate at 15% as it AR ER SRR - A
has obtained the High and New Tech Enterprises licence. ZHEEEMEREIS% c RAFE R
BAFE  UHEGTIRCEMBHRE
# - RE RN BRI A RN
ZEFEWEEETIEERE o
(b) Hong Kong Profits Tax (b) HFEFNEH
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2022: BB TS T T ph & FE R B R A%
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit. No provision 16.5% (2022 F : 16.5%) 5t & - @R
for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the EEBIMA LM B RARREFE
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong as there are no MBAFEL EERF AR - S E
assessable profits for both current and prior years. MZEMB ARG REBFERE
o
(c) Income tax from other tax jurisdictions () HMMBE A E#ERDAE
7
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the o B EARE R 2 4 O I8 TH 3R A8 RE A
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions. FRERARITHENHE -
Taxation recognised in the consolidated statement of RiFEBmRBERZHENT
profit or 10ss represents:
2023 2022
2023 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBEFT
The PRC Enterprise Income thE & PR 51
Tax
Current year REEZ 3 -
Over-provision in respect of prior years i1+ 4E & #2284 = (745)
3 (745)
Overseas Income tax WIPFRIGI
Current year REE 373 354
Deferred income tax (Note 26) EIEFRISIR(Hist26)
Origination and reversal of UREHESRED
temporary differences 381 (489)
Income tax expenses/(credit) TSR (F%) 757 (880)
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11 INCOME TAX (continued) 11 B8 &)
(c) Income tax from other tax jurisdictions © EMWMBeEREMNAE
(Continued) (&)
The taxation on the Group’s loss before income tax REBERFTS TR 18 2 Bl g8 B s A
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise B TS TSR R R M E £ 2 P
using the PRC Enterprise Income Tax standard rate of SHERHECZEAT

income tax as follows:

2023 2022
20235 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT ARKTT

Loss before income tax BRETS R ATE B (33,406) (1,050)

Calculated at a taxation rate of 25% % 25% HFi K5+

(2022: 25%) (20224 : 25%) (8,352) (263)
Preferential tax concession rate for ABKREBRNEEFHRER X

qualified entity 2,675 (593)
Tax effect of different tax rate in B Ath B)E R [ A [R5 R Y

other jurisdictions Mg e 749 689
Additional deduction for research and #3553 32 585MOFR

development expenses = (1,212)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 7~ e $0% B & MBI 5 2 2 2,451 982
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARRBANTHTE (19) -
Tax effect of unused tax losses not  REERHABBIHEEIEN

recognised MR E 3,266 262
Tax concession for the year mlﬁﬁﬁ e (13) -
Over-provision in respect of BEFEBEEE

prior years = (745)
Income tax expenses/(credit) Fiisfifs(E5) 757 (880)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continues
A R E I s

12 DIVIDENDS 12 RE
The directors of the Company did not recommend the payment RABIEETEZRIRNEE 2023 F & 2022
of any dividend for the years ended 31 December 2023 and F12 AN BIEFEREARE -
2022.
13 LOSS PER SHARE 13 SERESE
(@) Basic (@ HEAK
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss BIREREEIIZANRRES ARG
attributable to the owners of the Company by the EER A FAB BT @R INEFY
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue HETE -
during the year.
2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Loss for the year attributable tothe  ARQFEA AFERFERNERE

owners of the Company 34,431 170
Weighted average number of ordinary B %17 @& i FEH & (Fi%)

shares in issue (in thousands) 1,050,659 921,879

(b) Diluted (b) #8

Diluted loss per share is the same amount as the basic AN R EEEBA L ER  WE
loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 as FE2023F 12 A3 B IEFENTRE
the Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares S IB SR EAREIBMER (20224
(2022: the exercise of the outstanding share options WRITE R ERESE E ) .

would be anti-dilutive).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

T a

AU HREM T

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 ¥ -BERRKE

Plant and Furniture office Leasehold Motor
machinery  and equipment equipment  improvements vehicles Total
BEREH EHRRRGE LN HRYREE RE i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETFT AREFR ARETTL ARETTL ARETT
At 1 January 2022 R202%1A818
Cost KA 14,530 146 1159 23840 5775 45,450
Accumulated depreciation ZiiE (14,140) (121) 813) (7,004) (4599) (26,677)
Accumulated impairment ZiEE - (1) - (16,479) - (16,479)
Net book amount FEFE 39 2% 36 358 1176 2,294
Year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 128 31 L EE
Opening net book amount BOREFE 390 24 346 358 1,176 2,294
Additions RE - 8 583 2,358 - 2949
Disposals 3
—Cost —RA (21) vl (30) - 2 (60)
— Accumulated depreciation —ZihE 19 6 27 - 2 54
Depreciation HE 1) ) (113) (720 (@17) (1,295)
Exchange adjustment EREE - - - 54 - 54
Transfer E T - - 138 (133) - -
Closing net hook amount BRERE 307 27 951 1912 759 3,996
At 31 December 2022 and R2022512R310R
1 January 2023 202351818
Cost KA 14,509 147 1850 26,131 5773 48410
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (14,162) (119 (899 (7,781) (5,014) (27,935)
Accumulated impairment 2:HE - [} - (16,478) - (16,479)
Net book amount REFE 347 27 951 1912 759 3,99
Year ended 31 December 2023  #Z2023F 128 31 HLLER
Opening net book amount BNEETE 347 27 951 1912 759 3,996
Additions HE 40 - 46 248 M 545
Acquired on acquisition of I B A Rl MR (W12 33)
subsidiaries (Note 33) 36 38 4 742 k741 1,191
Disposals e
—Cost —RK (14,000) (36) (277) (25,712) (115) (40,140)
— Accumulated depreciation —2iiE 13,709 34 280 8,288 101 22412
— Impairment — R - 1 - 16,478 - 16,479
Depreciation i (14) (11) (212) (843) (557) (1,637)
Bxchange adjustment EXRE = - - 39 - 39
Closing net hook amount BRERE 118 53 792 1,152 770 2,885
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12A 318
Cost KA 585 149 1,623 1,436 6,240 10,033
Accumulated depreciation 2iE (467) (96) (831) (284) (5,470) (7,148)
Net book amount REFE 118 53 792 1,152 770 2,885
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continues
A R E I s

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 15 EHAEEEREEEE

LIABILITIES
(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated @ MiEaUBRARERZ
statement of financial position I8
(i) Right-of-use assets () GEAREE
Office
premises and

warehouses Forklifts Total
WAMEREE 4| - hy
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBFT AREFT
At 1 January 2022 ®2022£181H 7,600 1,494 9,094
New leases FHE 1,404 201 1,605
Lease modification HEE® (@) (80) (84)
Early termination of lease RELIEHES (38) - (38)
Depreciation e (2,830) (728) (3,558)

At 31 December 2022 and #2022 12A 31H
1 January 2023 B 2023£1R1H 6,132 887 7,019
New leases FEE 30 674 704

Acquired on acquisition of W BE B B8 A B RS Uk R
subsidiaries (Note 33) (K17£33) 20,694 - 20,694
Depreciation e (3,221) (631) (3,852)
Impairment E (2,846) - (2,846)
At 31 December 2023 #2023 128 31H 20,789 930 21,719
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

b2 A B SR R B SEon

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)

(@ Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (continued)
(ii) Lease Liabilities
The following table shows the remaining

contractual maturities of the Group's lease liabilities
at the end of the reporting period:

15 FRAESEEREESE @

@@ MEEVBERIARERZ
FIE ()

(il HERE
TRINRAEEHEBER R
FHROS T AR

2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Within 1 year 1ER 5,896 3,356
After 1 year but within 2 years 1EE2ER 3,870 3,101
After 2 years but within 5 years 2B E5FER 15,723 1,135

25,489 7,592

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
applied to the Group’s lease liabilities for the year
ended 31 December 2023 range from 4.5% t0 5.23%
(2022: 4.79% t0 5.23%).

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or l0ss

BE2023F12A3NBILEFE
AEEME R EREMANEF
HBEERAEN TA5%E
5.23% (20224 : 4.79% =
5.23%) °

(b) MiFEIBRRIER 2 TIA

2023 2022
20235 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREAETE

Interest expenses on lease liabilities  fAE& &H 85 (F&10)

(Note 10)

Lease payments relating to RHIHERBEEN R

short-term leases
Impairment of right-of-use assets RS ENE
Gain on early termination of lease IBERR LRSI
Gain on lease modification HE ek

(3.852) (3,558)
(501) (427)
(35,291) (28,490)
(2,846) -
: 11

Details of total cash outflow for leases are set out in note
30(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea)
& Bl R M aE e

T

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)

15 ERAEEERHEERGEW®

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b)) NiFaBEmiERZ K]
statement of profit or [0SS (continued) (#)
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the HE2023F12A31BIEFE - A&
management of the Group realised that the performance EEEEEHE - AREENECER
of warehousing service segment was worse than BRHANTISEHS - BRERBHE

expected due to tough economic environment and
strong market competition and concluded that there was
impairment indicator or impairment and conducted
impairment assessment on certain right-of-use assets
with a carrying amount of RMB2,846,000. The Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit of the warehousing service segment to which the
right-of-use assets belong as it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of the right-of-use assets
individually.

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of
cash-generating unit of the warehousing services

WEZLTEHNEE  TELHEHRR
BEERENRIFE  LEHERE
A ARM2,846,0007T 8 & T A4
BEEITRES - BREEEEG
EHEAEEEMAIIE &R - ASE
B EREEEMBE RS
ReELEEMHAIIKEESEE -

M2023E12 A31H » BREIRFE D &6
HI3R S E £ B AT IR Bl £ 58 TR IR

segment has been determined based on a value in use TREBNEETE ZAEERATE
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections RAEEE IR EHE &R R KR A FE
based on financial budgets approved by the management FEEMRSRERN  BHARREA
of the Group covering the following five years with a pre- 13.1% ° f F Bl & 8 38 2 7 1% 1.83%

tax discount rate is 13.1%. The cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using 1.83% growth
rate. Another key assumption for the value in use
calculated is the budget gross margin, which is
determined based on the cash-generating unit's past
performance and management expectations for the
market development.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management
of the Group determined that recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is lower than the carrying amount
and full impairment loss of RMB2,846,000 has been
recognised against the carrying amount of the relevant
right-of-use assets in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

BB REIRE S EEREANS —
BB ATEEER % - K ViR
R B L H L B AR EREY
THERNAMET -

RIBT AR  AEEEREETR
SEEBMAKE S EERNKRE
B WERGEEERRPAERER
EEEMNRTERRDERERBEA
R#2,846,0007C °

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

;\\IT\

15

BRI

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)

() The Group's leasing activities and how
these are accounted for

The Group leases various office premises, warehouses
and forklifts for its operations. Lease contracts are
typically made for fixed period ranging from two to seven
years (2022: two to six years). Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, none of
the Group's leases contain any extension nor termination
option.

16 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

15 FRAESEEREESE @

) AEBEOHES
773

AEEREEEREETHIME

SR MARR

BERXE - HEAHN—REMFE
T F(2022F : MEERF)NEE

HARRET S - M E PR AR E R
7 EB RN RIER RIS o R
BTG TIBUERENRE
B AEEERAGHNTESE  WET
& AR GR B 1T Y AR o ;2023 4F
K2022F 12318 AEEHHEE
BE B AR () SRR S AR 1 IR IR o

16 BRAFEFTABZENESHEE

2023 2022

2023 2022 F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARBT T

Unlisted investment ELEMIRE 4,580 6,093

Unlisted investment represents equity interests in an unlisted
company which is principally engaged in provision of internet
information, data processing, application software, information
technology development and technical support service in the
PRC. The directors of the Company do not intend to divest this
investment in the short term and not held for trading. The fair
value was determined by the directors of the Company with
reference to valuation carried out by an independent qualified
professional valuer. Information regarding the methods and
assumptions used in determining fair value is stated in Note
3.3().
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

2 BT AR M S

17 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17 BEREMERLEE

Customer
Goodwill relationships Total
[} { ERME #st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARBFT ARETTT
At 1January 2022, 31 December 2022 7202251818 -
and 1 January 2023 2022F 128318
2023%F1A1H - - -
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries 4 i Kt B 2 7] U i
(Note 33) (H7£33) 425 1,647 2,072
Amortisation charge BHER - (27) (27)
At 31 December 2023 7 2023F 12 B31H 425 1,620 2,045
At 31 December 2023 ®20235£12A831H
Cost BXAR 425 1,647 2,072
Accumulated amortisation St = (27) (27)
Net book amount REFE 425 1,620 2,045

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and intangible
assets with an indefinite useful life have been allocated to the
cash generated unit of provision of transportation and
warehouse services undertaken by acquired group as stated in
Note 33.

BEEAEm S - BERTEAFHNE
BREREAECHORENNEEEMKRE
MiRHERLRERREREEELEN - W
B 5E 33 At ©

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

;\\IT\

BRI

17 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(Continued)

Notes:

@

Impairment test for goodwill

The goodwill arose from the acquisition as disclosed in Note 33 during the
year.

The directors of the Company conducted assessment of the recoverable
amount of acquired group as stated in Note 33 with reference to the
valuation conducted by an independent firm of professional valuers with
recognised qualifications and experience, using the discounted cash flow
methodology. The key assumptions used by management for value-in-
use calculations include (i) average annual revenue growth rate, which is
18.09% for a five-year period, and (i) discount rate, which is 14.77%. The
estimated growth rate used in the value-in-use calculations for period
beyond the five-year period is 2.22%. Based on the assessment, the
directors considered that impairment of goodwill is not required to be
made in the consolidated financial statements.

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying amount and
the management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not result in impairment.

Impairment test for intangible assets other than goodwill

As at 31 December 2023, the directors of the Company are not aware of
any events or changes in circumstances which would indicate that the

carrying amount of the intangible assets may not be recoverable.

Amortisation charges were expensed in the following categories in the
consolidated income statements for the year ended 31 December 2023:

Amortisation methods and periods

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life using the
straight-line method over the following periods:
— Customer relationships 10 years

See Note 2.8 for the accounting policy relevant to intangible assets.
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o B14.77% - EAEEERDF K DE
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EM&@@%EME%‘WEWE CEALERERAE
A ERRNTASRA R BT EBURE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continues
A R E I s

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18 BEZ RHEMEWRIE

2023 2022
20235 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT AR¥TT

Trade receivables arising from contracts BFEAXNEAWNE S EINGRE

with customers (Note (@) (K17 (@) 39,913 26,508
Prepayments TESFRIE 12,147 3,374
Other receivables Hoth R UL R IR 1,082 1,417
Rental deposits (Note (b)) HEZE (K7 b)) 5,710 9,785
Loan and interest receivables (Note (c)  FEUWE R & FIE (FaE () 46,192 58,587

Deposit in relation to investment in BRAFEFABRNEREE

financial asset at FVPL (Note (d) WEMREES (MiF @) - 6,898
105,044 106,569
Less: Non-current portion A IR ENE
— Loan receivables — R E (11,692) (43,000)
— Rental deposits —HERS (675) (769)
Current portion BN EL 92,677 62,800
(@) Trade receivables @ EZREWHIE

The Group normally grants credit terms to its customers
ranging from 0 to 150 days. The ageing analysis of the

AEE—BETFTEEENFT0O0E150
BREEH - 5 RINGKIELEZR

trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows: HIZPIMERER DT T ¢
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Within 30 days 30HR 27,411 15,080
31to 90 days 31£90H 5,666 10,262
9110 180 days 91%£180H 5,696 1,153
Over 180 days @180 H 1,140 13

39,913 26,508

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set in

Notes 3.1(b).

AEBEEBRRNE — T FBERH

FE3.1(D) °

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

b2 A B SR R B SEon

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) Rental deposits

Included in the rental deposits of the Group is an
undiscounted amount of RMB143,000 (2022:
RMB143,000) as at 31 December 2023 paid to key
management personnel (2022: key management
personnel) of the Company and their close family
members, as the Group leased an office premise owned
by them.

(c) Loan and interest receivables

18

ESRHEHMERTIE %)

(b)

HE%®

MR2023F12 A31MH  AEBEHER
SHEE—HRAARRETEERAR
(202F : TEEBAB) REEE
HEIXNOATRESEBEARKE
143,0007T (20224 : A K # 143,000
L) THRASERERSHEE
RPN WE -

FEW B R MR B

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Loan receivables EWE = 46,192 57,221
Interest receivables U R 2 - 1,366
46,192 58,587

The carrying amount of loan and interest receivables is
denominated in the following currencies:

FEWE R KA EMRRE(ENA TIIE
FHE

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

RMB AR 34,500 43,639
HKD BT 11,692 14,948
46,192 58,587
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
A B T RERM s

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(©

Loan and interest receivables (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, two
supplemental agreements in respect of 2 loans were
entered into between one of the Group's subsidiary and
the respective borrowers with aggregate principal
amount of approximately HKD16,080,000 (equivalent to
RMB14,221,000), in which both parties have agreed to
revise the maturity terms from 2023 to 2025, which is
subject to a specific condition that 20% of relevant
existing loan balance should be settled. Afterwards, such
condition has been met and the repayment terms of
relevant loans were revised.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had outstanding
loans with aggregate principal amount of approximately
RMB46,192,000 which is related to 9 loans which
comprised of 8 corporate loans and 1 individual loan.
Among the 9 loans, 7 loans with aggregate outstanding
principal amount of approximately RMB34,500,000 are
repayable within 1 year, and 2 loans with aggregate
outstanding principal amount of approximately
RMB11,692,000 are repayable over 1 year but less than 2
years.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had outstanding
loans with aggregate principal amount of approximately
RMB57,221,000 which is related to 10 loans which
comprised of 9 corporate loans and 1 individual loan.
Among the 10 loans, 2 loans with aggregate outstanding
principal amount of approximately RMB14,221,000 are
repayable within 1 year, and 8 loans with aggregate
outstanding principal amount of approximately
RMBA43,000,000 are repayable over 1 year but less than 2
years.

The interest rate of the loans ranged from approximately
from 6% to 12% (2022: from 4.9% to 12%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all the loan
receivables of the Group were unsecured.

18 EFREMERRIE %)

©

JEWE R F B ()
HE2023F12A31M8ILFE A%
EEP—ENBRAREALAENA
16,080,000 7L( /8 & BN A R %
14,221,0007T) B HE B fE SR A BL 22
BRI MO maEGE - Bt - 574
75 B = % B 2 B § 2023 & 25 4 2025
F o EEREGRENBERBERE
BR20% MO TE IR 1 o H & - szl
B - WSk AERA B SRR (EE HR o

M2023F 12 A31H » KREEHKE
BERASBLBBONAARE
46,192,0007T  HIOZEEH B - &
FRESELEERMIEFATR -
NEZOEERF 7TEREBREA
8 49 AR #5 34,500,000 TTHY & FRZBR
1TFREE MEXREBELSHE
#4 N R 11,692,000 7T B B A
FEPE2FUTEE -

M202F12 A31H » KEBEHKE
BEEFRASBENARARE
57,221,0007C * EH10EERER - =
FREIENEERKIEEATR -
RZI10EERF 28 KEEREA
BN R 14,221,000 T EFRER
1TFREE MSEXRBELSHE
#49 A R 5 43,000,000 7T 9 & TR
FEPAF2FUTEE -

ERFEFEN T 496%ZE12% (2022
FNFA9%E 12%) o

R2023FE 2022412 A31H » K&
B AT R E RS AEEA o

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A MBS MR L

18

19

20

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(d) Deposits in relation to investment in
financial asset at FVPL

Pursuant to the shares subscription agreement between
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group (“Investor”)
and the target investment company (“Target
company”), subject to certain conditions, the investor
has conditionally agreed to subscribe certain new shares
to be issued by the Target Company. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the conditions of the
subscription have not been met and the relevant deposit
was refunded.

Further details on the Group's credit policy are set out in
Note 3.1(b).

AMOUNT DUE FROM A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

The amount due from a non-controlling shareholder is
unsecured, interest-free and has not fixed terms of repayment.

18 EFREMEWRRIE )

(d)

BRAFEGFFABDN SR
BEERERBRS
BEANEE—HE2ENBEAR ([RE
EDHEEZREAR(BEAR]D
R RO REBHE - B TIRGR
BT REECERGRERERZ
AAIBFETZETHRD - HE
2023 F 12 A3 B IEFE  REBIEMF
iR AR IR S B IRE o

AEENEERRNE —SFHBEHN
MisE3.1(D) °

19 BWSFERKRRRIE

FENF R R FR R EER - 2B EE
B E H)ERAR o

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20 RERBEEEY
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBFIT
Cash at banks RITIRE 77,989 55,493
Cash on hand FHER® 37 37
78,026 55,530

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The
effective interest rate on the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents during the year ended was ranging from 0.20% to
0.25% (2022: 0.30%).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continues
A R E I s

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

21 ESRHEMEMSKE

2023 2022
20235 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREETF T
Trade payables (Note (a)) B S ERERIE (it E) 19,659 8,112
Accrued employee benefit expenses ErtEEBANEX 5,176 5,617
Advance from a business partner EBRHBR (T D)
(Note (b)) 8,178 -
Other accrued expenses and H PR R H b BT A1
other tax payables 3,443 3,808
Other payables Hib e R 10,541 7,436
46,997 24,973
Less: Non-current portion B IR ENEL S
— Advance from a business partner — ERBERI(HE D) (8,178) -
(Note (b))
Current portion mENE D 38,819 24,973

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

b2 A B SR R B SEon

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)
(@) Trade payables

The credit period granted by the Group’s suppliers mainly
ranges from 30 to 90 days.

The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on
invoice date were as follows:

21

S REMENFRIE 2
g S ENFIA

ALREHERETHEEMRERR
30E90H -

il

)

B I RNFORIRETE A2 ERER

DT
2023 2022
20235 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTT ARKTT

1to 30 days 1£30H 15,589 6,188
3110 60 days 31£60H 2,011 806
61 to 90 days 61E90H 393 328
Over 90 days B 90 H 1,666 790

19,659 8,112

(b) Advance from a business partner

Advance received from a business partner relates to a
business project in warehousing service segment which
would be refundable to counterparty upon the expiry of
project retention period.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2023

b)) EFEHEHR
HEE TR E T R AR TS
SE—EEBEE B ERER
(RE I RIRIE T 4T -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
A BTSRRI s

22 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. EHEE
2023 2022
20235 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT AR¥TT

Receipts in advance regarding: AT BIAEZ FEWGRIA -
— Provision for transportation and — RHER kA RS
warehouse service 566 -
Note: Azt :
(@  Typical payment practice @  HESFIEG)
When the Group receives a deposit from customers before provision for EAREEEABHRA RSB EZENKIE
transportation and warehousing services, which depends on the specific FiRe i (BUAREEA MM ARKER) » BN
terms of contracts of customers, this will give rise to contract liabilities at ARFIRREEANEE - (NAEARERK
the start of contract. Payment are usually based on billing schedule. ¥ o
(b)  Movementin contract liabilities b AHaEEs
Transportation and
warehouse services
EHR AR
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTFT
At 1 January H1ATH = -
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33) U & Kt 8 /A 7185 U i (K131 33) 566 -
At 31 December K12A31H 566 -
All contracts in respect of transportation and warehouse FrEEHkERREANNEBRE A —F
services are for periods of one year or less. As the Group has H—FUT - ARAEERNT BT B®
applied the practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the transaction HEAF SRR ENERER 25
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. IARBEDE THERBITENNZHE -

SREREREBERAT/ —T-=FFH 037



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

BRI

T E

23 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

23 RITREMER

2023 2022

2023 2022 4F

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARET T

Bank loans, secured (Note) RITET - BEM (HE) 48,715 -
Bank loans, unsecured RITEFR - I 972 -
Other borrowings, secured (Note) HAitfE o *ﬁ‘ﬁﬁ(ﬁﬁ&) 2,915 -
52,602 -

Note:

Secured bank and other borrowings are secured by pledge of equity interest in
one of subsidiaries within the Group and guarantee executed by a non-controlling
shareholder of the Group and his close family member, and certain property held
by him. This non-controlling shareholder has significant interest in certain
subsidiaries within the Group.

At 31 December 2023, the bank and other borrowings were

B HEMERTT RE A S AR B A — KPR R R H A e
ARE-FZEEEERRNABRERENETYE
Y PERIE AN - ZIERBERNARENETHE R
Bl A EAMEL ©

2023F 12 A31H - EEERRIT RHEAM

repayable as follows: BRI
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT
Within 1 year 1F R 9,786 -
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FRE2FH 12,091 -
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBESFENRN 13,706 -
After 5 years 5% 17,019 -
52,602 -
Less: Amount due within one year or B EAERBEEZ —FR
repayable on demand classified BB B IR EKEIR 2 FUE
as current liabilities (52,602) -
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T

B TREM T

23 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 23 BRITREMER @
At 31 December 2023, the exposure of the Group’s borrowings 202312 A318 - AEERNERER
are as follows: PUNNE

2023 2022

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR AREET T

Fixed-rate other borrowings EE R EHE Et%'x 2,915 -

Variable-rate bank loans FENFEIRITE R 49,687 -

52,602 -
All the other borrowings are due within one year and the bank FiEEMERER—FRNIERIBTER
loans contain a clause that give the lender unconditional right @ TEIRER BT B S A I B R U
to call the loans at any time, and therefore they have been CEZNERN  BHZEERDBARY

24

classified as current liabilities.

The effective interest rate on the Group’s bank and other
borrowings during the year ended 31 December 2023 was
ranging from 3.45% to 14.76% and 6% respectively (2022: Nil).

BfE-

HE2028F12A3MBIEFEEARN NEH
BITREMERNEEFNES AN T
3.45% = 14.76% 2 6% (2022 4F « £) o

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 24 BRARN#E
(@ Share capital (@ PR
Number of shares (thousand) Share capital
BP®A (Fi) (23
2023 2022 2023 2022
20235 20226 2023 F 2022 F
HKD'000 HKD'000
TET THx
Authorised: EE
At 1January and 31 December 1 A1BR12A31H 10,000,000 10,000,000 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTREE :
At 1 January ®1A18 964,400 884,400 9,644 8,844
Issue of shares through share & B B EZ /TG
placing (Note i) (Hazi) 176,880 - 1,768 -
Issue of shares through share & B FL &2 TR
placing (Note i) (Wzxii) - 80,000 - 800
At 31 December ®12 A31H 1,141,280 964,400 11,412 9,644

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H
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24 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(@) Share capital (continued)

24 BRAXK @B
CYRN-%N¢E )

2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Share capital presented in WEa IR R 27

consolidated statement of HY IR X
financial position

9,770 8,139

All shares issued during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 rank pari passu in all respects with the
existing shares of the Company.

Notes:

(i) On 7 July 2023, the Company issued an aggregate of 176,880,000
shares with a price of HKD0.196 each. The gross proceed from the
share placing was approximately HKD34,669,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB31,981,000).

(i) On 14 July 2022, the Company issued an aggregate of 80,000,000
shares with a price of HKD0.185 each. The gross proceed from the
share placing was approximately HKD14,800,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB12,474,000).

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2023

FTE KR8 E 2023 F % 2022 F 12 A 31
BIEFEBBETHRMDEAQFIRE
BORBAEEYZEERSER -

Bat

(i)

202346778 ARFILAFA0.196
VB 7T 8 {8 1% 3 1T 42 51 176,880,000 A A
e BERNEEMSHRERERD
34,669,000 TL( 4 & N H AR
31,981,0007T) ©

202247 4148 « ANARAEA0.185
78 JL B 1T #851 80,000,000 A% A 15 © & Ak
17 B2 5 BT 15 9 540 18 48 58 /3 49 14,800,000
BT (FHERK AR 12,474,0007T) ©
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24 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

)

(i)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Company’s Articles of Association
and the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
which provides that the share premium account
may be applied in making distributions or paying
dividends to shareholders, provided that
immediately following the date on which
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

It represents statutory reserve of the subsidiary of
the Company established in the “PRC". According
to the relevant laws in the PRC, the subsidiary in
the PRC is required to transfer at least 10% of its
net profit after taxation, as determined under the
relevant accounting principles and financial
regulations applicable to enterprises established in
the PRC, to a non-distributable reserve fund until
the reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered
capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made
before the distribution of a dividend to owners.
Such reserve fund can be used to offset the
previous years’ losses, if any, and is non-
distributable other than upon liquidation.

24 BRAXK#E )
HENEENRESN

(b)

M

(i)

IR0 =18

i ERNEAS AR FA
BERAUEFASEERARDA
BEE HAEBRMGEERYM
1A [8) B 3R H 93 R 3K A AR
B ERBERERFEL D IREIK
NS BHIR  ARBIABRE
NEEHERBEEBBIETE
HI &7 -

B EE

HIgARBR [H B Az 2z [
BRRIZEERMME - REPE
HEERE - hEMBRRER
RIEE AR BB ERAE
et R R 558 51 B E 1
BRB IR AL B 4 10% B =
AnkiFEEES  BEEREER
2 B H G & A H) 50% o 1t 7
BEBRARREE AN IKEE
AIYEH - FRARHES I ARE
HBEFENEER(E) B
FER - BRAITADIK

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H
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24 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

Other reserve

Other reserve represents (i) an amount of
RMB3,550,000 arising from the effect of the
conversion of Guangzhou World-Link (China) Co.
Ltd. ("Guangzhou World-Link") into a joint stock
company with limited liability in 2016 whereas the
excess of the net assets over the designated
conversion amount attributable to the owners of
the Company; (ii) an amount of RMB3,449,000
arising from a group reorganisation in 2016
pursuant to which the entire registered capital of
Guangzhou World-Link was acquired by a group
entity from its then shareholders. Upon completion
of the above transactions, the balance of the
retained profits and non-distributable reserve of
Guangzhou World-Link attributable to the owners
of the Company; and (iii) an amount of
RMB20,095,000 due to capital contributions from
certain shareholders of the Company in 2017.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair value
of the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to the eligible participants
under the share option scheme of the Company
recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in Note 2.20.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 2.6.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2023

24 BRAXK @B
EEMNEENE N @)

(b)

(iii)

(iv)

(V)

Hit e

H bR () BN R B IRFIR
KA R A q ([ RMRBE
F )R 2016 Fek bl ARD AR
RANFEEENSTARE
3,550,0007T + & & FEE L
RAREE ABLETERS
BRI () R2016FEEE
HEERN ST AR 3,449,000
L B BNFRBIRTFHE
HIfErABAEREERNAEE
R AR R U HE - M LR BT
& - AQEVHEE AEMLEMNR
HIRTFRRB S R 5k
EEBEES R (i) ADTE T’
R R2017F F B AR
20,095,000 7T

BRERE
BREE R RIERIEM E 2207
HEABRERHRBARQA
BREGEXTAERSHEE
B B FR SR ET RTT R B 8L
B RF(E -

BE N
&S AR IRRE eI ERET
BRREENMBEN Z5 -
ZEEREME26E TS
BERIRE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined
A BB R

25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME 25 HBRAESTE

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at an extraordinary
general meeting of the Company on 23 November 2023, the
shareholders of the Company have approved to terminate the
existing share option scheme ("Existing Share Option
Scheme”) of the Company as adopted on 26 September 2017
and adopt the new share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) of the Company.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to the eligible persons as rewards or
incentives for their contribution to the Group. The Company
may, at its absolute discretion, offer an option to the eligible
persons to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an
exercise price and subject to the other terms of the Share
Option Scheme. The total number of shares of the Company
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in
time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options granted and may be granted to any individual in
any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive
directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital
must be approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

The Share Option Scheme remains in force for a period of 10
years. Under the Share Option Scheme, each option has a 10-
year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the board
of directors of the Company. The exercise price is determined
by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant, (i) the average closing price of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

The share options granted under the Existing Share Option
Scheme remained outstanding and will continue to be valid are
exercisable in accordance with the provision of the Existing
Share Option Scheme notwithstanding the proposed
termination of the Existing Share Option Scheme.

During the year, no share options (2022: nil) under the Share
Option Scheme were granted.

RIEAR QR R2023F 11 A238 BHAM AR
RERARE EBANIIRZER - AAA
R EHELR IEARRRIR2017F9 B 26 H
REERETE(RAWERERs))
AR Nal MR 8 ([ ARt
Bl -

BREGTENANRSARARRNEERA
ITREBEE  MEREBAKRERTE
B SR B SRR - AR A 2RI IRTT
FEELBREAINEMERAGERA
TREBRE  UARBARXRARND - RE
RRRBREFTMME - EITEAREBRE
AR R AR BEAEMESREHAAR
PR A RE BT AR R B ABHA KT
BB A DB RER RS ETHRDH
B RN 10% ° REARBBRRERHME
PEf —FREREAE R R AR T
EY BB B RE P S e ) B 389T RS T 31T D
HATHEBEBARARNEMNREDETR
MEN1% ° WX T EEBRRIBIIFAITE
ENBEREBBARRRAN01%  BIZE
AR RBIBIRELUE

B SIR0FMAGER AR - RIEH
PiERt 8l - BHBRENTTEHA10F
BRIFEARPEZGRARTE - (TEREAR
NAEFET  HBTESERATZES
& (VAR BRROAE L B HEYTIE : ()
RN ERF L B AEE XA TS
WiE : R(i)AARBROEEE -

RABRES & TRENBIRE R ARTTE
BREIR A BT S M IR BB R R
Al TITE - AR ILIRBBEEE -

FR - OBEREERET SR BERE
(20224 : 4®) -

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH
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25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 25 BRRETTE (2
Details of the share options movement during the year are as FRERENZETFBFHI AT
follows:
2023 2023
Balance Balance
Categories Exercisable period asat Lapsed as at
of fT{EH Exercise 1 January during 31 December
Participants Date of grant  From To price 2023 the year 2023
#2023 120235
1R1A8 12A31H
SHEHN #HAH :: S fHEE Hyes FREH HyeR
(Note) HK$
(M) BT
Directors  1June 2020 1 June 2020 31 May 2030 0.188 12,000 - 12,000
EF 2020681H 202056A1H 2030508 31AH
Employees 1June 2020 1 June 2020 31 May 2030 0.188 57,000 - 57,000
&R 2020568 1H 2020568 1H 2030508 31AH
69,000 - 69,000
2022 2022 5
Balance Balance
Exercisable period asat Lapsed as at
Categories of T8 Exercise 1 January during 31 December
Participants Date of grant From To price 2022 the year 2022
2022 2022
1R1H 12A318
SEERR KA H £ 1 E R0 FRARM Eopeg oS
(Note) HK$
(Hizt) BT
Directors 1June 2020 1June 2020 31 May 2030 0.188 12,000 - 12,000
% 202066 A 1H 2020566 A 1H 2030F5A31H
Employees 1June 2020 1June 2020 31 May 2030 0.188 57,000 - 57,000
EE 202056 A 18 202056 A18 203054318
69,000 - 69,000

Note: The categories of participants represented the position of grantees as at
the date of grant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contined)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Details of outstanding share options at the end of the year are
as follows:

25 BRRETE (2

RERBRITEANBREFBNOT -

2023 2022
2023 2022 4
Number of exercisable share options AT B AR S A (F1)

(in thousands) 69,000 69,000
Weighted average exercise price I 1TIE(E HK$0.188 HK$0.188
0.188 #&JT 0.188 77T

Weighted average remaining I RIS E L ER (F)
contractual life (years) 6.4 7.4

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options under the share option scheme
which is terminated during the year are based on the
management’s best estimate. The value of an option varies
with different variables of a number of subjective assumptions.
Any change in the variables so adopted may materially affect
the estimation of the fair value of an option. The significant
assumptions used in the binomial model to derive the fair value
at the date of grant were as follows:

Expected volatility 41.606%
Expected life 10 years
Risk-free rate 0.529%
Expected dividend yield 0.00%
Early exercise multiple for directors 2.80
Early exercise multiple for employees 2.20
Early exercise multiple for non-employees 2.20
Closing share price at grant date HK$0.188
Exercise price per share HK$0.188

The expected volatility is calculated based on the historic
volatility of share prices of the Company and comparable
companies based on publicly available information. Expected
dividend yield is based on historic dividends.

STEAF KB SR T R
RFHEMANEERRRHVENEEERN
REMG - BREEEES T IBRR

TRZEEMEM TR - EFRERAZES
IR EE - AR HBREAFE G
AFEEERPE - £-ANERPERIN

BEELBAATEZEABRAT

TR 18 41.606%
TEHAFHA 104F
1 [ Py ) 2K 0.529%
TEAARR B ER K 0.00%
EFRFIFEEH 2.80
EERBITEREH 2.20
HFEERFITHEEH 2.20
AL BE 2 R U E 0.1887% 7T
BRRATHEE 0.1887%5 7T

FEEHRETRIBEA R BB B 2 FE LK
Bt E - MALLB AR DERAHAGE
FEUE - FBEHERDENELE -

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H
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26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26 HZEMBRRAERANFES
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(@) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised Q) DHIELHBEEE (&8
&)
(i) Movement of each component of deferred () EZHEBEEEREGZBIMN

tax assets and liabilities 2
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) ﬁ*/—\ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁqﬁ’JEﬁﬁ%L
recognised in the consolidated statement of EREEE (& DS
financial position and the movements during the EWE@@@JZZDT :

year are as follows:

Accelerated
Right-of-use lease  Rental tax  Intangible Tax
assets liabilities  deposits depreciation  assets losses Total

ERMRE  HRAR  HREE NMIRTAE 0 BERE  RAGH #it
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000

ARBTL  ARETR ARBTR  ARETR ARETR  ARBTT  ARETR

At 1 January 2022 RAREF1A1R (1,365) 1444 16 (584) - - (489)
(Charged)/credited to proft or loss (k) /3t & 312 (3 (16) 584 - - 189

At 31 December 2022and 1 January 2023 R 02£128318R

ABE1R1E (1,053) 1,053 = - - - -
Acquired on acauisition of WEI B AR (13 33)
subsidiaries (Note 33) (5,174) 4,674 - - (412) 1,250 338
(Charged/credited to profit or loss (1) /5t ABE 823 (930) - - 7 (281) (381)
At 31 December 2023 RABENANE (5,404) 41797 - - (405) 969 (43)
(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement (i) SEHBRREYE
of financial position
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFIT
Net deferred tax asset recognised FE MBI KRPERZ
in the consolidated statement of L%Rlﬁéﬁﬁ*fﬁ
financial position 241 -
Net deferred tax liability recognised JW*/—\ B ISR R R R RERR 2
in the consolidated statement of RIEFTE B EFRE
financial position (284) -

(43) -
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26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax not recognised (b)

26 ZEMBRRRANAES @

AIERELETRIA

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not recognise
deferred income tax assets of approximately
RMB11,546,000 (2022: RMB1,513,000) in respect of
unutilised tax losses amounting to approximately
RMB46,184,000 (2022: RMB10,086,000) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income with expiry
within 5 years due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has unrecognised
deferred tax liabilities of RMB5,110,900 (2022:
RMB10,234,000) in relation to withholding tax on
undistributed profits of RMB51,109,000 (2022:
RMB102,341,000) of the Group's subsidiary in the PRC as
the Company is in a position to control the dividend
policy of this subsidiary and no distribution of such profits
is expected to be declared by them in the foreseeable
future.

Except for the disclosed above, the Group does not have
any other material temporary differences at the end of
the reporting period (2022: nil).

MR2023F 12 8318 - AR EETER
RAH TR - AEE W n] 48
VAT 5 7K 2 1 4F 79 B HA 0 FE SR A AR A
WMADARBEBEEONARE
46,184,000 7T (20224 : A R #
10,086,000 7T ) #E R IR T AT 1S T & 2
# N R #11,546,000 78 (2022 4F = A
FR#1,513,0007T) °

R20235 12318 » AEBBAE
7 AR B A BB 2 B R R IR A
R #51,109,0007C (2022 4F : AR
102,341,000 7T ) BIFE N HE B AR FERR
B8 & F A R 5,110,900 70
(20224 + AR ¥10,234,0007T) * R
Y YayNS R Al =PNS ol
R BIEASESRARERITEE

SRR -

B EXPIIREEE SN - AEEN IS
AR A 0] Ho A B8 KB s 22 5 (2022
FE)

27 AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free and
has no fixed terms of repayment.

27 ENESENEA

ENEFFAREERR 2ELEETE
KA o

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH
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28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 28 RERESNEMIEA

2023 2022
20235 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTT AR¥TT

Financial assets EMEE

At fair value BOATFE

Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABENEREE 4,580 6,093

At amortised cost BBMEE

Trade and other receivables B RHAMREWFIE 92,897 103,195

Amount due from a non-controlling FE U e BE S B =1l

shareholder 32,121 -

Cash and cash equivalents R RRESEEY 78,026 55,530
203,044 158,725
207,624 164,818

Financial liabilities eRAR

At fair value BAOTFE

Contingent consideration payable XA R SAFKIA

for business combination 8,115 -

At amortised cost BREMERE

Trade and other payables B 5 &k B A ETFRIE 46,997 24,973

Bank and other borrowings #RIT R EALfE TR 52,602 -

Lease liabilities HEak 25,489 7,592

Amount due to a director FENEEHIE 4,581 2,388
129,669 34,953
137,784 34,953
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29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 29 BEEARZ KR
BALANCES
(@) Transactions with related parties (@) EHEE LIRS
Apart from the financial arrangement dealt with related BRMET 23T BR MO B ARG 5 B R A
parties as disclosed in Note 23, the Group entered into WIS BEON - IRFA - REBFT A
the following significant related party transactions during TERBH IS
the year:
2023 2022
2023 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBT T
Repayment of principal and interest a8 5 (Ei@ M & [ RH
element of lease payments paidto &% R S5 *
related parties* 631 653
Interest expenses on lease liabilities AR T WM HEE A E
charged by related parties* B8R * 43 21
* Related parties represent directors/key management personnel of * A AEARATESE, TEEEAER

the Company and their close family members.

Balances with related parties

Details of outstanding balances with related parties are
disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position and in Notes 18(b), 19 and 27.

() Key management compensation

Key management includes the directors and senior
management of the Group.

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group, including directors’ remunerations as disclosed in
Note 8(a) to the consolidated financial statements, are as

WEZERHRE -

B2 BB 07 O A B

BB R EEERFERGEAY
AR R K MEE18(0) ~ 19 K274 B -

TEEBEAEMNE
TEE EE@%$EI§$&mﬁE
BE -

REBTEEEABTH(BENS
A WS TRR KT RE 8(a) P R A E S B
)T

follows:
2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBTT
Fees, wages and salaries, e TE R#H® LA K E A 2AL
and other allowances 3,191 4,182
Contribution to defined TE B KT B
contribution plans 126 113
3,317 4,295
SEFRERERARAT / — T —F54
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30 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

30 FEREREBRME

(@) Cash generated from operations (@) KEMELRT
2023 2022
20235 2022 F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bzt AR®TT ARBFIT
Loss before income tax BETS RIS (33,406) (1,050)
Adjustments for: AT EIBMELAE
Depreciation of property, ME  BERZHITE
plant and equipment 14 1,637 1,295
Depreciation of right-of-use CRESENE
assets 15(b) 3,852 3,558
Amortisation of intangible assets 7 & FEl 4 17 27 -
Impairment of right-of-use CRAEEERE
assets 15(b) 2,846 -
(Gain)/loss on disposal of HEME - BEREE
property, plant and equipment Wzk),/ 58 7/9 (485) 6
Unrealised exchange (gain)/ REIRE H E518
losses (2,831) 253
Interest income from bank RITERFEHA
deposits 7 (1,052) (801)
Interest income on bond AR AN ET 2R E R
measured at amortised cost B U A 7 - (1,274)
Interest income from loan FEWE ) 2 U A
receivables 7 (4,478) (1,344)
Interest income on rental HEESMEMA
deposits 7 (93) (39
Finance costs BB A 10 1,057 427
Gain on early termination of RELIHEEN Y
lease 7 = ()
Gain on lease modification ek 7 - (11)
Unrealised loss/(gain) on fair BAFEFARER
value change of financial CREENTES EJE’J
asset at FVPL FEHEIE (s 7 1,513 (93)
Change in fair value on EBA I EN A AIEE'\J
contingent consideration ~HEE
payable for business
combination 7 63 -
Operating (loss)/profit before EEESEBHHIEE
working capital changes (E518) = F) (31,350) 926
Changes in working capital: BESEE
Trade and other receivables féi%&ﬁmrﬁ‘ YR IE (2,982) 17,729
Trade and other payables D5 N H b FRIE (2,671) (17,511)
Amount due to a director Bt —REERA 2,127 2,317
Amount due from a JE U FE4E AR AR SR IR
non-controlling shareholder 1,391 -
Cash (used in)/generated from &% (Fr8), FrEARS
operations (33,485) 3,461
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30 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 30
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

GEBEREXRMT#)

b) MELTDELNEBEYR

Bank and
other Lease
borrowings liabilities
B|ITR
Hfth g HEAR
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREETF T AREFT
As at 1 January 2022 #20225£181H - 9,623
Non-cash movements: RS EDH) :
— Recognition of lease liabilities —HRPEEE - 1,587
— Adjustment arising from —RERIIHAEEANAE
early termination of lease - 39)
— Adjustment arising from —HEEREENAR
lease modification - (95)
— Interest expenses on —HEaEnNMERX
lease liabilities - 427
Net cash outflow: WEFME
— Principal element of lease rental — X NHEHESHAS
paid i - (3,484)
— Interest element of lease rental — SHEERSNFE
paid o) - (427)
At 31 December 2022 and ®2022512A31HR
1 January 2023 2023%1A81H8 = 7,592
Non-cash movements: IR L)
— Acquired on acquisition of — U BE BB N B B U B
subsidiaries (Note 33) (K17E33) 50,586 21,092
— Recognition of lease liabilities —HREEAE = 704
— Interest expenses — B 556 501
Net cash inflow/(outflow): WEFRA CRl)
— Principal element of lease rental — X HEEHEEHAS
paid =i = (3.899)
— Interest element of lease rental — XNHEERSHFE
paid =iy = (501)
— Interest paid on bank and — ZFRT R
other borrowings H T B (556) -
— Proceeds from bank and — RITREMERS
other borrowings FT{S3E 4,580 -
— Repayment of bank and — BRBITREMERK
other borrowings (2,564) -
At 31 December 2023 2023128310 52,602 25,489
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A MBS MR L

31 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 31
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

RABHBRARRRAERE

(@) Statement of financial position of the @ ARRBEARREK
company
2023 2022
2023 2022 4F
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
Kt et AR®TT ARETIT
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FERBDEE
Property, plant and equipment  #% - BiE &% 11 1,820
Investments in subsidiaries RSB RARIMIRE 53,551 53,551
Total non-current assets JEFREIEEME 53,562 55,371
current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5K H il 15 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries & U bt B A 7 B - 7,722
Cash and cash equivalents B RIRELEEY 39,093 247
Total current assets REEERE 39,108 7,969
Total assets BEHRE 92,670 63,340
EQUITY S
Share capital R& AR 24 9,770 8,139
Reserves 53] 31(b) 63,333 41,431
Total equity RaBa 73,103 49,570
LIABILITIES afE
current liabilities mEA R
Other payables and accruals HMENE IE&JEE+;§FH 6,297 4,994
Amount due to a director B —REEHRT 4,581 2,388
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEfT MTE/D\EJ%’KIE 8,689 6,388
Total current liabilities RBAEEE 19,567 13,770
Total liabilities BEERR 19,567 13,770
Total equity and liabilities 2R &EH#E 92,670 63,340
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continues
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31 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 31 AARMBERRERRFEEES

RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY (&)
(Continued)
(b) Reserve movements of the Company (b) ARFIFEEE
Share
Share Other option  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
BiaR G Rk AHER @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2022 R2022£1R18 5113 20,095 5217 (39,160) 31,347
Loss and total comprehensive  ERFERZEERAE
expense for the year - - - (7700 (7700
Transactions with owners ~ BEHAHZ S
IssLe of shares through ERRHEEETRG
share placing (Note 24(a)fi) (T 2u)i) 11,785 - - - 11785
At31December2022and  #2022%12B31ER
1 January 2023 2023%1R1A 62,920 20,095 5211 (46,861) 41,431
Lossand total comprenensive £ REERZAFREE
expense for the year - - - (8,448) (8,448)
Transactions with owners ~ BEEANT R
Isstie of shares through EBRAREZIRG
share placing (Note 24(3)() (Wt 240)0) 30,350 - - - 30,350
At 31 December 2023 R2023512R 318 93,270 20,095 5211 (55,309) 63,333
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32 SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 are as follows. Unless otherwise
stated, they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary
shares and the proportion of ownership interests held equals

32 WEAF
20234 202212 A3 B AR A £
SHBARANBHIMT - BRHEAGN
ZEWBARANRAESELRR - B
BREBRESLIISNAEBRENRE

the voting rights held by the Group. E o
Issued and
fully paid Equity interest
Place of incorporation ordinary share attributable Principal
Name of subsidiaries and kind of legal entity capital to the Group activities
MR ERTR
MELARRE EANERER BERERSF HEMEMEL R FERY
2023 2022
2023 202246
Indirectly held by the Company:
ERTIRERHE
Guangzhou World-Link The PRC, RMB30,000,000 100% 100% Provision of transportation,
(Note i) limited liability company warehousing, in-plant
logistics and
customisation services
BN EIRT (B2 1) HE - BRAT AR 30,000,000 7T RHER  2F BAMR
REHRH
Goal Rise Logistics (Egypt) Egypt, EGP50,000 100% 100% Provision of transportation
Limited limited liability company services
i (RR)ERRA B®E - BRAT 50,0003 J £ RAELEH MRS
Zhongshan Haihui The PRC, RMB30,000,000 60% Provision of transportation
Technology Logistics limited liability company and warehousing services
(Group) Company Limited
(“Haihui’) (Note i)
RIEERCR(RE)BR  FE ERAF AR 30,000,000 7T REEHRAHRE

R (B8 (Hetii)

254
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32

33

B MR M T

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(i) Unless otherwise stated, the principal place of operation of each
company is the same as its place of incorporation.

(ii) The English name represents the best effort of the Group’s management
to translate its Chinese name, as the subsidiary does not have official
English name.

(iii) This subsidiary was acquired by the Group during the year (see Note 33).

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES UNDER
BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 31 October 2023, the Company, through Guangdong Yues
International Intelligent Logistics Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Purchaser”), acquired 60%
equity interest (the "Sales Shares”) in Zhongshan Haihui
Technology Logistics (Group) Co., Ltd. ("Haihui”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Haihui Group”) from an independent
third party (the “Vendor”) at a consideration of RMB9,000,000
(the "Consideration”) (the “Acquisition”). Upon the
completion of the transaction, Haihui Group has become a
subsidiary of the Company and the consolidated financial
statements of Haihui Group were therefore consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

Pursuant to the agreement for sale and purchase
("Acquisition Agreement”) dated 31 July 2023 entered into
among the Purchaser, the Vendor and Haihui in relation to the
Acquisition, the Consideration shall be paid by the Purchaser
to the Vendor in cash, subject to status of fulfilment in the
profit guarantee (the “Profit Guarantee”) as discussed in the
below section.

Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, the Vendor and Haihui
has jointly undertaken to the Purchaser that the audited
revenue and audited net profit of the Haihui Group for the
period commencing from 1 August 2023 and up to 30 June
2023 (the “"Guaranteed Period”) shall not be less than
RMB60,000,000 (the “Guarantee Revenue”) and
RMB3,500,000 (the “Guarantee Profit") respectively.

32

33

MEBAT )

0} B =B EBI ST M B R

szt B4R R -

BFRAEMER

(ii) P %P B A R E AR A - BTy
AEEERERESASNBEE A -

() S A 2 POl (R 33) o
BREBEBSHWBHEDF

2023 10A31H  AARIBREEE
MEBAREREXERSZEYMRERAR
(TBAFDm—Bux=HTEF]KE+H
WEERemE(EE)BRAR ([BE]
EREMNBARSEA BERE])60% K
7 ([SHERn ) - 1E /R AKE9,000,000
T(RED((WBEE]) - RXFTHE
BEEERAAABNRBRR - HiLE
ZEENREMBERERDWAKRRRAAL
BEERE -

REER  BEAREERKESE LA
HiA202367 A31 BME = ([ kRl
B RELEREFURSINHTFES
MEZERR T T Pl iR E R (R FIE)
WEITERME °

% BHRBEHRRAME K&
% BEZEH2023F8 A1 HMLEZE2023F6
A308 IHEM (@A) O EZ ks
RIEEZFFNBEINTLRARE
60,000000 (R EBWKR R ) R AR
3,500,000 7T ([{REFIME]) -

RIE R 155

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H
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33 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES UNDER

BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

On 22 December 2023, the Purchaser, the Vendor and Haihui
have entered into an amendment agreement to the Acquisition
Agreement (the “Amendment Agreement”) to revise
certain terms in the Acquisition Agreement. Pursuant to the
terms of the Amendment Agreement, the original Guaranteed
Period as stated in the Acquisition Agreement should be
amended and replaced as the period commenced from 1
January 2024 and up to 31 December 2024 (the “Revised
Guaranteed Period"”), with other terms and conditions of
the Acquisition Agreement remain unchanged and continue in
full force and effect.

In the event that either the Guaranteed Revenue or the
Guaranteed Profit is not achieved, the Purchaser has the right
to exercise the put option and request the Vendor to
repurchase the Sale Shares at nil consideration (the “"Put
Option”). If the Purchaser decides to exercise the Put Option,
the Purchaser shall not be obliged to pay the Consideration
and the Vendor shall, within 20 business days upon receipt of
the notice of exercising the Put Option issued by the Purchaser,
complete all the necessary procedures including the
registration with relevant government authorities in respect of
the repurchase of the Sale Shares.

If the Purchaser decides not to exercise the Put Option, and (i)
where the Guaranteed Profit is achieved, no adjustment will be
made to the Consideration or (ii) where the Guaranteed Profit
is not achieved, the Purchaser shall pay to the Vendor the
Consideration adjusted with the shortfall of the actual profit for
the Revised Guaranteed Period to the Guaranteed Profit.
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33 REXBESHWBHELT @

R2023F 128228 B - EHREER]
SRR SR I (R e AT )
LMERTU B i st 005 T&K » IRIRIEET
BEGER  WERELN RREFHET
BEEBRAH2024F1AIHRE S
2024F 12 AN B LW EIR(HEETRE
HA 1) - i B 9 A A L A A6 R R R A S
T WREAB+RRRIER -

i REEEBRBRASRENE - ETE
RITEEERE  BERXEIUNTREDREE
S ((EEE D) - WETRETELDRE
- BHHASXNRE MEHATRE
BERBtmTEREEEENE — +EE
XBR - ERAALERF BREAEH
BB LB s ERD -

i B 7OREPITEEERE - () EBRE
B - AIRES T EELFE - ) REE
EBURENE - MERDEREDXNRE
I FhARNE RT OR 75 HI B B R M) B R 58 )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
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33 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES UNDER
BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

33 BEEKSHWEHRELAR &)

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired FriEm ] A EERBENAFENLR
and goodwill arose as at the date of the acquisition are as R EANEENT :
follows:
RMB'000

AREBTIT
Property, plant and equipment I ER V= 1,191
Right-of-use assets EREEE 20,694
Intangible assets EWEE 1,647

Deposit in relation to purchase of property,

BEWE  BELIRENEBZS

plant and equipment 36,167
Deferred income tax assets RIEFSHEE 628
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H Atb FEUGRIA 15,213
Amount from a non-controlling shareholder R B FEFEAR AR B A9 33,512
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEEY 1,426
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFSHARE (290)
Lease liabilities HeEafE (21,092)
Bank and other borrowings HRITREMER (50,586)
Trade and other payables B 5 R H A ET RIE (25,092)
Taxation payables FERRLTE (147)
Contract liabilities AWEE (566)
Net identifiable assets acquired BRI EAFEE 12,711
Non-controlling interests® FEVER A S (5,084)
Net identifiable assets attributable to owners RAEHEB AELAT R FEE

of the Company 7,627
Goodwill arising on business combination (Note 17) #&& GtE£MmEE (f117) 425
Fair value of contingent consideration FAREAFE 8,052
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: W B EE A ~ 4 R eE
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BUER S MRS EFEY 1,426
# Non-controlling interests are measured at the non-controlling interests’ # FEPE MR = TR IR IR IR DG B BB A B

proportionate share of fair value of the identifiable net assets of the AHERFEERNTFENLDIGE -

acquired subsidiaries.

HRERFEREBERAR/ — T - =FF%H
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33 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES UNDER

BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Note:

The fair value of the contingent consideration payable are required to be
measured at fair value in accordance with HKFRS 3 (see accounting policy set out
in Note 3.3(a).

Goodwill arose from the above acquisition by the Group is mainly attributable to
the benefit of expected revenue growth and future market development. These
benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets. None of the goodwill
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

Acquisition related cost of RMB660,120 have been excluded from the
consideration and have been recognised as other expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

The acquired subsidiaries contributed approximately
RMB13,757,000 to the Group’s revenue and resulted profit of
approximately RMB670,000 for the period between the date of
acquisition and the end of the year ended 31 December 2023.

Had the above acquisition been complete as at 1 January 2023,
the total amount of revenue of the Group for the year would
have been approximately RMB159,899,000 and the amount of
the loss for the year would have been approximately
RMB33,366,000. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue
and results of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed at the
beginning of the year, nor is it intended to be a projection of
future results.

In determining the “pro-forma” revenue and loss of the Group
had Haihui Group been acquired at the beginning of the current
year, the directors of the Company calculated amortisation of
intangible assets based on the recognised amounts of
intangible assets at the date of the acquisition.
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33 BEEKSHWEHRELAR @)

Hfat

REBFEVHREELEIR  BHRARENATE
ARNTERE (R 330 B E s BER)

FAEERPRKBEENFELIERANFERRALR
RARTSERGROEE - ARZSRHTHA TR
PEVAENERZE  FRENESRAER - BF
R BRI RSB P M -

W R A AR # 660,120 TE B R EF FIB - W E
REFRIBERRAER BEMREX -

WEHARRERENTE

BUERBREEEH E2023F 124318 1
FER BHENWNBAR ATEEFR
THANRB13,757,000 T 8k 25 K 4 A R
#& 670,000 LAY T ©

i bt U BE A 2023 1 A1 B 5K - AL
REE MBI L A AR 159,899,000
7T NEEREEE L R AR 33,366,000
T HEEREHS ST TREMERE
REYTK  AEEERSERNKER
R - MR RERREEMTER o

RETHEEE %@E’\$¢¢%ﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ
TAREEN [HE ] WARBER A0
EEEREREERNKEER E’JETJ%EM &
HATEEEENEE o



Financial Summary
B2

A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of the

ERARBENAEREMBRFENREAREER

Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the BEHME (A0 TBENEEXRGATERE)
published audited consolidated financial statements is set out below: &z -
RESULTS E
For the year ended 31 December
BE12A3MHLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204 20214 20224 2023 %
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT AR¥%TRT
Revenue Wz 209,750 185,198 211,779 179,483 133,881
(Loss)/profit before income tax K Fr{S5: Al 15,956 7,014 (21,082) (1,050) (33,406)
(F518), %= F
Income tax credit/(expense) FriefiER, (Fx) (6,635) (4,557) 3,980 880 (757)
(Loss)/profit for the year FRN(EE), w5 9,321 2,463 (17,102) (170)  (34,163)
Attributable to: LATRE 5 AL -
— Owners of the Company — AREHEAA 9,321 2,463 (17,102) (170) (34,431)
— Non-controlling interests — JEfE R - - - - 268
9,321 2,463 (17,102) (170) (34,163)

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - =FFH
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Financial Summary continea
B S 2 o

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 2020 4F 2021 4F 2022 F 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT AR¥%TR
Total assets EEE 235,602 228,026 184,546 179,207 282,828
Total liabilities BEeE (109,439) (93,788) (53,917) (35,199)  (139,020)
Net assets BEFE 126,163 134,238 130,629 144,008 143,808
Equity attributable to the RAFHAA
owners of the Company JEfhHER 126,163 134,238 130,629 144,008 138,456
Non-controlling interests R - - - - 5,352
Total equity s iEEE 126,163 134,238 130,629 144,008 143,808
Note: Hf3E -

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group had first applied HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 15. The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the transition provisions
set out in HKFRS 9 and has not applied the requirements to instruments that have
already been derecognised as at 1 January 2018 and has applied HKFRS 15
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying this standard recognised at
the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018). Accordingly, certain financial
information for the year ended 31 December 2017 as set out above may not be
comparable to the years ended 31 December 2023, 2022, 2021, 2020 and 2019 as such
comparative information was prepared under HKAS 18 and HKAS 39.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first
time and has elected the applicable practical expedient for not reassess contracts which
already existed prior to the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2019). The financial
information as set out above for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 have
therefore not been restated on initial application of HKFRS 16.
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